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BE | T REMEMBERED t hat on Tuesday,
Novenber 18, 2025, at 710 Sout hwest Rock Creek Drive,
St evenson, Washington, at 6:54 p.m, the follow ng
| and- use consi stency hearing of the Washington State
Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council was held, to

W t:

LLLLL >>>>>>

CHAI R BECKETT: And if the audience
woul d bear with us while we enter into our next
nmeeting, which I wll just go ahead and make a coupl e
coments on just to make sure | get this correct.

So, again, thisis -- we're bringing -- and |
wi Il soon bring this | and-use consistency hearing to
order. Actually, | may just do that here at 6:55.

And during this hearing, we wll have testinony
regardi ng the proposed project's consistency and
conpliance with | and-use plans and zoni ng ordi nances
of Skamania County in this instance. This is the
only subject that is allowed during this hearing.
We've had our general comments, and now this is
specifically in order for the Council to create --
begin to create the record and nake a determ nation

on | and-use consi stency and conpliance with Skamani a
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County | and-use plans and zoning ordi nances. So if
we could just keep comrents specific to that topic.

And if the -- Ms. Gantham woul d pl ease call the
roll. W'Il do that quickly, and then we'll have a
short presentation that actually will get into a
little nore detail of what this |looks like in
Skamani a County. It mght be of interest even if you
don't have a comment. And then we will take your
coment. So, with that --

M5. GRANTHAM  Certainly --

CHAIR BECKETT: -- let's call the
roll.

M5. GRANTHAM  -- Chair Beckett.

| wll start wth Departnent of Commerce.

M5. OSBORNE: Elizabeth Gsborne,
present .

M5. GRANTHAM  Depart nent of
Ecol ogy.

MR. NELSON: Bl ake Nel son, present.

M5. GRANTHAM  Departnent of Fish
and Wldlife.

MR, PAMPLIN. Nate Panplin, present
and attending virtually.

M5. GRANTHAM  Departnent of

Nat ur al Resources.
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MR. RYAN. Maverick Ryan, present,
attending virtually.

M5. GRANTHAM  Uilities and
Transportati on Comm ssi on.

MR. RYBARI K: Brian Rybarik,
present and attending virtually.

M5. GRANTHAM Moving on to the
| ocal governnent Council nenber for this project from
Skamani a County -- excuse nme -- Asa Leckie.

MR, LECKIE: Present online.

M5. GRANTHAM  Assi stant Attorney
CGeneral Jon Thonpson.

MR. THOWSON:. Present online.

M5. GRANTHAM  Admi nistrative Law
Judge Russel M kow.

JUDGE M KOW Present online

M5. GRANTHAM  For Council staff:
Soni a Bunpus.
BUWPUS: Present.
GRANTHAM  Any Haf keneyer.
HAFKEMEYER:  Present.
GRANTHAM  Lance Caput o.

o H P O

Lance Caputo is here. He's just not sitting at
his table at the nonent, so | will note that he is

present.
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Mari a Bel ki na.
MS. BELKI NA: Present.
M5. GRANTHAM  Kar| Hol appa.

Karl is also not at his seat, but he is present
t oni ght .

And then Lisa MLean.

M5. McLEAN:  Present online.

M5. GRANTHAM  And for the counsel
for the environnent, Sarah Reynevel d.

M5. REYNEVELD: Sarah Reyneveld is
present virtually.

M5. GRANTHAM  Thank you.

Chair, there is a quorum

CHAI R BECKETT: Thank you.

Let ne also just quickly note before we turn this
to our presenters fromour applicant team Judge
Mkow is wth us tonight as an admnistrative | aw
judge of the Ofice of Admnistrative Heari ngs.
That's designed to help further just docunent this
process. And Judge M kow wi || basically take over
any comment gathering that we'll be doing, and we'll
further give you a word about his role in this when
we cone to the comment period. So just wanted to
acknow edge Judge M kow in that regard. And, wth

that, let me turn this to our presenters.
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MS. BASSETT: Al right. Good
eveni ng, everyone. |'m Malia Bassett. [|I'mon the
applicant team |'man environnental planner. |'m
going to go through the proposal and the applicable
| and uses and zoning of it.

Want to introduce yourself.

MR. McMAHAN: Good evening. My
name is Tim MMahan. | amlegal counsel to the
applicant, and I'man attorney with Stoel Rives |aw

firm And let's see. (Good evening. N ce to see you

all.

M5. BASSETT: Al right. So
everyone has seen this before. | ammainly going to
be -- | amminly going to be discussing the on-land

portions in Washington tonight. So that's the -- the
center map in yellow. That's where we cone out of
the Colunbia R ver and we're proposing to be on | and
to bypass the Bonneville Dam which Chris talked
about earlier.

There are sone in-water segnents for the
al ignment that are on the Washington side of the
Col unbia River. The border, as you all know, between
Washi ngton and Oregon is the center of the Col unbia
River. So as the line follows the river, it goes

into Oregon, cones out, goes back into Washi ngton.
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So we are referring to those as segnents, and there's
ei ght al ong Skamania County. And that's
approximately 18 m | es.

So I'lIl go through those quickly since this is a
| and- use consi stency hearing and these are in water,
but just so everyone is aware what's in WAshi ngton.

So starting in -- so starting east and goi ng
west, those nunbers you see are river mles. So one
of the segnents -- or sorry. The -- the line is the
red dash, and then the segnents in WAshi ngton are
hi ghl i ghted yel | ow.

So this one is show ng between River MIle 159 and
a half and then going west is a segnent crossing over
I nto Washi ngton al ong the Col unbia River.

And then this is the segnent that approaches
St evenson, where |'l|l start later for the on-1land
portion. And then once we get past the on-I|and
portion, after North Bonneville, when we re-enter the
Col unbia River, we're in Washington again in the
river.

Al right. Going onto on |and in Washington. So
i n Skamani a County, on |land, we're within the
jurisdictions of the city of Stevenson, city of North
Bonnevill e, and then uni ncorporated Skamani a County.

So starting with the city of Steve- -- actually
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start an overview map. So this is show ng our
on-land portion in city of Stevenson. That's the top
center area. Sorry, | don't have a pointer. And

t hen uni ncor porated Skamani a -- uni ncor por at ed
Skamani a County is that |ighter portion, and then you
see North Bonneville jurisdiction inthe -- in the
shaded tan down toward the bottom |l eft.

So on-| and project conponents. Chris nentioned
these earlier. W have tenporary horizontal
directional drilling, called HDD. Those are areas as
wel|l as tenporary horizontal auger pouring, called
HAB areas. And then the high-voltage direct current,
HVDC, transm ssion cabl e.

And in this table, |I've sunmari zed which of those
conponents are in each jurisdiction. So in the city
of Stevenson, we have the HDD and the HVDC.

| n uni ncorporated Skamani a County, we have HDD
and HVDC.

And then in North Bonneville, we have HAB and
HVDC.

So I'lIl go through each one of those conponents,
and we can |look at those a little closer.

Starting in the city of Stevenson, |ooking at the
proj ect conponents, you can see the tenporary HDD

area. W have a close-up, kind of a zoomin of that
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area with the green box. That's the tenporary HDD
area. And then just a really, really short portion
of the HVD transm ssion cable. Again, on |land for

about 0.4 mles.

Shaded, | have the -- the parcel that says "PR"
That stands for public use and recreation zone.
That's what city of Stevenson is zoning that parcel.

And t he proposed | and use for those project
conponents in the city of Stevenson fit with the
definition of a utility facility.

And 1'Il -- one nore thing to orient you. So the
portion of the project in Stevenson is highlighted
that red. You can see in the -- the top portion of
the project. And that will be the sane going through
Skamani a and North Bonneville as well.

Movi ng on to uni ncorporated Skamani a County.
Here, we have HVDC transm ssion cable, approxi mately
four mles of buried cable, and then the tenporary
HDD area, approximately 1.26 acres.

So |l ooking at the nore bold red lines, that's
where the project is proposed in Skamani a County.
And you can see it weaves from Stevenson and t hen
com ng out of North Bonneville and then back toward
t he Col unbia R ver.

So the zones that are designated in
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uni ncor por at ed Skamania County is -- we're in one
zone there, so the F-2, large woodl and, and that's
part of the National Scenic Area, Ceneral Managenent
Ar ea.

The proposed | and use for -- for the portions of
the project that are in Skamania County are both
underground utility facility for the HVDC and the HDD
ar ea.

And then, lastly, North Bonneville.

The project conponents proposed in the
jurisdiction of North Bonneville are the HVDC
transm ssion cable, approximately 3.5 mles, and then
tenporary HAB areas. And that conbined is about 0.05
acres.

The zones in North Bonneville. So for the HV --
the portion of the HVDC transm ssion cabl e goes
t hrough two zones: USA, which is this close to
Bonneville Dam is the -- the core. And then the
ot her zone is the pink one you see there, industrial
busi ness park.

The proposed | and uses for both of those zones
fit with the definition of utility that North
Bonneville defines in their conp plan and zoning
code.

And then the other project conponent, the
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tenporary HAB areas, are in the USA. Again, USACE.
And that would be a tenporary |and use, so
construction essentially.

Now | "Il pass it over to Tim

MR. McMAHAN: Thank you, Malia. |
have a tendency to speak loud, so if | do that, just
l et me know.

Again, ny nanme is Tim McMahan, and |I'm | egal
counsel to the applicant. I'mwth the Stoel Rives
law firm And it's good to be here with you-all and
nice to see the Council, and appreciate staff com ng
out as well wth EFSEC

| want to first respond to sone comments nade
| ast night that were reiterated by the Friends of the
Gorge a short tinme ago. The first comment concerned
the coment deadline for the project, an objection to
t he amount of tinme needed for the -- for the -- for
this project to proceed to hearing.

And it is wthin EFSEC s jurisdiction, and
there's no rationale to keep the record open for an
additional 30 days. And it is our viewthat that is
unnecessary and within the province of EFSEC shoul d
they believe that that is necessary.

Second, there's a coment concerning the draft

application, quote/unquote. It is common practice to
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submt draft applications for agency review \Wether
done intentionally or inadvertently, this is
immterial. |f the cooks got to see what was in the
oven in our filing their draft application, that's
just fine. It is nore information. |t is not

sonet hing we' re concerned about.

And then the third coment related to County
appointees. This is a matter for EFSEC s discretion.
EFSEC makes these appointnments in consultation with
| ocal governnents, and the tim ng of these
appointnents is immterial, and there is no | egal or
procedural error. Again, it is up to EFSEC.

So | just want to nmake that record straight for
the public and respond to those coments from | ast
ni ght .

So turning to tonight. As you heard this
eveni ng, the | and-use consi stency hearing' s purpose
Is to determ ne whether the project is consistent and
in conpliance with |local |and-use plans and zoni ng
ordi nances. EFSEC nakes this determ nati on.

The relevant inquiry for EFSEC s initial |and-use
analysis is, in quotes, whether the pertinent | ocal
| and- use provisions prohibit the proposed site,
guote, expressly or by operation clearly,

convi nci ngly and unequi vocally. Fairly strong
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| anguage that limts the opportunity to inpede the
project at this point in the process.

| f a proposed project can be permtted either
outright or conditionally, it is consistent and in
conpliance wth | and-use provisions for the purposes
of this -- the EFSEC statute RCW 80. 50. 090.

For this project, zoning is an awkward concept.
Zoning as applicable in a typical EFSEC proceeding is
intended to regulate private property. These are
public rights-of-way situated on public property.

It is at odds to apply |land-use rules to public
linear infrastructure that serve broad public needs.
That is because fundanental ly public rights-of-way,
regardl ess of zoning, are the preferred |ocations
where public infrastructure is and should be pl aced.
That is true whether it's water, wastewater,

t el econmuni cation or transm ssion infrastructure.
And the concept of |and-use consistency in this
setting is conplicated because the EFSEC rul es
primarily reflect privately owned, stand-al one,
stationary public infrastructure, such as power
pl ant s.

Mor eover, devel opnent activity in public
rights-of-way |ike those proposed here are governed

by franchise authority and right-of-way permts, not
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zoning. RCWS80.32.010 authorizes cities and counties
with control of any public street or road to grant
authority for the construction and nmai nt enance and
operation of transmssion lines. Simlarly,
addressi ng state hi ghways and state rights-of-way
through permts that are issued by the Washi ngt on
State Departnent of Transportation.

Nearly all of the Cascade Renewabl e Transm ssi on
Proj ect proposed in Skamania County is underwater. |
think that's been explained tonight. In those -- in
these | ocations, neither the county zoni ng code nor
the county's conprehensive plan inpose | and-use
restrictions on in-water uses or river-bottom | and
within the Colunbia River. And as M. Hocker
explained terrestrial locations are, for this
project, sited within existing public rights-of-way.
Fundanmental |y, public rights-of-way are the preferred
| ocation for placenent of linear facilities of this
ki nd.

So concerni ng | and-use consi stency. The EFSEC
rul es contenpl ate that EFSEC and the applicant w |
work with | ocal governnents to seek a finding of
| and-use consistency. |If a local jurisdiction
bel i eves that a proposed EFSEC project is consistent

and in conpliance with its | and-use plans and zoni ng
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ordi nances, it may provide and the applicant nay
enter into a certificate fromlocal authorities
attesting that the -- attesting to the fact that the
proposal is consistent and in conpliance with

| and-use pl ans and zoni ng ordi nances.

The certificate of consistency provides proof of
consi stency and conpliance with applicabl e | and-use
pl ans and zoni ng ordi nances, and the inquiry then
ends there. Absent a certificate of consistency,
EFSEC i ssues its decision regardi ng consistency after
review ng the applicable | and-use plans and zoni ng
or di nances.

First, the applicant and |ocal authorities are
addressed to -- are directed to address conpliance
and nonconpliance with | and-use plans or zoning
ordi nances. Then EFSEC determ nes whet her the
proposed site is consistent and in conpliance with
| and- use pl an and zoni ng ordi nances pursuant to the
EFSEC st at ute RCW 80. 50. 090( 2) .

EFSEC s revi ew does not consider all |and-use
pl an provisions. A land-use plan includes the
portions of a conprehensive plan that outline
proposals for an area's devel opnent, typically by
assi gni ng general uses, such as housing, to | and

segnents and specifying desired concentrati ons and
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desi gn goal s.

A zoning ordinance is a |local governnent's
ordi nance regul ating the use of |and adopted by
Washi ngton | aw. And zoni ng ordi nances include the
appl i cabl e zoni ng map, devel opnent restrictions, and
associ ated definitions. The applicable county
| and- use plan and zoni ng ordi nances provisions are
found within the North Bonneville, city of Stevenson,
and Skamani a County zoni ng codes and conprehensi ve
pl ans.

As noted, it is awkward to address | and-use
consi stency within public rights-of-way principally
because infrastructure of all kinds should
fundanental |y be placed within public rights-of-way
to avoid proliferation of linear facilities outside
of rights-of-way.

Wi | e EFSEC rul es concerning | and-use consi st ency
create an awkward paradigm for siting |inear
In-ground facilities, we will go ahead and sunmari ze
the zoning provisions fromthe three -- the three
| ocal municipalities that were referenced earlier.

First, Skamania County. |In Skamania County, the
project is proposed on, quote, unzoned |and. There
are no use restrictions or devel opnent regul ati ons

for unzoned | and in Skamania County. The county,
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Skamani a County.

There are two | and-use designations that are

governed by the managenent plan and SCC Title 22.

And Title 22 is not a zoning ordi nance pursuant to

t he WAshi ngton Adm nistrative Code 463-26-090. The
managenent plan and the Skamania County Code Title 22
are not | and-use plans or zoning ordi nances. The

i n-water portions of the project are identified as
wat er GMVA, quot e/ unquote, on the county's zoning map.

The wat er GVA desi gnati on does not inpose
restrictions on use. Therefore, these portions of
the project are consistent with the Skamani a County
Code Title 22.

The remai nder of the on-land portions of the
project is located on | and zoned and governed by the
managenent plan, Skamania County Code Title 22. And
even if the managenent plan and SCC Title 22 apply,
new underground utility facilities |ike the project
could and typically are permtted through an
adm ni strative revi ew process.

Turning to North Bonneville. Title 22 of North
Bonnevil Il e Muni ci pal Code governs land use in North
Bonneville. The transm ssion |ine would pass through
| and zoned, quote, federal ownership area. This

zone, including transm ssion line corridors, is not
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subject to city regulations in North Bonneville.

The project would al so pass through | and zoned
I ndustrial / business park. The city allows
utilities, including transmssion lines, in the
I ndustrial / business park zone, which we've |earned
tonight is, in fact, where this project is proposed.
The project as proposed is a perm ssible use within
t he zone.

Finally, the city of Stevenson. The project
woul d pass through | and zoned public use and
recreation. The project would be in existing
right-of-way, which is where these types of uses are
typically permtted. Finally, in issuing a proposed
site certificate, we anticipate that EFSEC w || work
with the county and the cities of North Bonneville
and Stevenson and the applicant to include conditions
in the draft site certificate agreenent which
consi dered any applicable state, local, and community
Interests affected by the construction of the
facility.

The applicant is fully commtted to achieving
t hese objectives with the three counties along the
Colunbia River and the cities of North Bonneville and
St evenson.

So just a word about the Shoreline Managenent
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Act. | had several comments, peopling comng up to
me and aski ng questions about -- from EFSEC st aff

about the Shoreline Managenent Act. The appli cant
fully understands the need for review and conpliance
wi th the Shoreline Managenent Act, and it is for
EFSEC to conduct this review, not for the applicant
to conduct this review.

Whet her this issue should be considered now or
later in the process is a matter for EFSEC to deci de.
That said, to ny know edge, the npbst recent precedent
here, the nost recent EFSEC precedent here, was a
Col unbia solar facility project in Klickitat County
sone years ago. The Shoreline Managenent Act review
was conducted after the |and-use consistency hearing.
Whet her that is done now or later is a matter for
EFSEC in its discretion.

Thank you. Appreciate the opportunity to provide
this information to you.

CHAI R BECKETT: Thank you, both,
very nuch.

Let nme help turn this over to Judge M kow. And,
Your Honor, if | could ask if you would help ne know
when and how to i ncorporate any questions or conments
fromthe EFSEC project Council. | wanted to

acknow edge their presence here. And if you have
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guestions especially on this evening's presentati on,
apol ogi es for having not asked you earlier in the
original initial presentation, but | know you
participated in it |ast night.

So havi ng acknow edged all that, Judge M kow, if
you would help facilitate both our public comment as
well as if Council has questions for the presenters.
Thank you.

JUDGE M KON Ckay. Excuse ne.
Good evening. |'m Adm nistrative Law Judge Russ
Mkow with the O fice of Adm nistrative Hearings, and
| amgoing to be helping wth the second public
comment period for this |and-use consistency hearing.

There are a few general things everybody needs to
know before we get going. Unlike the earlier public
comrent period this evening, here we are only taking
public comments about whether the site is or is not
consistent and is or is not in conpliance with
appl i cabl e | and-use plans and zoni ng ordi nances. So
this is not an opportunity to ask questions during
this public comment peri od.

The public comments are going to be limted to
three mnutes per person. [|'ll try not to stop any
speaker md sentence. But if you go much | onger than

the tine allotted, | mght have to nove on to the
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next conmenter.

And, again, renenber. Your coments are supposed
to be limted to the issues of consistency and
conpliance with applicabl e | and-use plans and zoni ng
ordi nances. Follow ng the | and-use consi stency
hearing, ny job is to draft an order including the
findings of fact, appropriate portions of the
rel evant | aw or code, and concl usions of |aw
regardi ng whet her a proposed site is consistent and
in conpliance with applicable | and-use plans and
zoni ng ordi nances, as required by Revised Code of
Washi ngt on 80. 50. 090, Paragraph 2, and
Chapter 463-26, Washi ngton Adm ni strative Code.

| will provide ny draft order to the
EFSEC- assi gned assistant attorney general and its
staff for any revisions prior to the staff presenting
the order to the Council with the recommendati on of
adoption at an open neeting.

So that's sonme of -- that's an expl anation of ny
role in today's proceedi ngs.

As it relates to questions of the applicant's
Council, | believe that should go first before there
are public conmments.

So | did not catch the nane of the person who

m ght be aski ng questions, though.
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CHAI R BECKETT: Well, direct nme as
you need to, Your Honor, here, despite ne, quote,
being the chair. Wat I'"'mtrying to get to is, any
Counci | nenbers of EFSEC, do you have questions or
any quick coments you wanted to note for this
| and-use portion as all owabl e by Judge M kow? And
pl ease rai se your hand or speak up. And, otherw se,
we W ll soon nove to the public comment.

Counci | nmenbers?
We have Council Nelson with a questi on.

MR. NELSON: Thank you, Chair
Beckett.

So this mght be nore gernmane to the general
information section. So, if so, you can "stricken"
it fromthe record, but I'Il ask tonorrow

So | was just wondering about buffers for when

the line is -- cones up through Stevenson and with
the horizontal drilling, how far that is fromthe
bank of the river. | ask that in the context of the

shoreline master plan. And, again, if you don't have
the -- | knowit's not a Q& Aright now |'mjust
stating that will be part of ny consideration for
this project.
CHAI R BECKETT: Council Panplin.
JUDGE M KOW  Thank you

253.627.6401 BA scheduling@byersanderson.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES



© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

EFSEC CRT informational meetings
Land Use Hearing, - November 18, 2025

Page 26

Wul d the next Council nenber who has a question
or coment. | don't. Wuld they raise their hand
and pl ease proceed.

CHAI R BECKETT: Council Panplin, |
believe that's you.

MR PAMPLIN. Geat. Thank you,
M. Chair.

Just a question for M. MMhan. | understand --
you know, and you went through sone of the citations
t here about the project applicant working with | ocal
governnment to seek concurrence and then rel ayi ng that
I nstrument back to EFSEC, which | think would
certainly help with this process. There's avenues to
proceed wth that determ nation w thout that
concurrence.

But I1"mjust wondering if you could please share
the status of the conversations with the Cty of
Stevenson, the Cty of North Bonneville, and Skamani a
County, please. Thank you.

MR. McMAHAN: Yes. Thank you for
t he questi on.

We've been in pretty consistent conversation with
Skamani a County for sone time. And I'mnot sure if
there's anybody fromthe County here. | don't think

so. So we have a pretty nmature conversation going
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wi t h Skamani a County to obtain a | and-use consi stency
certification. 1t's not concl uded.
We have requested that the North Bonneville City
al so work with us on a consistency determ nation.
We' ve provided docunentation to both of those
muni ci palities, asking -- asking to, you know, talk
to themafter this hearing. And, as |I've said, we've
reached out previously as well.
The third County or the third Gty -- excuse
me -- or the third nunicipality -- sorry -- Gty of
Steve- -- North Bonneville and Gty of Stevenson,
we' ve tal ked to both of those nunicipalities. So in
the works. And we do hope to conpl ete consi stency
certificates with themas defined in the EFSEC rul es.
W're not quite there yet.
MR PAMPLIN: G eat.
JUDGE M KOW Ckay. Thank you
Ms. Grantham are there any other Council nenbers
who would Ii ke to make a coment or question?
CHAI R BECKETT: Council Leckie has
a question, Your Honor.
JUDGE M KON Pl ease proceed
MR. LECKI E: Yeah, thank you.
| just had a question. As we're tal king about

county | and use and zoning and EFSEC, there was a
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comrent that caught ny attention, was that in
Skamani a County, the majority of this project is
underwater in the Colunbia River.

So do we al ready have a permt from | would
assune woul d be the Arny Corps of Engi neers, 'cause
congress has authority over navigable waters, so
don't they del egate that authority and permtting to
the Arny Corps of Engineers? So for the project,
shouldn't that permt be obtained first before EFSEC?

That's just -- and |'"'mnew to this process, so
|"mjust asking. That's just sonething that kind of
was ki nd of running around in ny head on this whole
process. Thank you.

MR. McMAHAN.  Ti m McMahan here,
particularly since that was a Council nmenber, |
believe. | don't know that | have the answer to
that, but | think M. Hocker nmay have sone additional
I nsights on that question. And you m ght want to
repeat the question. |[|'mnot sure.

MR. HOCKER: No, 1I..

MR. McMAHAN: Al right.

CHAI R BECKETT:  Your Honor, did you
want to try and paraphrase the question, or would you
like me to? |'mhappy to. Wiatever's proper.

JUDGE M KON Ch. You can go ahead
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and paraphrase it.

CHAI R BECKETT: kay. Council
Lecki e, make sure | have this right. But
essentially, why isn't the corps of engineers going
ahead of the EFSEC process?

MR HOCKER | can't speak to the
|l egalities of, you know, in what order. | can tell
you that the corps, the state processes in Oregon and
Washi ngt on are proceedi ng down parallel paths. And
with, | think, a real serious attenpt in a
coordinated fashion. So I don't believe there's a
sequence that is required or even desirable. But
that's -- that would be ny answer for now.

CHAI R BECKETT: And, Counci l
Leckie, we're certainly capturing this and, you know,
happy to dig deeper and foll ow up.

MR. LECKIE: Yeah, | guess that was
just a point of clarification for ne, is can EFSEC
supplant the Arny Corps of Engineer permtting that's
required, if it's required, | guess? Thank you.

CHAI R BECKETT: And | believe
Di rector Bunpus has a couple comments to add, so
pl ease. Wl cone.

M5. BUWUS. | just wanted to
respond in part that EFSEC i s coordinating with the
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Arny Corps of Engineers on the permts that they do
have jurisdiction for here. And that is our

practice. Wen we have an application for site

certification that triggers authorizations or permts

fromthe corps, we will coordinate with themin their

review of inpacts, the activities that are proposed

and the application submtted to them W'IlI|l |ook at

that as we're also reviewing the application that is

bef ore EFSEC.

And one of the reasons we do that is because we
want to ensure we're not duplicating where we don't
need to duplicate. Also to ensure that we have
consistency in terns of if there are neasures or
mtigation that needs to be inplenented to ensure
that we're sharing information and coordi nating so
that there isn't conflicting requirenents, if you

Wl

Sol can -- | can tell you that. | don't know if

that's helpful to answering this question or not.

CHAIR BECKETT: | think it was, so
t hank you.

MR, LECKIE: Oh. Yeah. This is
Comm ssi oner Leckie. Yeah, no, that's helpful. And
| don't knowif we'll have answers exactly tonight,

but that's just sonething (unintelligible).
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As the dredging of the river is done to the
project, is this required under a Section 10 / 404
permt? 'Cause it's not exactly renoving dredgi ng or
material, but it's also disturbing it. So |I was just
ki nd of asking sone clarification on that too. Thank
you.

CHAI R BECKETT: Thank you, Council
Lecki e.

And, Your Honor, | believe Any Haf kenmeyer has a
word to add still, or no?

M5. HAFKEMEYER: | do. Thank you.
And then it |ooks |like M. Hocker may al so have sone
addi tional information.

In terns of coordination with the Arny Corps, |
wanted to add a little bit nore information.

The State Environnental Policy Act review nust be
conducted to be able to issue the state 401 water
quality certification, which is then in support of
the permts issued by the Arny Corps of Engi neers,
who we know are working towards the review of a 404
permt, 408, as well as Section 10, | believe.

And so in terns of sequence, there is reason for
us to be reviewing this application ahead of issuance
of those permts. And | don't knowif there's

additional information M. Hocker has, but those are
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the permtting pathways that we know that the Arny
Corps is working on right now.

JUDGE M KOW Thank you. This is
Judge M kow.

M. Hocker, do you have anything else to add in
response?

CHAI R BECKETT:  Your Honor, | can
relay that has a thunbs-up and that was covered. And
| had the floor and wll soon turn this back to you,
Your Honor, | think for public comment.

One other issue that is, again, part of the
process that's beginning and will need to be sorted
out and that is certainly, | think, the role of the
Departnent of Natural Resources and its jurisdiction
over aquatic lands that | believe, you know, is an
Issue that will be also considered. | don't know the
answer to that question, but one that | just wanted
to note as we go forward here, so...

Any cl osing comments fromstaff or Council?

O herwi se, | think, Your Honor, we're back to you in
our public testinony.

JUDGE M KON Ckay. Thank you.

Ms. Grantham would you please call the first
comment er .

V5. GRANTHAM Yes, Your Honor.
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The first person | have is Teryn Yazdani .

M5. YAZDANI : Thank you. For the
record, ny nane is Teryn Yazdani, w th Col unbi a
Ri ver keeper.

There are three brief points | want to raise in
oral testinony. Colunbia R verkeeper has submtted
nore detailed witten comments for the record but
just wanted to reiterate these points.

First, there is an inconplete information in the
application. WAC 463-60 requires detailed
i nformation fromthe applicant on the project site,
its environnment including fish and wldlife habitat,
project alternatives, and expedited inpacts of the
river.

Ri ver keeper will be submtting separate coments
on this separately. However, we wanted to raise this
poi nt because the issues that are present with the
I nconplete information and the application make full
participation in the | and-use consi stency process
I npossi bl e.

Accordingly, we urge EFSEC to deemthe draft
application as inconplete, suspend review until such
time as the applicant has submtted an application
that substantially conplies with EFSEC s regul ati ons.

Second, the informati on we do have shows that the
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application is inconsistent with Skamani a County
shoreline -- shoreline master program which EFSEC
must address. The shoreline master programis a
zoni ng ordi nance, and EFSEC nust find consistency
NOW.

The proposed use as an interregional transm ssion
cabl e running along the shoreline through parts of
Skamani a County, and the Skamani a County shoreline
master programexplicitly prohibits such a use on the
shorel i ne.

First, a section of the cable running through an
area is designated as natural environnent. Uility
corridors are expressly listed as prohibited in the
natural environnent area unless they can be | ocated
el sewhere.

The nature and use as proposed is that it can be
| ocated el sewhere. There are any nunber of ways to
supply power fromthe east side of Oregon to the west
side of Oregon and Washi ngton, including existing
proposals. Not to nention the many ways in which
specific projects can avoid running through the
nat ural environnent area.

This is exactly the kind of issue that is within
the scope of EFSEC s review at this stage, and the

proposed use is prohibited in the rel evant area and
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cannot even theoretically receive a permt for
oper ati on.

Second, under the shoreline master program point,
the shoreline master programincludes regulation for
transm ssion lines that apply to all shoreline areas.
And it makes it clear that the kind of transm ssion
cabl e being proposed is prohibited. These
regul ations require any transm ssion cable to be
sited such that they spend as little tine as possible
in the shoreline area, including running
perpendi cularly to the shore.

The proposed cable, as already discussed, has no
reason to be in the shoreline area, and the proposed
siting has the cable running parallel along the shore
for long stretches without justification.

Quickly, third, and finally, | would like to
reiterate the request heard last night to keep the
record open for testinony. Wth the record being
open for about six hours in total, half of which are
taken up by this neeting, it does not give anple tine
for public response.

Thank you.

JUDGE M KOW Thank you very nuch

Ms. Grantham woul d you pl ease call the next

conment er .
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M5. GRANTHAM  Certainly. The next
person in person we have is Mary Repar.
M5. REPAR.  Thank you.

As a resident of Stevenson, | think it's totally
I nappropriate that we be discussing this |and
consi stency. | can assure you |I'mpretty sure that
the Gty of Stevenson does not know about the |and
consi stency certificate. At least | attend nost of
their neetings, and | have not even heard about this.

Second, the Pioneer did not print this neeting
here. And | think it should have been postponed in
the city of Stevenson so that the residents of
St evenson, and especially those who use the
wat erfront consistently, be able to cone here. Yes,
there were sone technical issues on the Skamani a
Pioneer's side, but that's no excuse. W can al ways
have a neeting | ater.

This is a draft. And I'mreally appalled that
we' re spending so nuch tinme on a draft. | want to
put in ny statenents for the record on sonething
that's real, not sonething that's nebul ous.

| -- we have a |l ot of geol ogic hazards here in
the gorge area. The Piper Lorry [sic] |andslide on
Rock Creek here, the creek you-all crossed over,

happened in 2007. The North Bonneville slide, as you
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remenber, it went all the way to the other side, and
you could cross it on land. Happened whenever it
happened in the mllennia past.

| would like the city of Stevenson, ny
muni cipality, to be included in this project. |'m
going to tell one of ny council nenbers here that we
need to talk about it on Thursday night when there's
a city council neeting. This is the first tinme that
| ' m hearing about this |and consistency hearing. And
|'"'mnot a |land expert, but | nmade coments on the
unmapped | ands that are in our -- in the east side
here, and those will be zoned here shortly by the
county conmmi ssioners one way or the other.

|'' mnot sure what the reference to the nanagenent
plan in the National Scenic Area was, but I'mfairly
sure that the Gorge Conm ssion would |ike to know
that they're being included in this process.

And USACE has a responsibility to the citizens of
this community to let us know when there's a permt
of any kind going on. And | have not read about it

I n our paper of record, which is the Skamani a

Pi oneer .
So, again, | think it's totally inappropriate to
have this -- these types of neetings before we have

sonet hing solid and substantial before us so we can
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keep our powder dry, whatever, and -- and nake
comrents based on facts and not nebul ous proposals.
Thank you very nuch.

JUDGE M KOW  Thank you very much
for those comments.

| do want to rem nd everybody that this portion
of the consistency hearing is for you to make
comrents only about the issues of consistency in
conpliance with applicabl e | and-use plans and zoni ng
ordi nances. So pl ease nake sure that your comments
are focused on those issues.

Wul d you pl ease call the next comrenter.

M5. GRANTHAM  Certainly, Your
Honor .

"' mgoing to nove on to those who have their
hands rai sed onli ne.

Next we have is Nat han Baker.

MR. BAKER: Good evening. This is
Nat han Baker with Friends of Col unbia Gorge.

And everything | wll say tonight involves
procedural issues and errors and wll inplicate the
appearance of fairness doctrine and due process
rights.

There are certain procedural errors in this

process that are violating the appearance of fairness
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doctrine and the due process rights of stakehol ders.

The first issue, as you' ve heard earlier tonight,
Is that this hearing is premature. The | and-use
heari ng must happen after the informational public
heari ng, which can only happen after, quote, the
recei pt of an application for site certification, end
guot e, under the statute.

Draft applications don't count. And even if it
is common for draft applications to be submtted,
|'ve never seen that before wth EFSEC. But draft
applications still don't trigger EFSEC s required
processes.

And w th | and-use consi stency, vesting concerns
are inplicated. The | egal question before the
Council is whether, quote, the proposed site is
consistent and in conpliance with, end quote,
| and-use | aws and rules, quote, on the date of the
application, end quote.

The applicant isn't allowed to submt a draft
application now and potentially enjoy the benefits of
vesting for | and-use consistency purposes based on
draft application. So once a non-draft application
Is submtted, EFSEC w Il need to schedul e | and-use
consi stency hearings on that application.

The second issue involves the nenbership of the
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Council. Again, we've heard no reference to the
nmenbers appointed by cities of Stevenson and North
Bonnevi |l l e who, quote, shall sit with the Council,
end quote, under the statute for these hearings.

M. MMhan said tonight that -- sonething about
that the Council appoints those people. That isn't
true. 1'll read to you fromthe statute. It says,
guote, The city legislative authority of every city
Wt hin whose corporate limts an energy facility is
proposed to be | ocated shall appoint a nenber or
desi gnee as a voting nenber to the Council, end
quot e.

Next, we have concerns about the defective
hearing notice, which discourages witten public
comments. |t only says public comments wll be
accepted during the hearings, and then, quote, if you
are unable to attend the hearings, please send your
comrent in witing, end quote.

It's effectively discouragi ng public comrent
that -- witten public comment that can -- as
sonet hing that can only happen as a backup to
attendi ng the hearing in person. Conpare that with
Washi ngton's Local Project Review Act, which requires
each public notice to include statenents of the right

of any person to comment on the application. That's
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RCW 36. 70B. 110, Subsection 2(e).

So here, EFSEC is providing a deficient public
notice that is | ess than anyone el se would get in the
state of Washington for any project under |and-use
revi ew.

Thank you very mnuch.

JUDGE M KOW Thank you

WI 1l you please call the next commenter.

M5. GRANTHAM  Certainly.

The next person | see online is just under the
name "Eric."

Eri c, whenever you speak up, please tell us your
| ast nanme, and maybe spell it.

MR. WRI STON:  Yeah. Sure. Sorry

about that.
H. Eric Wiston. That's Wr-i-s-t-o-n. |'man
attorney at Crag Law Center. |'mhere representing

Col unbi a Ri ver keeper.

| just have one really quick point to nake. The
applicant's counsel nmade sone statenents regarding
the consi stency determ nations or consistency
certificates fromthe | ocal governnents and that they
m ght still supply those.

EFSEC s rules are really clear that those have to

be submtted by the |l and-use hearing if they're going
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to be considered. To quote here from Washi ngton
Adm ni strative Code 463-26-090: This rule

contenpl ates that applicant will enter as exhibits,
at the | and-use hearing, certificates froml ocal
authorities attesting to the fact that the proposal
I's consistent and in conpliance wth | and-use pl ans
and zoni ng ordi nances.

And the rule goes on to tal k about how, if they
do submt that, then there's an opportunity for
contrary denonstrati on by anyone present at the
heari ng.

So there's two issues there. Both pretty
explicitly states that those certificates have to be
submtted by the hearing, and then also if you're
accepting themafter the hearing, you' re denying the
public a chance to respond to those, in contravention
of those rules.

Thank you.

JUDCGE M KOW Ckay. Thank you for
t hat .

Ms. Grantham would you pl ease call the next

comrent er.
M5. GRANTHAM  Certainly.
The next person | see online -- and apologies if
| pronounce your |ast nanme incorrectly -- is Elijah
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Cet as.
MR CETAS: Yeah. H . Good
evening. M nane is Elijah Cetas. |'m an energy

policy analyst and attorney for Col unbia River
Inter-Tribal Fish Conm ssion.

It was not ny intent to comment tonight, but just
based on the comments that |'ve heard, and given the
limted opportunity to provide witten comments on
the particular | and-use conpatibility issues here in
Skamani a County, | want to offer just a few points
for the record.

First off, CRITFCis a political subdivision of
the four Colunbia River Treaty tribes: The Yakam
Nation, Confederated Tribes of Umatilla |Indian
Reservati on, Confederated Tri bes of Warm Springs, and
Nez Perce Tri be.

W' re not a stakehol der, and for that reason,
wasn't intending to cooment. But it is inportant for
the conpatibility decision to nention that this
section of river that is within Skamania County is
Wi thin Zone 6. Zone 6 is a 147-mle stretch of river
that is an exclusive treaty Indian comrercial fishing
area. The exclusion is for commercial fishing only.
The state regulates -- the states of Washi ngton and

Oregon regul ate commercial fishing in other sections.
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But in Zone 6, it's exclusively treaty Indian
comrercial. Although noncommercial sports fishers
may still fish here.

Zone 6 is also the location of 31 in-lieu and
treaty fishing access sites. These are federal |ands
that are held for the exclusive use and benefit of
the Colunbia River Indian treaty tribes. CRITFC
operates and mai ntains these sites, but they are
federal |ands, and they are held for that federal
purpose. They were created by a statute, two
different statutes, and are governed under 25 --
under Part 247 of the code.

| offer these comments to remnd the -- to rem nd
EFSEC of the significance of the |ands we're talking
about and to state for the record that there are five
in-lieu and treaty fishing access sites within
Skamani a County. That's Bonneville, North Bonneville
site, where the upland portion of the transm ssion
woul d pass, would be imedi ately adjacent. There's
al so the Wnd River site, Cook-Underwood site, the
Cook site, and Wite Sal non.

And so, with that, I'll just |eave that and ask
t hat EFSEC consi der these federal uses and the uses
as held for the treaty tribes of | ower Col unbia

Ri ver. Thank you.
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JUDGE M KOW Thank you very nuch.

Ms. Gantham w Il you please call the next

conment er .
M5. GRANTHAM  Yep. Next is Steve
M Coy.
MR MCOY: H . Can you hear ne?
M5. GRANTHAM  Yes, we can.
JUDGE M KON Yes, we can. Please
pr oceed.
MR MCOY: Geat.
H. 1'mSteve McCoy. |'ma staff attorney with

Friends of the Colunbia Gorge. Councilors, thank you
for this opportunity to testify tonight.

|'"d like to start off wth the defective noti ce.
It contained dates and deadli nes that were uncl ear
comng in, and we end up only having a few hours to
submt witten conments.

The hearing notice, which is not dated and does
not indicate the coment period nor the deadline for
submtting witten comments. Wat we | earned | ast
night, the dark County |and-using, that there is
apparently only a very narrow wi ndow of tine each
night to submt witten cooments from5:30 in the
eveni ng until m dnight.

Director Bunpus referred the public to the EFSEC
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Web -- excuse ne -- Wb pages, and indeed those Wb
pages specified just a 6.5-hour tine period for
submtting witten coments. Wile the 6.5-hour tine
period may be intended to be the window for tine for
subm tting comments via EFSEC s online public portal,
t he Wb pages do not nmke such distinction. |Instead,
they specify a 6.5-hour comment period for all
witten comments.

It runs concurrently with the actual hearing,
itself, and attendees of the hearing will have to
qui ckly drive back honme and type up their witten
coments, including to respond to new evi dence as was
of fered by the proponents as part of this hearing,

i tself.

Mor eover, none of this is indicated in the actual
hearing notice, which is where you woul d expect to
see coment periods and deadl i nes.

In addition, there was only one hearing notice
for three counties, and it does not explain that each
county's |l and-use consistency hearing is limted to
eval uati ng | and-use consistency solely wthin that
county. The failure to include this information on
the hearing notice confuses and prejudices the
publ i c.

In addition, there was an insufficient notice
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period. Typically you would see 11, 12, 13 -- or
sorry. Notice period was only 11 days for the Cark
County hearing, 12 days for the Skamani a County
heari ng, and 13 days for the Klickitat hearing.

Under the state Local Project Review Act, it's 14
days. Skamania County typically gives 20 days for
nost things. 12-day notice period for tonight's
heari ng was insufficient.

In addition, as ny tine is running |ower, three
mnutes is insufficient. W object only being
al lowed three mnutes of testinony, particularly
because we have had to use that tinme to nmake
procedural objections.

Wth only a couple peopl e speaking on | and-use
consi stency, there is no need to severely restrict
each stakeholder's tine to three mnutes. Last
night, there was so nmuch tine left on the table at
the hearing that it concluded nearly an hour early.
Still, folks -- or the only person who testified, I
guess, was held to three m nutes.

So, finally, based on all the docunented errors
and fl awed procedures, EFSEC is violating
Washi ngt on' s appearance of fairness doctrine and the
due process rights of the stakehol ders and

participants to this hearing.
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Thank you for this opportunity to testify.
JUDGE M KOW Thank you.
Ms. Grantham are there any other commenters?
M5. GRANTHAM  The final person |
am seeing is R chard Hall.
JUDGE MKOW M. Hall, will you
pl ease proceed.
MR, HALL: Yes. Thank you.

"' mthe contract planning advisor for the Gty of
North Bonneville, so |I've been following for quite
sone tine nowthe -- all the processes, so |'ve been
included in lots of e-mails and things |ike that, and
so |'ve done a lot of research on it.

However, yesterday, | received a consistency
certificate in nmy e-mail, asking if | would sign
that. And so | really haven't even had tine to
review it and to consider any aspects that m ght be
pertinent, so -- but | just wanted to |l et you know
that | have been participating in this.

| have put the information on our city website,
| " ve brought the information in front of our city
council. And | expect to provide a report next week
at the council neeting for the city of North
Bonneville just to discuss the proceedings this

evening. So | just wanted you to know that | am
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participating in this procedure.

JUDGE M KOW Ckay. Thank you very
much.

Ms. Grantham are they anybody -- is there
anybody el se?

M5. GRANTHAM | am not seei ng
anybody online. It is up to you, Your Honor, if you
wanted to open the floor to those in person. W do
have about six mnutes left that we have planned for
toni ght's neeti ng.

JUDGE M KOW Ckay. Well, let's
open it up to the floor if there are any in-person
peopl e that have a comment to neke.

| just ask that, if you -- when you approach the
podium if you just say your nane.

CHAI R BECKETT: W have a conmenter
that's com ng forward.

Vel cone.

MR, OLDFIELD: H . M nane's Chuck
Adfield. I'mactually -- for two nore days, |I'm
city council here, Cty of Stevenson. And the only
thing that | wanted to kind of piggyback a little bit
on Mary Repar's comments was that |'m here tonight
because of the invitation that | got by an e-nail.

You'll notice that no other council nenbers are
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here tonight and no other representatives fromthe

City of Stevenson. | congratul ate Asa on being on
the council because |I know he'll speak for the
County.

If I were to follow your plan and ask questi ons
specifically about |and-use consistency, it mght be
to express a concern about whether you' ve | ooked at
all the proper right-of-ways for public and federal
and county | ands. Have you talked to any of the
constituents that have private property that abut
t hese properties? |'ve heard no discussions at city
council neetings, so | don't know if anybody from
pl anni ng has talked wwth you. But ny concerns woul d
be the properties around the interpretive center
comng -- you know, the egress fromthe river com ng
up around the interpretive center, going by the
Skamani a Lodge.

And then if | understand your map correctly,
which this is -- tonight's the first tine |'ve seen
it, the route going around Ash Lake, while that may
be county -- a lot of that county property, | know
that there's a lot of private property around that
area as well.

So those would be ny concerns. | would like to

see that sonebody had reached out a little bit better
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to the Cty, that our city adm nistrator or our mayor
or sonebody m ght have even brought this up at one of
our council neetings. It hasn't been discussed at
all. Thank you.

JUDGE M KOW Okay. Thank you

The tinme is 7:56 p.m, and the neeting is
scheduled to adjourn at 8 p.m So at this point,
with the limted anount of tinme available, |I'mgoing
to turn it back over to the chair.

CHAI R BECKETT: Thank you. Thank
you, Judge.

Qut of deference to those who are still here, are
there other nenbers of the public who do wish to cone
forward and have your comment included in tonight's
proceedi ngs? W would |like to conclude at 8, but
certainly if there's another comment, then | think
that | would suggest we hear it, Your Honor.

M5. ALLINGER: |'m Debbie Allinger.

CHAI R BECKETT: |'msorry. M' am
if I could just make sure that the judge guides you
here, just so we keep this proper. And thank you.

JUDGE M KON Yes. If you would
like to do that, | don't see there is any prejudice
letting them nake their comments here.

So woul d the next person please identify
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t hensel ves and nmake their comment.
M5. ALLINGER: |'m Debbie Allinger.
And |'ve heard a | ot about public |Iand and
private land. And | would |ike to have sone
di scussi on on sovereign | and, patented | and. Because
my famly has sone. Thank you.
JUDGE M KOW Thank you very nuch
Wul d the next person please step up and identify
t hensel ves.
It doesn't appear -- is there anybody --
CHAI R BECKETT: | think that
concl ude --
JUDGE M KON Wuld the chair
pl ease let me know if there's --
CHAIR BECKETT: No, | think that --
JUDGE M KOW -- anybody el se.
CHAI R BECKETT: No, | think that
was -- that was all for this evening, Your Honor.
JUDGE M KOW Ckay. Thank you.
Then | will turn it over back to you now. Thank
you.
CHAI R BECKETT: Thank you.
So thank you, all, for the input tonight.
Certainly lots of inportant feedback to consider both

as Council nenmbers as well as our staff. And so we
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appreciate that participation tonight.

And know ng that it is now 7:59 p.m, | wll
conclude this hearing. And we are adjourned. Thank
you once agai n.

(Heari ng adj ourned at
7:59 p.m)
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STATE OF WASHI NGTON ) I, John M S. Botel ho, CCR, RPR,

) ss a certified court reporter

) in the State of Washi ngton, do
hereby certify:

County of Pierce

That the foregoing | and-use consi stency hearing of the
Washi ngton State Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council was
conducted in ny presence and adj ourned on Novenber 18, 2025,
and thereafter was transcri bed under ny direction; that the
transcript is a full, true and conplete transcript of the
said hearing, transcribed to the best of ny ability;

That | amnot a relative, enployee, attorney or counsel
of any party to this nmatter or relative or enployee of any
such attorney or counsel and that | amnot financially

interested in the said matter or the outcone thereof;

IN WTNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set ny hand
this 2nd day of Decenber, 2025.

/s/John M S. Botel ho, CCR RPR
Certified Court Reporter No. 2976
(Certification expires 5/26/2026.)
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 1                     BE IT REMEMBERED that on Tuesday,

 2   November 18, 2025, at 710 Southwest Rock Creek Drive,

 3   Stevenson, Washington, at 6:54 p.m., the following

 4   land-use consistency hearing of the Washington State

 5   Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council was held, to

 6   wit:

 7

 8                       <<<<<< >>>>>>

 9

10                     CHAIR BECKETT:  And if the audience

11   would bear with us while we enter into our next

12   meeting, which I will just go ahead and make a couple

13   comments on just to make sure I get this correct.

14       So, again, this is -- we're bringing -- and I

15   will soon bring this land-use consistency hearing to

16   order.  Actually, I may just do that here at 6:55.

17       And during this hearing, we will have testimony

18   regarding the proposed project's consistency and

19   compliance with land-use plans and zoning ordinances

20   of Skamania County in this instance.  This is the

21   only subject that is allowed during this hearing.

22   We've had our general comments, and now this is

23   specifically in order for the Council to create --

24   begin to create the record and make a determination

25   on land-use consistency and compliance with Skamania
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 1   County land-use plans and zoning ordinances.  So if

 2   we could just keep comments specific to that topic.

 3       And if the -- Ms. Grantham would please call the

 4   roll.  We'll do that quickly, and then we'll have a

 5   short presentation that actually will get into a

 6   little more detail of what this looks like in

 7   Skamania County.  It might be of interest even if you

 8   don't have a comment.  And then we will take your

 9   comment.  So, with that --

10                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly --

11                     CHAIR BECKETT:  -- let's call the

12   roll.

13                     MS. GRANTHAM:  -- Chair Beckett.

14       I will start with Department of Commerce.

15                     MS. OSBORNE:  Elizabeth Osborne,

16   present.

17                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Department of

18   Ecology.

19                     MR. NELSON:  Blake Nelson, present.

20                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Department of Fish

21   and Wildlife.

22                     MR. PAMPLIN:  Nate Pamplin, present

23   and attending virtually.

24                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Department of

25   Natural Resources.
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 1                     MR. RYAN:  Maverick Ryan, present,

 2   attending virtually.

 3                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Utilities and

 4   Transportation Commission.

 5                     MR. RYBARIK:  Brian Rybarik,

 6   present and attending virtually.

 7                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Moving on to the

 8   local government Council member for this project from

 9   Skamania County -- excuse me -- Asa Leckie.

10                     MR. LECKIE:  Present online.

11                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Assistant Attorney

12   General Jon Thompson.

13                     MR. THOMPSON:  Present online.

14                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Administrative Law

15   Judge Russel Mikow.

16                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Present online.

17                     MS. GRANTHAM:  For Council staff:

18   Sonia Bumpus.

19                     MS. BUMPUS:  Present.

20                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Amy Hafkemeyer.

21                     MS. HAFKEMEYER:  Present.

22                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Lance Caputo.

23       Lance Caputo is here.  He's just not sitting at

24   his table at the moment, so I will note that he is

25   present.
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 1       Maria Belkina.

 2                     MS. BELKINA:  Present.

 3                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Karl Holappa.

 4       Karl is also not at his seat, but he is present

 5   tonight.

 6       And then Lisa McLean.

 7                     MS. McLEAN:  Present online.

 8                     MS. GRANTHAM:  And for the counsel

 9   for the environment, Sarah Reyneveld.

10                     MS. REYNEVELD:  Sarah Reyneveld is

11   present virtually.

12                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Thank you.

13       Chair, there is a quorum.

14                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you.

15       Let me also just quickly note before we turn this

16   to our presenters from our applicant team, Judge

17   Mikow is with us tonight as an administrative law

18   judge of the Office of Administrative Hearings.

19   That's designed to help further just document this

20   process.  And Judge Mikow will basically take over

21   any comment gathering that we'll be doing, and we'll

22   further give you a word about his role in this when

23   we come to the comment period.  So just wanted to

24   acknowledge Judge Mikow in that regard.  And, with

25   that, let me turn this to our presenters.
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 1                     MS. BASSETT:  All right.  Good

 2   evening, everyone.  I'm Malia Bassett.  I'm on the

 3   applicant team.  I'm an environmental planner.  I'm

 4   going to go through the proposal and the applicable

 5   land uses and zoning of it.

 6       Want to introduce yourself.

 7                     MR. McMAHAN:  Good evening.  My

 8   name is Tim McMahan.  I am legal counsel to the

 9   applicant, and I'm an attorney with Stoel Rives law

10   firm.  And let's see.  Good evening.  Nice to see you

11   all.

12                     MS. BASSETT:  All right.  So

13   everyone has seen this before.  I am mainly going to

14   be -- I am mainly going to be discussing the on-land

15   portions in Washington tonight.  So that's the -- the

16   center map in yellow.  That's where we come out of

17   the Columbia River and we're proposing to be on land

18   to bypass the Bonneville Dam, which Chris talked

19   about earlier.

20       There are some in-water segments for the

21   alignment that are on the Washington side of the

22   Columbia River.  The border, as you all know, between

23   Washington and Oregon is the center of the Columbia

24   River.  So as the line follows the river, it goes

25   into Oregon, comes out, goes back into Washington.
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 1   So we are referring to those as segments, and there's

 2   eight along Skamania County.  And that's

 3   approximately 18 miles.

 4       So I'll go through those quickly since this is a

 5   land-use consistency hearing and these are in water,

 6   but just so everyone is aware what's in Washington.

 7       So starting in -- so starting east and going

 8   west, those numbers you see are river miles.  So one

 9   of the segments -- or sorry.  The -- the line is the

10   red dash, and then the segments in Washington are

11   highlighted yellow.

12       So this one is showing between River Mile 159 and

13   a half and then going west is a segment crossing over

14   into Washington along the Columbia River.

15       And then this is the segment that approaches

16   Stevenson, where I'll start later for the on-land

17   portion.  And then once we get past the on-land

18   portion, after North Bonneville, when we re-enter the

19   Columbia River, we're in Washington again in the

20   river.

21       All right.  Going onto on land in Washington.  So

22   in Skamania County, on land, we're within the

23   jurisdictions of the city of Stevenson, city of North

24   Bonneville, and then unincorporated Skamania County.

25       So starting with the city of Steve- -- actually
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 1   start an overview map.  So this is showing our

 2   on-land portion in city of Stevenson.  That's the top

 3   center area.  Sorry, I don't have a pointer.  And

 4   then unincorporated Skamania -- unincorporated

 5   Skamania County is that lighter portion, and then you

 6   see North Bonneville jurisdiction in the -- in the

 7   shaded tan down toward the bottom left.

 8       So on-land project components.  Chris mentioned

 9   these earlier.  We have temporary horizontal

10   directional drilling, called HDD.  Those are areas as

11   well as temporary horizontal auger pouring, called

12   HAB areas.  And then the high-voltage direct current,

13   HVDC, transmission cable.

14       And in this table, I've summarized which of those

15   components are in each jurisdiction.  So in the city

16   of Stevenson, we have the HDD and the HVDC.

17       In unincorporated Skamania County, we have HDD

18   and HVDC.

19       And then in North Bonneville, we have HAB and

20   HVDC.

21       So I'll go through each one of those components,

22   and we can look at those a little closer.

23       Starting in the city of Stevenson, looking at the

24   project components, you can see the temporary HDD

25   area.  We have a close-up, kind of a zoom-in of that
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 1   area with the green box.  That's the temporary HDD

 2   area.  And then just a really, really short portion

 3   of the HVD transmission cable.  Again, on land for

 4   about 0.4 miles.

 5       Shaded, I have the -- the parcel that says "PR."

 6   That stands for public use and recreation zone.

 7   That's what city of Stevenson is zoning that parcel.

 8       And the proposed land use for those project

 9   components in the city of Stevenson fit with the

10   definition of a utility facility.

11       And I'll -- one more thing to orient you.  So the

12   portion of the project in Stevenson is highlighted

13   that red.  You can see in the -- the top portion of

14   the project.  And that will be the same going through

15   Skamania and North Bonneville as well.

16       Moving on to unincorporated Skamania County.

17   Here, we have HVDC transmission cable, approximately

18   four miles of buried cable, and then the temporary

19   HDD area, approximately 1.26 acres.

20       So looking at the more bold red lines, that's

21   where the project is proposed in Skamania County.

22   And you can see it weaves from Stevenson and then

23   coming out of North Bonneville and then back toward

24   the Columbia River.

25       So the zones that are designated in
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 1   unincorporated Skamania County is -- we're in one

 2   zone there, so the F-2, large woodland, and that's

 3   part of the National Scenic Area, General Management

 4   Area.

 5       The proposed land use for -- for the portions of

 6   the project that are in Skamania County are both

 7   underground utility facility for the HVDC and the HDD

 8   area.

 9       And then, lastly, North Bonneville.

10       The project components proposed in the

11   jurisdiction of North Bonneville are the HVDC

12   transmission cable, approximately 3.5 miles, and then

13   temporary HAB areas.  And that combined is about 0.05

14   acres.

15       The zones in North Bonneville.  So for the HV --

16   the portion of the HVDC transmission cable goes

17   through two zones:  USA, which is this close to

18   Bonneville Dam, is the -- the core.  And then the

19   other zone is the pink one you see there, industrial

20   business park.

21       The proposed land uses for both of those zones

22   fit with the definition of utility that North

23   Bonneville defines in their comp plan and zoning

24   code.

25       And then the other project component, the
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 1   temporary HAB areas, are in the USA.  Again, USACE.

 2   And that would be a temporary land use, so

 3   construction essentially.

 4       Now I'll pass it over to Tim.

 5                     MR. McMAHAN:  Thank you, Malia.  I

 6   have a tendency to speak loud, so if I do that, just

 7   let me know.

 8       Again, my name is Tim McMahan, and I'm legal

 9   counsel to the applicant.  I'm with the Stoel Rives

10   law firm.  And it's good to be here with you-all and

11   nice to see the Council, and appreciate staff coming

12   out as well with EFSEC.

13       I want to first respond to some comments made

14   last night that were reiterated by the Friends of the

15   Gorge a short time ago.  The first comment concerned

16   the comment deadline for the project, an objection to

17   the amount of time needed for the -- for the -- for

18   this project to proceed to hearing.

19       And it is within EFSEC's jurisdiction, and

20   there's no rationale to keep the record open for an

21   additional 30 days.  And it is our view that that is

22   unnecessary and within the province of EFSEC should

23   they believe that that is necessary.

24       Second, there's a comment concerning the draft

25   application, quote/unquote.  It is common practice to
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 1   submit draft applications for agency review.  Whether

 2   done intentionally or inadvertently, this is

 3   immaterial.  If the cooks got to see what was in the

 4   oven in our filing their draft application, that's

 5   just fine.  It is more information.  It is not

 6   something we're concerned about.

 7       And then the third comment related to County

 8   appointees.  This is a matter for EFSEC's discretion.

 9   EFSEC makes these appointments in consultation with

10   local governments, and the timing of these

11   appointments is immaterial, and there is no legal or

12   procedural error.  Again, it is up to EFSEC.

13       So I just want to make that record straight for

14   the public and respond to those comments from last

15   night.

16       So turning to tonight.  As you heard this

17   evening, the land-use consistency hearing's purpose

18   is to determine whether the project is consistent and

19   in compliance with local land-use plans and zoning

20   ordinances.  EFSEC makes this determination.

21       The relevant inquiry for EFSEC's initial land-use

22   analysis is, in quotes, whether the pertinent local

23   land-use provisions prohibit the proposed site,

24   quote, expressly or by operation clearly,

25   convincingly and unequivocally.  Fairly strong
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 1   language that limits the opportunity to impede the

 2   project at this point in the process.

 3       If a proposed project can be permitted either

 4   outright or conditionally, it is consistent and in

 5   compliance with land-use provisions for the purposes

 6   of this -- the EFSEC statute RCW 80.50.090.

 7       For this project, zoning is an awkward concept.

 8   Zoning as applicable in a typical EFSEC proceeding is

 9   intended to regulate private property.  These are

10   public rights-of-way situated on public property.

11       It is at odds to apply land-use rules to public

12   linear infrastructure that serve broad public needs.

13   That is because fundamentally public rights-of-way,

14   regardless of zoning, are the preferred locations

15   where public infrastructure is and should be placed.

16   That is true whether it's water, wastewater,

17   telecommunication or transmission infrastructure.

18   And the concept of land-use consistency in this

19   setting is complicated because the EFSEC rules

20   primarily reflect privately owned, stand-alone,

21   stationary public infrastructure, such as power

22   plants.

23       Moreover, development activity in public

24   rights-of-way like those proposed here are governed

25   by franchise authority and right-of-way permits, not
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 1   zoning.  RCW 80.32.010 authorizes cities and counties

 2   with control of any public street or road to grant

 3   authority for the construction and maintenance and

 4   operation of transmission lines.  Similarly,

 5   addressing state highways and state rights-of-way

 6   through permits that are issued by the Washington

 7   State Department of Transportation.

 8       Nearly all of the Cascade Renewable Transmission

 9   Project proposed in Skamania County is underwater.  I

10   think that's been explained tonight.  In those -- in

11   these locations, neither the county zoning code nor

12   the county's comprehensive plan impose land-use

13   restrictions on in-water uses or river-bottom land

14   within the Columbia River.  And as Mr. Hocker

15   explained terrestrial locations are, for this

16   project, sited within existing public rights-of-way.

17   Fundamentally, public rights-of-way are the preferred

18   location for placement of linear facilities of this

19   kind.

20       So concerning land-use consistency.  The EFSEC

21   rules contemplate that EFSEC and the applicant will

22   work with local governments to seek a finding of

23   land-use consistency.  If a local jurisdiction

24   believes that a proposed EFSEC project is consistent

25   and in compliance with its land-use plans and zoning
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 1   ordinances, it may provide and the applicant may

 2   enter into a certificate from local authorities

 3   attesting that the -- attesting to the fact that the

 4   proposal is consistent and in compliance with

 5   land-use plans and zoning ordinances.

 6       The certificate of consistency provides proof of

 7   consistency and compliance with applicable land-use

 8   plans and zoning ordinances, and the inquiry then

 9   ends there.  Absent a certificate of consistency,

10   EFSEC issues its decision regarding consistency after

11   reviewing the applicable land-use plans and zoning

12   ordinances.

13       First, the applicant and local authorities are

14   addressed to -- are directed to address compliance

15   and noncompliance with land-use plans or zoning

16   ordinances.  Then EFSEC determines whether the

17   proposed site is consistent and in compliance with

18   land-use plan and zoning ordinances pursuant to the

19   EFSEC statute RCW 80.50.090(2).

20       EFSEC's review does not consider all land-use

21   plan provisions.  A land-use plan includes the

22   portions of a comprehensive plan that outline

23   proposals for an area's development, typically by

24   assigning general uses, such as housing, to land

25   segments and specifying desired concentrations and
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 1   design goals.

 2       A zoning ordinance is a local government's

 3   ordinance regulating the use of land adopted by

 4   Washington law.  And zoning ordinances include the

 5   applicable zoning map, development restrictions, and

 6   associated definitions.  The applicable county

 7   land-use plan and zoning ordinances provisions are

 8   found within the North Bonneville, city of Stevenson,

 9   and Skamania County zoning codes and comprehensive

10   plans.

11       As noted, it is awkward to address land-use

12   consistency within public rights-of-way principally

13   because infrastructure of all kinds should

14   fundamentally be placed within public rights-of-way

15   to avoid proliferation of linear facilities outside

16   of rights-of-way.

17       While EFSEC rules concerning land-use consistency

18   create an awkward paradigm for siting linear

19   in-ground facilities, we will go ahead and summarize

20   the zoning provisions from the three -- the three

21   local municipalities that were referenced earlier.

22       First, Skamania County.  In Skamania County, the

23   project is proposed on, quote, unzoned land.  There

24   are no use restrictions or development regulations

25   for unzoned land in Skamania County.  The county,
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 1   Skamania County.

 2       There are two land-use designations that are

 3   governed by the management plan and SCC Title 22.

 4   And Title 22 is not a zoning ordinance pursuant to

 5   the Washington Administrative Code 463-26-090.  The

 6   management plan and the Skamania County Code Title 22

 7   are not land-use plans or zoning ordinances.  The

 8   in-water portions of the project are identified as

 9   water GMA, quote/unquote, on the county's zoning map.

10       The water GMA designation does not impose

11   restrictions on use.  Therefore, these portions of

12   the project are consistent with the Skamania County

13   Code Title 22.

14       The remainder of the on-land portions of the

15   project is located on land zoned and governed by the

16   management plan, Skamania County Code Title 22.  And

17   even if the management plan and SCC Title 22 apply,

18   new underground utility facilities like the project

19   could and typically are permitted through an

20   administrative review process.

21       Turning to North Bonneville.  Title 22 of North

22   Bonneville Municipal Code governs land use in North

23   Bonneville.  The transmission line would pass through

24   land zoned, quote, federal ownership area.  This

25   zone, including transmission line corridors, is not
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 1   subject to city regulations in North Bonneville.

 2       The project would also pass through land zoned

 3   industrial / business park.  The city allows

 4   utilities, including transmission lines, in the

 5   industrial / business park zone, which we've learned

 6   tonight is, in fact, where this project is proposed.

 7   The project as proposed is a permissible use within

 8   the zone.

 9       Finally, the city of Stevenson.  The project

10   would pass through land zoned public use and

11   recreation.  The project would be in existing

12   right-of-way, which is where these types of uses are

13   typically permitted.  Finally, in issuing a proposed

14   site certificate, we anticipate that EFSEC will work

15   with the county and the cities of North Bonneville

16   and Stevenson and the applicant to include conditions

17   in the draft site certificate agreement which

18   considered any applicable state, local, and community

19   interests affected by the construction of the

20   facility.

21       The applicant is fully committed to achieving

22   these objectives with the three counties along the

23   Columbia River and the cities of North Bonneville and

24   Stevenson.

25       So just a word about the Shoreline Management

0022

 1   Act.  I had several comments, peopling coming up to

 2   me and asking questions about -- from EFSEC staff

 3   about the Shoreline Management Act.  The applicant

 4   fully understands the need for review and compliance

 5   with the Shoreline Management Act, and it is for

 6   EFSEC to conduct this review, not for the applicant

 7   to conduct this review.

 8       Whether this issue should be considered now or

 9   later in the process is a matter for EFSEC to decide.

10   That said, to my knowledge, the most recent precedent

11   here, the most recent EFSEC precedent here, was a

12   Columbia solar facility project in Klickitat County

13   some years ago.  The Shoreline Management Act review

14   was conducted after the land-use consistency hearing.

15   Whether that is done now or later is a matter for

16   EFSEC in its discretion.

17       Thank you.  Appreciate the opportunity to provide

18   this information to you.

19                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you, both,

20   very much.

21       Let me help turn this over to Judge Mikow.  And,

22   Your Honor, if I could ask if you would help me know

23   when and how to incorporate any questions or comments

24   from the EFSEC project Council.  I wanted to

25   acknowledge their presence here.  And if you have
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 1   questions especially on this evening's presentation,

 2   apologies for having not asked you earlier in the

 3   original initial presentation, but I know you

 4   participated in it last night.

 5       So having acknowledged all that, Judge Mikow, if

 6   you would help facilitate both our public comment as

 7   well as if Council has questions for the presenters.

 8   Thank you.

 9                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Excuse me.

10   Good evening.  I'm Administrative Law Judge Russ

11   Mikow with the Office of Administrative Hearings, and

12   I am going to be helping with the second public

13   comment period for this land-use consistency hearing.

14       There are a few general things everybody needs to

15   know before we get going.  Unlike the earlier public

16   comment period this evening, here we are only taking

17   public comments about whether the site is or is not

18   consistent and is or is not in compliance with

19   applicable land-use plans and zoning ordinances.  So

20   this is not an opportunity to ask questions during

21   this public comment period.

22       The public comments are going to be limited to

23   three minutes per person.  I'll try not to stop any

24   speaker mid sentence.  But if you go much longer than

25   the time allotted, I might have to move on to the
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 1   next commenter.

 2       And, again, remember.  Your comments are supposed

 3   to be limited to the issues of consistency and

 4   compliance with applicable land-use plans and zoning

 5   ordinances.  Following the land-use consistency

 6   hearing, my job is to draft an order including the

 7   findings of fact, appropriate portions of the

 8   relevant law or code, and conclusions of law

 9   regarding whether a proposed site is consistent and

10   in compliance with applicable land-use plans and

11   zoning ordinances, as required by Revised Code of

12   Washington 80.50.090, Paragraph 2, and

13   Chapter 463-26, Washington Administrative Code.

14       I will provide my draft order to the

15   EFSEC-assigned assistant attorney general and its

16   staff for any revisions prior to the staff presenting

17   the order to the Council with the recommendation of

18   adoption at an open meeting.

19       So that's some of -- that's an explanation of my

20   role in today's proceedings.

21       As it relates to questions of the applicant's

22   Council, I believe that should go first before there

23   are public comments.

24       So I did not catch the name of the person who

25   might be asking questions, though.
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 1                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Well, direct me as

 2   you need to, Your Honor, here, despite me, quote,

 3   being the chair.  What I'm trying to get to is, any

 4   Council members of EFSEC, do you have questions or

 5   any quick comments you wanted to note for this

 6   land-use portion as allowable by Judge Mikow?  And

 7   please raise your hand or speak up.  And, otherwise,

 8   we will soon move to the public comment.

 9       Council members?

10       We have Council Nelson with a question.

11                     MR. NELSON:  Thank you, Chair

12   Beckett.

13       So this might be more germane to the general

14   information section.  So, if so, you can "stricken"

15   it from the record, but I'll ask tomorrow.

16       So I was just wondering about buffers for when

17   the line is -- comes up through Stevenson and with

18   the horizontal drilling, how far that is from the

19   bank of the river.  I ask that in the context of the

20   shoreline master plan.  And, again, if you don't have

21   the -- I know it's not a Q & A right now.  I'm just

22   stating that will be part of my consideration for

23   this project.

24                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Pamplin.

25                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.
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 1       Would the next Council member who has a question

 2   or comment.  I don't.  Would they raise their hand

 3   and please proceed.

 4                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Pamplin, I

 5   believe that's you.

 6                     MR. PAMPLIN:  Great.  Thank you,

 7   Mr. Chair.

 8       Just a question for Mr. McMahan.  I understand --

 9   you know, and you went through some of the citations

10   there about the project applicant working with local

11   government to seek concurrence and then relaying that

12   instrument back to EFSEC, which I think would

13   certainly help with this process.  There's avenues to

14   proceed with that determination without that

15   concurrence.

16       But I'm just wondering if you could please share

17   the status of the conversations with the City of

18   Stevenson, the City of North Bonneville, and Skamania

19   County, please.  Thank you.

20                     MR. McMAHAN:  Yes.  Thank you for

21   the question.

22       We've been in pretty consistent conversation with

23   Skamania County for some time.  And I'm not sure if

24   there's anybody from the County here.  I don't think

25   so.  So we have a pretty mature conversation going
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 1   with Skamania County to obtain a land-use consistency

 2   certification.  It's not concluded.

 3       We have requested that the North Bonneville City

 4   also work with us on a consistency determination.

 5   We've provided documentation to both of those

 6   municipalities, asking -- asking to, you know, talk

 7   to them after this hearing.  And, as I've said, we've

 8   reached out previously as well.

 9       The third County or the third City -- excuse

10   me -- or the third municipality -- sorry -- City of

11   Steve- -- North Bonneville and City of Stevenson,

12   we've talked to both of those municipalities.  So in

13   the works.  And we do hope to complete consistency

14   certificates with them as defined in the EFSEC rules.

15   We're not quite there yet.

16                     MR. PAMPLIN:  Great.

17                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.

18       Ms. Grantham, are there any other Council members

19   who would like to make a comment or question?

20                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Leckie has

21   a question, Your Honor.

22                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Please proceed.

23                     MR. LECKIE:  Yeah, thank you.

24       I just had a question.  As we're talking about

25   county land use and zoning and EFSEC, there was a
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 1   comment that caught my attention, was that in

 2   Skamania County, the majority of this project is

 3   underwater in the Columbia River.

 4       So do we already have a permit from, I would

 5   assume would be the Army Corps of Engineers, 'cause

 6   congress has authority over navigable waters, so

 7   don't they delegate that authority and permitting to

 8   the Army Corps of Engineers?  So for the project,

 9   shouldn't that permit be obtained first before EFSEC?

10       That's just -- and I'm new to this process, so

11   I'm just asking.  That's just something that kind of

12   was kind of running around in my head on this whole

13   process.  Thank you.

14                     MR. McMAHAN:  Tim McMahan here,

15   particularly since that was a Council member, I

16   believe.  I don't know that I have the answer to

17   that, but I think Mr. Hocker may have some additional

18   insights on that question.  And you might want to

19   repeat the question.  I'm not sure.

20                     MR. HOCKER:  No, I...

21                     MR. McMAHAN:  All right.

22                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Your Honor, did you

23   want to try and paraphrase the question, or would you

24   like me to?  I'm happy to.  Whatever's proper.

25                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Oh.  You can go ahead
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 1   and paraphrase it.

 2                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Okay.  Council

 3   Leckie, make sure I have this right.  But

 4   essentially, why isn't the corps of engineers going

 5   ahead of the EFSEC process?

 6                     MR. HOCKER:  I can't speak to the

 7   legalities of, you know, in what order.  I can tell

 8   you that the corps, the state processes in Oregon and

 9   Washington are proceeding down parallel paths.  And

10   with, I think, a real serious attempt in a

11   coordinated fashion.  So I don't believe there's a

12   sequence that is required or even desirable.  But

13   that's -- that would be my answer for now.

14                     CHAIR BECKETT:  And, Council

15   Leckie, we're certainly capturing this and, you know,

16   happy to dig deeper and follow up.

17                     MR. LECKIE:  Yeah, I guess that was

18   just a point of clarification for me, is can EFSEC

19   supplant the Army Corps of Engineer permitting that's

20   required, if it's required, I guess?  Thank you.

21                     CHAIR BECKETT:  And I believe

22   Director Bumpus has a couple comments to add, so

23   please.  Welcome.

24                     MS. BUMPUS:  I just wanted to

25   respond in part that EFSEC is coordinating with the
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 1   Army Corps of Engineers on the permits that they do

 2   have jurisdiction for here.  And that is our

 3   practice.  When we have an application for site

 4   certification that triggers authorizations or permits

 5   from the corps, we will coordinate with them in their

 6   review of impacts, the activities that are proposed

 7   and the application submitted to them.  We'll look at

 8   that as we're also reviewing the application that is

 9   before EFSEC.

10       And one of the reasons we do that is because we

11   want to ensure we're not duplicating where we don't

12   need to duplicate.  Also to ensure that we have

13   consistency in terms of if there are measures or

14   mitigation that needs to be implemented to ensure

15   that we're sharing information and coordinating so

16   that there isn't conflicting requirements, if you

17   will.

18       So I can -- I can tell you that.  I don't know if

19   that's helpful to answering this question or not.

20                     CHAIR BECKETT:  I think it was, so

21   thank you.

22                     MR. LECKIE:  Oh.  Yeah.  This is

23   Commissioner Leckie.  Yeah, no, that's helpful.  And

24   I don't know if we'll have answers exactly tonight,

25   but that's just something (unintelligible).
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 1       As the dredging of the river is done to the

 2   project, is this required under a Section 10 / 404

 3   permit?  'Cause it's not exactly removing dredging or

 4   material, but it's also disturbing it.  So I was just

 5   kind of asking some clarification on that too.  Thank

 6   you.

 7                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you, Council

 8   Leckie.

 9       And, Your Honor, I believe Amy Hafkemeyer has a

10   word to add still, or no?

11                     MS. HAFKEMEYER:  I do.  Thank you.

12   And then it looks like Mr. Hocker may also have some

13   additional information.

14       In terms of coordination with the Army Corps, I

15   wanted to add a little bit more information.

16       The State Environmental Policy Act review must be

17   conducted to be able to issue the state 401 water

18   quality certification, which is then in support of

19   the permits issued by the Army Corps of Engineers,

20   who we know are working towards the review of a 404

21   permit, 408, as well as Section 10, I believe.

22       And so in terms of sequence, there is reason for

23   us to be reviewing this application ahead of issuance

24   of those permits.  And I don't know if there's

25   additional information Mr. Hocker has, but those are
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 1   the permitting pathways that we know that the Army

 2   Corps is working on right now.

 3                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.  This is

 4   Judge Mikow.

 5       Mr. Hocker, do you have anything else to add in

 6   response?

 7                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Your Honor, I can

 8   relay that has a thumbs-up and that was covered.  And

 9   I had the floor and will soon turn this back to you,

10   Your Honor, I think for public comment.

11       One other issue that is, again, part of the

12   process that's beginning and will need to be sorted

13   out and that is certainly, I think, the role of the

14   Department of Natural Resources and its jurisdiction

15   over aquatic lands that I believe, you know, is an

16   issue that will be also considered.  I don't know the

17   answer to that question, but one that I just wanted

18   to note as we go forward here, so...

19       Any closing comments from staff or Council?

20   Otherwise, I think, Your Honor, we're back to you in

21   our public testimony.

22                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.

23       Ms. Grantham, would you please call the first

24   commenter.

25                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Yes, Your Honor.
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 1   The first person I have is Teryn Yazdani.

 2                     MS. YAZDANI:  Thank you.  For the

 3   record, my name is Teryn Yazdani, with Columbia

 4   Riverkeeper.

 5       There are three brief points I want to raise in

 6   oral testimony.  Columbia Riverkeeper has submitted

 7   more detailed written comments for the record but

 8   just wanted to reiterate these points.

 9       First, there is an incomplete information in the

10   application.  WAC 463-60 requires detailed

11   information from the applicant on the project site,

12   its environment including fish and wildlife habitat,

13   project alternatives, and expedited impacts of the

14   river.

15       Riverkeeper will be submitting separate comments

16   on this separately.  However, we wanted to raise this

17   point because the issues that are present with the

18   incomplete information and the application make full

19   participation in the land-use consistency process

20   impossible.

21       Accordingly, we urge EFSEC to deem the draft

22   application as incomplete, suspend review until such

23   time as the applicant has submitted an application

24   that substantially complies with EFSEC's regulations.

25       Second, the information we do have shows that the
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 1   application is inconsistent with Skamania County

 2   shoreline -- shoreline master program, which EFSEC

 3   must address.  The shoreline master program is a

 4   zoning ordinance, and EFSEC must find consistency

 5   now.

 6       The proposed use as an interregional transmission

 7   cable running along the shoreline through parts of

 8   Skamania County, and the Skamania County shoreline

 9   master program explicitly prohibits such a use on the

10   shoreline.

11       First, a section of the cable running through an

12   area is designated as natural environment.  Utility

13   corridors are expressly listed as prohibited in the

14   natural environment area unless they can be located

15   elsewhere.

16       The nature and use as proposed is that it can be

17   located elsewhere.  There are any number of ways to

18   supply power from the east side of Oregon to the west

19   side of Oregon and Washington, including existing

20   proposals.  Not to mention the many ways in which

21   specific projects can avoid running through the

22   natural environment area.

23       This is exactly the kind of issue that is within

24   the scope of EFSEC's review at this stage, and the

25   proposed use is prohibited in the relevant area and
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 1   cannot even theoretically receive a permit for

 2   operation.

 3       Second, under the shoreline master program point,

 4   the shoreline master program includes regulation for

 5   transmission lines that apply to all shoreline areas.

 6   And it makes it clear that the kind of transmission

 7   cable being proposed is prohibited.  These

 8   regulations require any transmission cable to be

 9   sited such that they spend as little time as possible

10   in the shoreline area, including running

11   perpendicularly to the shore.

12       The proposed cable, as already discussed, has no

13   reason to be in the shoreline area, and the proposed

14   siting has the cable running parallel along the shore

15   for long stretches without justification.

16       Quickly, third, and finally, I would like to

17   reiterate the request heard last night to keep the

18   record open for testimony.  With the record being

19   open for about six hours in total, half of which are

20   taken up by this meeting, it does not give ample time

21   for public response.

22       Thank you.

23                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.

24       Ms. Grantham, would you please call the next

25   commenter.
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 1                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.  The next

 2   person in person we have is Mary Repar.

 3                     MS. REPAR:  Thank you.

 4       As a resident of Stevenson, I think it's totally

 5   inappropriate that we be discussing this land

 6   consistency.  I can assure you I'm pretty sure that

 7   the City of Stevenson does not know about the land

 8   consistency certificate.  At least I attend most of

 9   their meetings, and I have not even heard about this.

10       Second, the Pioneer did not print this meeting

11   here.  And I think it should have been postponed in

12   the city of Stevenson so that the residents of

13   Stevenson, and especially those who use the

14   waterfront consistently, be able to come here.  Yes,

15   there were some technical issues on the Skamania

16   Pioneer's side, but that's no excuse.  We can always

17   have a meeting later.

18       This is a draft.  And I'm really appalled that

19   we're spending so much time on a draft.  I want to

20   put in my statements for the record on something

21   that's real, not something that's nebulous.

22       I -- we have a lot of geologic hazards here in

23   the gorge area.  The Piper Lorry [sic] landslide on

24   Rock Creek here, the creek you-all crossed over,

25   happened in 2007.  The North Bonneville slide, as you
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 1   remember, it went all the way to the other side, and

 2   you could cross it on land.  Happened whenever it

 3   happened in the millennia past.

 4       I would like the city of Stevenson, my

 5   municipality, to be included in this project.  I'm

 6   going to tell one of my council members here that we

 7   need to talk about it on Thursday night when there's

 8   a city council meeting.  This is the first time that

 9   I'm hearing about this land consistency hearing.  And

10   I'm not a land expert, but I made comments on the

11   unmapped lands that are in our -- in the east side

12   here, and those will be zoned here shortly by the

13   county commissioners one way or the other.

14       I'm not sure what the reference to the management

15   plan in the National Scenic Area was, but I'm fairly

16   sure that the Gorge Commission would like to know

17   that they're being included in this process.

18       And USACE has a responsibility to the citizens of

19   this community to let us know when there's a permit

20   of any kind going on.  And I have not read about it

21   in our paper of record, which is the Skamania

22   Pioneer.

23       So, again, I think it's totally inappropriate to

24   have this -- these types of meetings before we have

25   something solid and substantial before us so we can
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 1   keep our powder dry, whatever, and -- and make

 2   comments based on facts and not nebulous proposals.

 3   Thank you very much.

 4                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much

 5   for those comments.

 6       I do want to remind everybody that this portion

 7   of the consistency hearing is for you to make

 8   comments only about the issues of consistency in

 9   compliance with applicable land-use plans and zoning

10   ordinances.  So please make sure that your comments

11   are focused on those issues.

12       Would you please call the next commenter.

13                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly, Your

14   Honor.

15       I'm going to move on to those who have their

16   hands raised online.

17       Next we have is Nathan Baker.

18                     MR. BAKER:  Good evening.  This is

19   Nathan Baker with Friends of Columbia Gorge.

20       And everything I will say tonight involves

21   procedural issues and errors and will implicate the

22   appearance of fairness doctrine and due process

23   rights.

24       There are certain procedural errors in this

25   process that are violating the appearance of fairness
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 1   doctrine and the due process rights of stakeholders.

 2       The first issue, as you've heard earlier tonight,

 3   is that this hearing is premature.  The land-use

 4   hearing must happen after the informational public

 5   hearing, which can only happen after, quote, the

 6   receipt of an application for site certification, end

 7   quote, under the statute.

 8       Draft applications don't count.  And even if it

 9   is common for draft applications to be submitted,

10   I've never seen that before with EFSEC.  But draft

11   applications still don't trigger EFSEC's required

12   processes.

13       And with land-use consistency, vesting concerns

14   are implicated.  The legal question before the

15   Council is whether, quote, the proposed site is

16   consistent and in compliance with, end quote,

17   land-use laws and rules, quote, on the date of the

18   application, end quote.

19       The applicant isn't allowed to submit a draft

20   application now and potentially enjoy the benefits of

21   vesting for land-use consistency purposes based on

22   draft application.  So once a non-draft application

23   is submitted, EFSEC will need to schedule land-use

24   consistency hearings on that application.

25       The second issue involves the membership of the
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 1   Council.  Again, we've heard no reference to the

 2   members appointed by cities of Stevenson and North

 3   Bonneville who, quote, shall sit with the Council,

 4   end quote, under the statute for these hearings.

 5       Mr. McMahan said tonight that -- something about

 6   that the Council appoints those people.  That isn't

 7   true.  I'll read to you from the statute.  It says,

 8   quote, The city legislative authority of every city

 9   within whose corporate limits an energy facility is

10   proposed to be located shall appoint a member or

11   designee as a voting member to the Council, end

12   quote.

13       Next, we have concerns about the defective

14   hearing notice, which discourages written public

15   comments.  It only says public comments will be

16   accepted during the hearings, and then, quote, if you

17   are unable to attend the hearings, please send your

18   comment in writing, end quote.

19       It's effectively discouraging public comment

20   that -- written public comment that can -- as

21   something that can only happen as a backup to

22   attending the hearing in person.  Compare that with

23   Washington's Local Project Review Act, which requires

24   each public notice to include statements of the right

25   of any person to comment on the application.  That's
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 1   RCW 36.70B.110, Subsection 2(e).

 2       So here, EFSEC is providing a deficient public

 3   notice that is less than anyone else would get in the

 4   state of Washington for any project under land-use

 5   review.

 6       Thank you very much.

 7                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.

 8       Will you please call the next commenter.

 9                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.

10       The next person I see online is just under the

11   name "Eric."

12       Eric, whenever you speak up, please tell us your

13   last name, and maybe spell it.

14                     MR. WRISTON:  Yeah.  Sure.  Sorry

15   about that.

16       Hi.  Eric Wriston.  That's W-r-i-s-t-o-n.  I'm an

17   attorney at Crag Law Center.  I'm here representing

18   Columbia Riverkeeper.

19       I just have one really quick point to make.  The

20   applicant's counsel made some statements regarding

21   the consistency determinations or consistency

22   certificates from the local governments and that they

23   might still supply those.

24       EFSEC's rules are really clear that those have to

25   be submitted by the land-use hearing if they're going
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 1   to be considered.  To quote here from Washington

 2   Administrative Code 463-26-090:  This rule

 3   contemplates that applicant will enter as exhibits,

 4   at the land-use hearing, certificates from local

 5   authorities attesting to the fact that the proposal

 6   is consistent and in compliance with land-use plans

 7   and zoning ordinances.

 8       And the rule goes on to talk about how, if they

 9   do submit that, then there's an opportunity for

10   contrary demonstration by anyone present at the

11   hearing.

12       So there's two issues there.  Both pretty

13   explicitly states that those certificates have to be

14   submitted by the hearing, and then also if you're

15   accepting them after the hearing, you're denying the

16   public a chance to respond to those, in contravention

17   of those rules.

18       Thank you.

19                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you for

20   that.

21       Ms. Grantham, would you please call the next

22   commenter.

23                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.

24       The next person I see online -- and apologies if

25   I pronounce your last name incorrectly -- is Elijah
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 1   Cetas.

 2                     MR. CETAS:  Yeah.  Hi.  Good

 3   evening.  My name is Elijah Cetas.  I'm an energy

 4   policy analyst and attorney for Columbia River

 5   Inter-Tribal Fish Commission.

 6       It was not my intent to comment tonight, but just

 7   based on the comments that I've heard, and given the

 8   limited opportunity to provide written comments on

 9   the particular land-use compatibility issues here in

10   Skamania County, I want to offer just a few points

11   for the record.

12       First off, CRITFC is a political subdivision of

13   the four Columbia River Treaty tribes:  The Yakama

14   Nation, Confederated Tribes of Umatilla Indian

15   Reservation, Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, and

16   Nez Perce Tribe.

17       We're not a stakeholder, and for that reason, I

18   wasn't intending to comment.  But it is important for

19   the compatibility decision to mention that this

20   section of river that is within Skamania County is

21   within Zone 6.  Zone 6 is a 147-mile stretch of river

22   that is an exclusive treaty Indian commercial fishing

23   area.  The exclusion is for commercial fishing only.

24   The state regulates -- the states of Washington and

25   Oregon regulate commercial fishing in other sections.
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 1   But in Zone 6, it's exclusively treaty Indian

 2   commercial.  Although noncommercial sports fishers

 3   may still fish here.

 4       Zone 6 is also the location of 31 in-lieu and

 5   treaty fishing access sites.  These are federal lands

 6   that are held for the exclusive use and benefit of

 7   the Columbia River Indian treaty tribes.  CRITFC

 8   operates and maintains these sites, but they are

 9   federal lands, and they are held for that federal

10   purpose.  They were created by a statute, two

11   different statutes, and are governed under 25 --

12   under Part 247 of the code.

13       I offer these comments to remind the -- to remind

14   EFSEC of the significance of the lands we're talking

15   about and to state for the record that there are five

16   in-lieu and treaty fishing access sites within

17   Skamania County.  That's Bonneville, North Bonneville

18   site, where the upland portion of the transmission

19   would pass, would be immediately adjacent.  There's

20   also the Wind River site, Cook-Underwood site, the

21   Cook site, and White Salmon.

22       And so, with that, I'll just leave that and ask

23   that EFSEC consider these federal uses and the uses

24   as held for the treaty tribes of lower Columbia

25   River.  Thank you.
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 1                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.

 2       Ms. Grantham, will you please call the next

 3   commenter.

 4                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Yep.  Next is Steve

 5   McCoy.

 6                     MR. McCOY:  Hi.  Can you hear me?

 7                     MS. GRANTHAM:  Yes, we can.

 8                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Yes, we can.  Please

 9   proceed.

10                     MR. McCOY:  Great.

11       Hi.  I'm Steve McCoy.  I'm a staff attorney with

12   Friends of the Columbia Gorge.  Councilors, thank you

13   for this opportunity to testify tonight.

14       I'd like to start off with the defective notice.

15   It contained dates and deadlines that were unclear

16   coming in, and we end up only having a few hours to

17   submit written comments.

18       The hearing notice, which is not dated and does

19   not indicate the comment period nor the deadline for

20   submitting written comments.  What we learned last

21   night, the Clark County land-using, that there is

22   apparently only a very narrow window of time each

23   night to submit written comments from 5:30 in the

24   evening until midnight.

25       Director Bumpus referred the public to the EFSEC
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 1   Web -- excuse me -- Web pages, and indeed those Web

 2   pages specified just a 6.5-hour time period for

 3   submitting written comments.  While the 6.5-hour time

 4   period may be intended to be the window for time for

 5   submitting comments via EFSEC's online public portal,

 6   the Web pages do not make such distinction.  Instead,

 7   they specify a 6.5-hour comment period for all

 8   written comments.

 9       It runs concurrently with the actual hearing,

10   itself, and attendees of the hearing will have to

11   quickly drive back home and type up their written

12   comments, including to respond to new evidence as was

13   offered by the proponents as part of this hearing,

14   itself.

15       Moreover, none of this is indicated in the actual

16   hearing notice, which is where you would expect to

17   see comment periods and deadlines.

18       In addition, there was only one hearing notice

19   for three counties, and it does not explain that each

20   county's land-use consistency hearing is limited to

21   evaluating land-use consistency solely within that

22   county.  The failure to include this information on

23   the hearing notice confuses and prejudices the

24   public.

25       In addition, there was an insufficient notice
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 1   period.  Typically you would see 11, 12, 13 -- or

 2   sorry.  Notice period was only 11 days for the Clark

 3   County hearing, 12 days for the Skamania County

 4   hearing, and 13 days for the Klickitat hearing.

 5       Under the state Local Project Review Act, it's 14

 6   days.  Skamania County typically gives 20 days for

 7   most things.  12-day notice period for tonight's

 8   hearing was insufficient.

 9       In addition, as my time is running lower, three

10   minutes is insufficient.  We object only being

11   allowed three minutes of testimony, particularly

12   because we have had to use that time to make

13   procedural objections.

14       With only a couple people speaking on land-use

15   consistency, there is no need to severely restrict

16   each stakeholder's time to three minutes.  Last

17   night, there was so much time left on the table at

18   the hearing that it concluded nearly an hour early.

19   Still, folks -- or the only person who testified, I

20   guess, was held to three minutes.

21       So, finally, based on all the documented errors

22   and flawed procedures, EFSEC is violating

23   Washington's appearance of fairness doctrine and the

24   due process rights of the stakeholders and

25   participants to this hearing.
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 1       Thank you for this opportunity to testify.

 2                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.

 3       Ms. Grantham, are there any other commenters?

 4                     MS. GRANTHAM:  The final person I

 5   am seeing is Richard Hall.

 6                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Mr. Hall, will you

 7   please proceed.

 8                     MR. HALL:  Yes.  Thank you.

 9       I'm the contract planning advisor for the City of

10   North Bonneville, so I've been following for quite

11   some time now the -- all the processes, so I've been

12   included in lots of e-mails and things like that, and

13   so I've done a lot of research on it.

14       However, yesterday, I received a consistency

15   certificate in my e-mail, asking if I would sign

16   that.  And so I really haven't even had time to

17   review it and to consider any aspects that might be

18   pertinent, so -- but I just wanted to let you know

19   that I have been participating in this.

20       I have put the information on our city website.

21   I've brought the information in front of our city

22   council.  And I expect to provide a report next week

23   at the council meeting for the city of North

24   Bonneville just to discuss the proceedings this

25   evening.  So I just wanted you to know that I am
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 1   participating in this procedure.

 2                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you very

 3   much.

 4       Ms. Grantham, are they anybody -- is there

 5   anybody else?

 6                     MS. GRANTHAM:  I am not seeing

 7   anybody online.  It is up to you, Your Honor, if you

 8   wanted to open the floor to those in person.  We do

 9   have about six minutes left that we have planned for

10   tonight's meeting.

11                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Well, let's

12   open it up to the floor if there are any in-person

13   people that have a comment to make.

14       I just ask that, if you -- when you approach the

15   podium, if you just say your name.

16                     CHAIR BECKETT:  We have a commenter

17   that's coming forward.

18       Welcome.

19                     MR. OLDFIELD:  Hi.  My name's Chuck

20   Oldfield.  I'm actually -- for two more days, I'm

21   city council here, City of Stevenson.  And the only

22   thing that I wanted to kind of piggyback a little bit

23   on Mary Repar's comments was that I'm here tonight

24   because of the invitation that I got by an e-mail.

25       You'll notice that no other council members are
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 1   here tonight and no other representatives from the

 2   City of Stevenson.  I congratulate Asa on being on

 3   the council because I know he'll speak for the

 4   County.

 5       If I were to follow your plan and ask questions

 6   specifically about land-use consistency, it might be

 7   to express a concern about whether you've looked at

 8   all the proper right-of-ways for public and federal

 9   and county lands.  Have you talked to any of the

10   constituents that have private property that abut

11   these properties?  I've heard no discussions at city

12   council meetings, so I don't know if anybody from

13   planning has talked with you.  But my concerns would

14   be the properties around the interpretive center

15   coming -- you know, the egress from the river coming

16   up around the interpretive center, going by the

17   Skamania Lodge.

18       And then if I understand your map correctly,

19   which this is -- tonight's the first time I've seen

20   it, the route going around Ash Lake, while that may

21   be county -- a lot of that county property, I know

22   that there's a lot of private property around that

23   area as well.

24       So those would be my concerns.  I would like to

25   see that somebody had reached out a little bit better
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 1   to the City, that our city administrator or our mayor

 2   or somebody might have even brought this up at one of

 3   our council meetings.  It hasn't been discussed at

 4   all.  Thank you.

 5                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.

 6       The time is 7:56 p.m., and the meeting is

 7   scheduled to adjourn at 8 p.m.  So at this point,

 8   with the limited amount of time available, I'm going

 9   to turn it back over to the chair.

10                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you.  Thank

11   you, Judge.

12       Out of deference to those who are still here, are

13   there other members of the public who do wish to come

14   forward and have your comment included in tonight's

15   proceedings?  We would like to conclude at 8, but

16   certainly if there's another comment, then I think

17   that I would suggest we hear it, Your Honor.

18                     MS. ALLINGER:  I'm Debbie Allinger.

19                     CHAIR BECKETT:  I'm sorry.  Ma'am,

20   if I could just make sure that the judge guides you

21   here, just so we keep this proper.  And thank you.

22                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Yes.  If you would

23   like to do that, I don't see there is any prejudice

24   letting them make their comments here.

25       So would the next person please identify
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 1   themselves and make their comment.

 2                     MS. ALLINGER:  I'm Debbie Allinger.

 3       And I've heard a lot about public land and

 4   private land.  And I would like to have some

 5   discussion on sovereign land, patented land.  Because

 6   my family has some.  Thank you.

 7                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.

 8       Would the next person please step up and identify

 9   themselves.

10       It doesn't appear -- is there anybody --

11                     CHAIR BECKETT:  I think that

12   conclude --

13                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Would the chair

14   please let me know if there's --

15                     CHAIR BECKETT:  No, I think that --

16                     JUDGE MIKOW:  -- anybody else.

17                     CHAIR BECKETT:  No, I think that

18   was -- that was all for this evening, Your Honor.

19                     JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.

20       Then I will turn it over back to you now.  Thank

21   you.

22                     CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you.

23       So thank you, all, for the input tonight.

24   Certainly lots of important feedback to consider both

25   as Council members as well as our staff.  And so we
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 1   appreciate that participation tonight.

 2       And knowing that it is now 7:59 p.m., I will

 3   conclude this hearing.  And we are adjourned.  Thank

 4   you once again.

 5                            (Hearing adjourned at

 6                             7:59 p.m.)
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 1   STATE OF WASHINGTON )     I, John M. S. Botelho, CCR, RPR,

                         ) ss  a certified court reporter

 2   County of Pierce    )     in the State of Washington, do

                               hereby certify:

 3

 4

          That the foregoing land-use consistency hearing of the

 5   Washington State Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council was

     conducted in my presence and adjourned on November 18, 2025,

 6   and thereafter was transcribed under my direction; that the

     transcript is a full, true and complete transcript of the

 7   said hearing, transcribed to the best of my ability;

 8        That I am not a relative, employee, attorney or counsel

     of any party to this matter or relative or employee of any

 9   such attorney or counsel and that I am not financially

     interested in the said matter or the outcome thereof;

10

          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand

11   this 2nd day of December, 2025.

12

13

14

15                             _________________________________

                               /s/John M. S. Botelho, CCR, RPR

16                             Certified Court Reporter No. 2976

                               (Certification expires 5/26/2026.)
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		294						LN		12		15		false		          15      Skamania and North Bonneville as well.				false

		295						LN		12		16		false		          16          Moving on to unincorporated Skamania County.				false

		296						LN		12		17		false		          17      Here, we have HVDC transmission cable, approximately				false

		297						LN		12		18		false		          18      four miles of buried cable, and then the temporary				false

		298						LN		12		19		false		          19      HDD area, approximately 1.26 acres.				false

		299						LN		12		20		false		          20          So looking at the more bold red lines, that's				false

		300						LN		12		21		false		          21      where the project is proposed in Skamania County.				false

		301						LN		12		22		false		          22      And you can see it weaves from Stevenson and then				false

		302						LN		12		23		false		          23      coming out of North Bonneville and then back toward				false

		303						LN		12		24		false		          24      the Columbia River.				false

		304						LN		12		25		false		          25          So the zones that are designated in				false

		305						PG		13		0		false		page 13				false

		306						LN		13		1		false		           1      unincorporated Skamania County is -- we're in one				false

		307						LN		13		2		false		           2      zone there, so the F-2, large woodland, and that's				false

		308						LN		13		3		false		           3      part of the National Scenic Area, General Management				false

		309						LN		13		4		false		           4      Area.				false

		310						LN		13		5		false		           5          The proposed land use for -- for the portions of				false

		311						LN		13		6		false		           6      the project that are in Skamania County are both				false

		312						LN		13		7		false		           7      underground utility facility for the HVDC and the HDD				false

		313						LN		13		8		false		           8      area.				false

		314						LN		13		9		false		           9          And then, lastly, North Bonneville.				false

		315						LN		13		10		false		          10          The project components proposed in the				false

		316						LN		13		11		false		          11      jurisdiction of North Bonneville are the HVDC				false

		317						LN		13		12		false		          12      transmission cable, approximately 3.5 miles, and then				false

		318						LN		13		13		false		          13      temporary HAB areas.  And that combined is about 0.05				false

		319						LN		13		14		false		          14      acres.				false

		320						LN		13		15		false		          15          The zones in North Bonneville.  So for the HV --				false

		321						LN		13		16		false		          16      the portion of the HVDC transmission cable goes				false

		322						LN		13		17		false		          17      through two zones:  USA, which is this close to				false

		323						LN		13		18		false		          18      Bonneville Dam, is the -- the core.  And then the				false

		324						LN		13		19		false		          19      other zone is the pink one you see there, industrial				false

		325						LN		13		20		false		          20      business park.				false

		326						LN		13		21		false		          21          The proposed land uses for both of those zones				false

		327						LN		13		22		false		          22      fit with the definition of utility that North				false

		328						LN		13		23		false		          23      Bonneville defines in their comp plan and zoning				false

		329						LN		13		24		false		          24      code.				false

		330						LN		13		25		false		          25          And then the other project component, the				false

		331						PG		14		0		false		page 14				false

		332						LN		14		1		false		           1      temporary HAB areas, are in the USA.  Again, USACE.				false

		333						LN		14		2		false		           2      And that would be a temporary land use, so				false

		334						LN		14		3		false		           3      construction essentially.				false

		335						LN		14		4		false		           4          Now I'll pass it over to Tim.				false

		336						LN		14		5		false		           5                        MR. McMAHAN:  Thank you, Malia.  I				false

		337						LN		14		6		false		           6      have a tendency to speak loud, so if I do that, just				false

		338						LN		14		7		false		           7      let me know.				false

		339						LN		14		8		false		           8          Again, my name is Tim McMahan, and I'm legal				false

		340						LN		14		9		false		           9      counsel to the applicant.  I'm with the Stoel Rives				false

		341						LN		14		10		false		          10      law firm.  And it's good to be here with you-all and				false

		342						LN		14		11		false		          11      nice to see the Council, and appreciate staff coming				false

		343						LN		14		12		false		          12      out as well with EFSEC.				false

		344						LN		14		13		false		          13          I want to first respond to some comments made				false

		345						LN		14		14		false		          14      last night that were reiterated by the Friends of the				false

		346						LN		14		15		false		          15      Gorge a short time ago.  The first comment concerned				false

		347						LN		14		16		false		          16      the comment deadline for the project, an objection to				false

		348						LN		14		17		false		          17      the amount of time needed for the -- for the -- for				false

		349						LN		14		18		false		          18      this project to proceed to hearing.				false

		350						LN		14		19		false		          19          And it is within EFSEC's jurisdiction, and				false

		351						LN		14		20		false		          20      there's no rationale to keep the record open for an				false

		352						LN		14		21		false		          21      additional 30 days.  And it is our view that that is				false

		353						LN		14		22		false		          22      unnecessary and within the province of EFSEC should				false

		354						LN		14		23		false		          23      they believe that that is necessary.				false

		355						LN		14		24		false		          24          Second, there's a comment concerning the draft				false

		356						LN		14		25		false		          25      application, quote/unquote.  It is common practice to				false

		357						PG		15		0		false		page 15				false

		358						LN		15		1		false		           1      submit draft applications for agency review.  Whether				false

		359						LN		15		2		false		           2      done intentionally or inadvertently, this is				false

		360						LN		15		3		false		           3      immaterial.  If the cooks got to see what was in the				false

		361						LN		15		4		false		           4      oven in our filing their draft application, that's				false

		362						LN		15		5		false		           5      just fine.  It is more information.  It is not				false

		363						LN		15		6		false		           6      something we're concerned about.				false

		364						LN		15		7		false		           7          And then the third comment related to County				false

		365						LN		15		8		false		           8      appointees.  This is a matter for EFSEC's discretion.				false

		366						LN		15		9		false		           9      EFSEC makes these appointments in consultation with				false

		367						LN		15		10		false		          10      local governments, and the timing of these				false

		368						LN		15		11		false		          11      appointments is immaterial, and there is no legal or				false

		369						LN		15		12		false		          12      procedural error.  Again, it is up to EFSEC.				false

		370						LN		15		13		false		          13          So I just want to make that record straight for				false

		371						LN		15		14		false		          14      the public and respond to those comments from last				false

		372						LN		15		15		false		          15      night.				false

		373						LN		15		16		false		          16          So turning to tonight.  As you heard this				false

		374						LN		15		17		false		          17      evening, the land-use consistency hearing's purpose				false

		375						LN		15		18		false		          18      is to determine whether the project is consistent and				false

		376						LN		15		19		false		          19      in compliance with local land-use plans and zoning				false

		377						LN		15		20		false		          20      ordinances.  EFSEC makes this determination.				false

		378						LN		15		21		false		          21          The relevant inquiry for EFSEC's initial land-use				false

		379						LN		15		22		false		          22      analysis is, in quotes, whether the pertinent local				false

		380						LN		15		23		false		          23      land-use provisions prohibit the proposed site,				false

		381						LN		15		24		false		          24      quote, expressly or by operation clearly,				false

		382						LN		15		25		false		          25      convincingly and unequivocally.  Fairly strong				false

		383						PG		16		0		false		page 16				false

		384						LN		16		1		false		           1      language that limits the opportunity to impede the				false

		385						LN		16		2		false		           2      project at this point in the process.				false

		386						LN		16		3		false		           3          If a proposed project can be permitted either				false

		387						LN		16		4		false		           4      outright or conditionally, it is consistent and in				false

		388						LN		16		5		false		           5      compliance with land-use provisions for the purposes				false

		389						LN		16		6		false		           6      of this -- the EFSEC statute RCW 80.50.090.				false

		390						LN		16		7		false		           7          For this project, zoning is an awkward concept.				false

		391						LN		16		8		false		           8      Zoning as applicable in a typical EFSEC proceeding is				false

		392						LN		16		9		false		           9      intended to regulate private property.  These are				false

		393						LN		16		10		false		          10      public rights-of-way situated on public property.				false

		394						LN		16		11		false		          11          It is at odds to apply land-use rules to public				false

		395						LN		16		12		false		          12      linear infrastructure that serve broad public needs.				false

		396						LN		16		13		false		          13      That is because fundamentally public rights-of-way,				false

		397						LN		16		14		false		          14      regardless of zoning, are the preferred locations				false

		398						LN		16		15		false		          15      where public infrastructure is and should be placed.				false

		399						LN		16		16		false		          16      That is true whether it's water, wastewater,				false

		400						LN		16		17		false		          17      telecommunication or transmission infrastructure.				false

		401						LN		16		18		false		          18      And the concept of land-use consistency in this				false

		402						LN		16		19		false		          19      setting is complicated because the EFSEC rules				false

		403						LN		16		20		false		          20      primarily reflect privately owned, stand-alone,				false

		404						LN		16		21		false		          21      stationary public infrastructure, such as power				false

		405						LN		16		22		false		          22      plants.				false

		406						LN		16		23		false		          23          Moreover, development activity in public				false

		407						LN		16		24		false		          24      rights-of-way like those proposed here are governed				false

		408						LN		16		25		false		          25      by franchise authority and right-of-way permits, not				false

		409						PG		17		0		false		page 17				false

		410						LN		17		1		false		           1      zoning.  RCW 80.32.010 authorizes cities and counties				false

		411						LN		17		2		false		           2      with control of any public street or road to grant				false

		412						LN		17		3		false		           3      authority for the construction and maintenance and				false

		413						LN		17		4		false		           4      operation of transmission lines.  Similarly,				false

		414						LN		17		5		false		           5      addressing state highways and state rights-of-way				false

		415						LN		17		6		false		           6      through permits that are issued by the Washington				false

		416						LN		17		7		false		           7      State Department of Transportation.				false

		417						LN		17		8		false		           8          Nearly all of the Cascade Renewable Transmission				false

		418						LN		17		9		false		           9      Project proposed in Skamania County is underwater.  I				false

		419						LN		17		10		false		          10      think that's been explained tonight.  In those -- in				false

		420						LN		17		11		false		          11      these locations, neither the county zoning code nor				false

		421						LN		17		12		false		          12      the county's comprehensive plan impose land-use				false

		422						LN		17		13		false		          13      restrictions on in-water uses or river-bottom land				false

		423						LN		17		14		false		          14      within the Columbia River.  And as Mr. Hocker				false

		424						LN		17		15		false		          15      explained terrestrial locations are, for this				false

		425						LN		17		16		false		          16      project, sited within existing public rights-of-way.				false

		426						LN		17		17		false		          17      Fundamentally, public rights-of-way are the preferred				false

		427						LN		17		18		false		          18      location for placement of linear facilities of this				false

		428						LN		17		19		false		          19      kind.				false

		429						LN		17		20		false		          20          So concerning land-use consistency.  The EFSEC				false

		430						LN		17		21		false		          21      rules contemplate that EFSEC and the applicant will				false

		431						LN		17		22		false		          22      work with local governments to seek a finding of				false

		432						LN		17		23		false		          23      land-use consistency.  If a local jurisdiction				false

		433						LN		17		24		false		          24      believes that a proposed EFSEC project is consistent				false

		434						LN		17		25		false		          25      and in compliance with its land-use plans and zoning				false

		435						PG		18		0		false		page 18				false

		436						LN		18		1		false		           1      ordinances, it may provide and the applicant may				false

		437						LN		18		2		false		           2      enter into a certificate from local authorities				false

		438						LN		18		3		false		           3      attesting that the -- attesting to the fact that the				false

		439						LN		18		4		false		           4      proposal is consistent and in compliance with				false

		440						LN		18		5		false		           5      land-use plans and zoning ordinances.				false

		441						LN		18		6		false		           6          The certificate of consistency provides proof of				false

		442						LN		18		7		false		           7      consistency and compliance with applicable land-use				false

		443						LN		18		8		false		           8      plans and zoning ordinances, and the inquiry then				false

		444						LN		18		9		false		           9      ends there.  Absent a certificate of consistency,				false

		445						LN		18		10		false		          10      EFSEC issues its decision regarding consistency after				false

		446						LN		18		11		false		          11      reviewing the applicable land-use plans and zoning				false

		447						LN		18		12		false		          12      ordinances.				false

		448						LN		18		13		false		          13          First, the applicant and local authorities are				false

		449						LN		18		14		false		          14      addressed to -- are directed to address compliance				false

		450						LN		18		15		false		          15      and noncompliance with land-use plans or zoning				false

		451						LN		18		16		false		          16      ordinances.  Then EFSEC determines whether the				false

		452						LN		18		17		false		          17      proposed site is consistent and in compliance with				false

		453						LN		18		18		false		          18      land-use plan and zoning ordinances pursuant to the				false

		454						LN		18		19		false		          19      EFSEC statute RCW 80.50.090(2).				false

		455						LN		18		20		false		          20          EFSEC's review does not consider all land-use				false

		456						LN		18		21		false		          21      plan provisions.  A land-use plan includes the				false

		457						LN		18		22		false		          22      portions of a comprehensive plan that outline				false

		458						LN		18		23		false		          23      proposals for an area's development, typically by				false

		459						LN		18		24		false		          24      assigning general uses, such as housing, to land				false

		460						LN		18		25		false		          25      segments and specifying desired concentrations and				false

		461						PG		19		0		false		page 19				false

		462						LN		19		1		false		           1      design goals.				false

		463						LN		19		2		false		           2          A zoning ordinance is a local government's				false

		464						LN		19		3		false		           3      ordinance regulating the use of land adopted by				false

		465						LN		19		4		false		           4      Washington law.  And zoning ordinances include the				false

		466						LN		19		5		false		           5      applicable zoning map, development restrictions, and				false

		467						LN		19		6		false		           6      associated definitions.  The applicable county				false

		468						LN		19		7		false		           7      land-use plan and zoning ordinances provisions are				false

		469						LN		19		8		false		           8      found within the North Bonneville, city of Stevenson,				false

		470						LN		19		9		false		           9      and Skamania County zoning codes and comprehensive				false

		471						LN		19		10		false		          10      plans.				false

		472						LN		19		11		false		          11          As noted, it is awkward to address land-use				false

		473						LN		19		12		false		          12      consistency within public rights-of-way principally				false

		474						LN		19		13		false		          13      because infrastructure of all kinds should				false

		475						LN		19		14		false		          14      fundamentally be placed within public rights-of-way				false

		476						LN		19		15		false		          15      to avoid proliferation of linear facilities outside				false

		477						LN		19		16		false		          16      of rights-of-way.				false

		478						LN		19		17		false		          17          While EFSEC rules concerning land-use consistency				false

		479						LN		19		18		false		          18      create an awkward paradigm for siting linear				false

		480						LN		19		19		false		          19      in-ground facilities, we will go ahead and summarize				false

		481						LN		19		20		false		          20      the zoning provisions from the three -- the three				false

		482						LN		19		21		false		          21      local municipalities that were referenced earlier.				false

		483						LN		19		22		false		          22          First, Skamania County.  In Skamania County, the				false

		484						LN		19		23		false		          23      project is proposed on, quote, unzoned land.  There				false

		485						LN		19		24		false		          24      are no use restrictions or development regulations				false

		486						LN		19		25		false		          25      for unzoned land in Skamania County.  The county,				false

		487						PG		20		0		false		page 20				false

		488						LN		20		1		false		           1      Skamania County.				false

		489						LN		20		2		false		           2          There are two land-use designations that are				false

		490						LN		20		3		false		           3      governed by the management plan and SCC Title 22.				false

		491						LN		20		4		false		           4      And Title 22 is not a zoning ordinance pursuant to				false

		492						LN		20		5		false		           5      the Washington Administrative Code 463-26-090.  The				false

		493						LN		20		6		false		           6      management plan and the Skamania County Code Title 22				false

		494						LN		20		7		false		           7      are not land-use plans or zoning ordinances.  The				false

		495						LN		20		8		false		           8      in-water portions of the project are identified as				false

		496						LN		20		9		false		           9      water GMA, quote/unquote, on the county's zoning map.				false

		497						LN		20		10		false		          10          The water GMA designation does not impose				false

		498						LN		20		11		false		          11      restrictions on use.  Therefore, these portions of				false

		499						LN		20		12		false		          12      the project are consistent with the Skamania County				false

		500						LN		20		13		false		          13      Code Title 22.				false

		501						LN		20		14		false		          14          The remainder of the on-land portions of the				false

		502						LN		20		15		false		          15      project is located on land zoned and governed by the				false

		503						LN		20		16		false		          16      management plan, Skamania County Code Title 22.  And				false

		504						LN		20		17		false		          17      even if the management plan and SCC Title 22 apply,				false

		505						LN		20		18		false		          18      new underground utility facilities like the project				false

		506						LN		20		19		false		          19      could and typically are permitted through an				false

		507						LN		20		20		false		          20      administrative review process.				false

		508						LN		20		21		false		          21          Turning to North Bonneville.  Title 22 of North				false

		509						LN		20		22		false		          22      Bonneville Municipal Code governs land use in North				false

		510						LN		20		23		false		          23      Bonneville.  The transmission line would pass through				false

		511						LN		20		24		false		          24      land zoned, quote, federal ownership area.  This				false

		512						LN		20		25		false		          25      zone, including transmission line corridors, is not				false

		513						PG		21		0		false		page 21				false

		514						LN		21		1		false		           1      subject to city regulations in North Bonneville.				false

		515						LN		21		2		false		           2          The project would also pass through land zoned				false

		516						LN		21		3		false		           3      industrial / business park.  The city allows				false

		517						LN		21		4		false		           4      utilities, including transmission lines, in the				false

		518						LN		21		5		false		           5      industrial / business park zone, which we've learned				false

		519						LN		21		6		false		           6      tonight is, in fact, where this project is proposed.				false

		520						LN		21		7		false		           7      The project as proposed is a permissible use within				false

		521						LN		21		8		false		           8      the zone.				false

		522						LN		21		9		false		           9          Finally, the city of Stevenson.  The project				false

		523						LN		21		10		false		          10      would pass through land zoned public use and				false

		524						LN		21		11		false		          11      recreation.  The project would be in existing				false

		525						LN		21		12		false		          12      right-of-way, which is where these types of uses are				false

		526						LN		21		13		false		          13      typically permitted.  Finally, in issuing a proposed				false

		527						LN		21		14		false		          14      site certificate, we anticipate that EFSEC will work				false

		528						LN		21		15		false		          15      with the county and the cities of North Bonneville				false

		529						LN		21		16		false		          16      and Stevenson and the applicant to include conditions				false

		530						LN		21		17		false		          17      in the draft site certificate agreement which				false

		531						LN		21		18		false		          18      considered any applicable state, local, and community				false

		532						LN		21		19		false		          19      interests affected by the construction of the				false

		533						LN		21		20		false		          20      facility.				false

		534						LN		21		21		false		          21          The applicant is fully committed to achieving				false

		535						LN		21		22		false		          22      these objectives with the three counties along the				false

		536						LN		21		23		false		          23      Columbia River and the cities of North Bonneville and				false

		537						LN		21		24		false		          24      Stevenson.				false

		538						LN		21		25		false		          25          So just a word about the Shoreline Management				false

		539						PG		22		0		false		page 22				false

		540						LN		22		1		false		           1      Act.  I had several comments, peopling coming up to				false

		541						LN		22		2		false		           2      me and asking questions about -- from EFSEC staff				false

		542						LN		22		3		false		           3      about the Shoreline Management Act.  The applicant				false

		543						LN		22		4		false		           4      fully understands the need for review and compliance				false

		544						LN		22		5		false		           5      with the Shoreline Management Act, and it is for				false

		545						LN		22		6		false		           6      EFSEC to conduct this review, not for the applicant				false

		546						LN		22		7		false		           7      to conduct this review.				false

		547						LN		22		8		false		           8          Whether this issue should be considered now or				false

		548						LN		22		9		false		           9      later in the process is a matter for EFSEC to decide.				false

		549						LN		22		10		false		          10      That said, to my knowledge, the most recent precedent				false

		550						LN		22		11		false		          11      here, the most recent EFSEC precedent here, was a				false

		551						LN		22		12		false		          12      Columbia solar facility project in Klickitat County				false

		552						LN		22		13		false		          13      some years ago.  The Shoreline Management Act review				false

		553						LN		22		14		false		          14      was conducted after the land-use consistency hearing.				false

		554						LN		22		15		false		          15      Whether that is done now or later is a matter for				false

		555						LN		22		16		false		          16      EFSEC in its discretion.				false

		556						LN		22		17		false		          17          Thank you.  Appreciate the opportunity to provide				false

		557						LN		22		18		false		          18      this information to you.				false

		558						LN		22		19		false		          19                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you, both,				false

		559						LN		22		20		false		          20      very much.				false

		560						LN		22		21		false		          21          Let me help turn this over to Judge Mikow.  And,				false

		561						LN		22		22		false		          22      Your Honor, if I could ask if you would help me know				false

		562						LN		22		23		false		          23      when and how to incorporate any questions or comments				false

		563						LN		22		24		false		          24      from the EFSEC project Council.  I wanted to				false

		564						LN		22		25		false		          25      acknowledge their presence here.  And if you have				false

		565						PG		23		0		false		page 23				false

		566						LN		23		1		false		           1      questions especially on this evening's presentation,				false

		567						LN		23		2		false		           2      apologies for having not asked you earlier in the				false

		568						LN		23		3		false		           3      original initial presentation, but I know you				false

		569						LN		23		4		false		           4      participated in it last night.				false

		570						LN		23		5		false		           5          So having acknowledged all that, Judge Mikow, if				false

		571						LN		23		6		false		           6      you would help facilitate both our public comment as				false

		572						LN		23		7		false		           7      well as if Council has questions for the presenters.				false

		573						LN		23		8		false		           8      Thank you.				false

		574						LN		23		9		false		           9                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Excuse me.				false

		575						LN		23		10		false		          10      Good evening.  I'm Administrative Law Judge Russ				false

		576						LN		23		11		false		          11      Mikow with the Office of Administrative Hearings, and				false

		577						LN		23		12		false		          12      I am going to be helping with the second public				false

		578						LN		23		13		false		          13      comment period for this land-use consistency hearing.				false

		579						LN		23		14		false		          14          There are a few general things everybody needs to				false

		580						LN		23		15		false		          15      know before we get going.  Unlike the earlier public				false

		581						LN		23		16		false		          16      comment period this evening, here we are only taking				false

		582						LN		23		17		false		          17      public comments about whether the site is or is not				false

		583						LN		23		18		false		          18      consistent and is or is not in compliance with				false

		584						LN		23		19		false		          19      applicable land-use plans and zoning ordinances.  So				false

		585						LN		23		20		false		          20      this is not an opportunity to ask questions during				false

		586						LN		23		21		false		          21      this public comment period.				false

		587						LN		23		22		false		          22          The public comments are going to be limited to				false

		588						LN		23		23		false		          23      three minutes per person.  I'll try not to stop any				false

		589						LN		23		24		false		          24      speaker mid sentence.  But if you go much longer than				false

		590						LN		23		25		false		          25      the time allotted, I might have to move on to the				false

		591						PG		24		0		false		page 24				false

		592						LN		24		1		false		           1      next commenter.				false

		593						LN		24		2		false		           2          And, again, remember.  Your comments are supposed				false

		594						LN		24		3		false		           3      to be limited to the issues of consistency and				false

		595						LN		24		4		false		           4      compliance with applicable land-use plans and zoning				false

		596						LN		24		5		false		           5      ordinances.  Following the land-use consistency				false

		597						LN		24		6		false		           6      hearing, my job is to draft an order including the				false

		598						LN		24		7		false		           7      findings of fact, appropriate portions of the				false

		599						LN		24		8		false		           8      relevant law or code, and conclusions of law				false

		600						LN		24		9		false		           9      regarding whether a proposed site is consistent and				false

		601						LN		24		10		false		          10      in compliance with applicable land-use plans and				false

		602						LN		24		11		false		          11      zoning ordinances, as required by Revised Code of				false

		603						LN		24		12		false		          12      Washington 80.50.090, Paragraph 2, and				false

		604						LN		24		13		false		          13      Chapter 463-26, Washington Administrative Code.				false

		605						LN		24		14		false		          14          I will provide my draft order to the				false

		606						LN		24		15		false		          15      EFSEC-assigned assistant attorney general and its				false

		607						LN		24		16		false		          16      staff for any revisions prior to the staff presenting				false

		608						LN		24		17		false		          17      the order to the Council with the recommendation of				false

		609						LN		24		18		false		          18      adoption at an open meeting.				false

		610						LN		24		19		false		          19          So that's some of -- that's an explanation of my				false

		611						LN		24		20		false		          20      role in today's proceedings.				false

		612						LN		24		21		false		          21          As it relates to questions of the applicant's				false

		613						LN		24		22		false		          22      Council, I believe that should go first before there				false

		614						LN		24		23		false		          23      are public comments.				false

		615						LN		24		24		false		          24          So I did not catch the name of the person who				false

		616						LN		24		25		false		          25      might be asking questions, though.				false

		617						PG		25		0		false		page 25				false

		618						LN		25		1		false		           1                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Well, direct me as				false

		619						LN		25		2		false		           2      you need to, Your Honor, here, despite me, quote,				false

		620						LN		25		3		false		           3      being the chair.  What I'm trying to get to is, any				false

		621						LN		25		4		false		           4      Council members of EFSEC, do you have questions or				false

		622						LN		25		5		false		           5      any quick comments you wanted to note for this				false

		623						LN		25		6		false		           6      land-use portion as allowable by Judge Mikow?  And				false

		624						LN		25		7		false		           7      please raise your hand or speak up.  And, otherwise,				false

		625						LN		25		8		false		           8      we will soon move to the public comment.				false

		626						LN		25		9		false		           9          Council members?				false

		627						LN		25		10		false		          10          We have Council Nelson with a question.				false

		628						LN		25		11		false		          11                        MR. NELSON:  Thank you, Chair				false

		629						LN		25		12		false		          12      Beckett.				false

		630						LN		25		13		false		          13          So this might be more germane to the general				false

		631						LN		25		14		false		          14      information section.  So, if so, you can "stricken"				false

		632						LN		25		15		false		          15      it from the record, but I'll ask tomorrow.				false

		633						LN		25		16		false		          16          So I was just wondering about buffers for when				false

		634						LN		25		17		false		          17      the line is -- comes up through Stevenson and with				false

		635						LN		25		18		false		          18      the horizontal drilling, how far that is from the				false

		636						LN		25		19		false		          19      bank of the river.  I ask that in the context of the				false

		637						LN		25		20		false		          20      shoreline master plan.  And, again, if you don't have				false

		638						LN		25		21		false		          21      the -- I know it's not a Q & A right now.  I'm just				false

		639						LN		25		22		false		          22      stating that will be part of my consideration for				false

		640						LN		25		23		false		          23      this project.				false

		641						LN		25		24		false		          24                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Pamplin.				false

		642						LN		25		25		false		          25                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.				false

		643						PG		26		0		false		page 26				false

		644						LN		26		1		false		           1          Would the next Council member who has a question				false

		645						LN		26		2		false		           2      or comment.  I don't.  Would they raise their hand				false

		646						LN		26		3		false		           3      and please proceed.				false

		647						LN		26		4		false		           4                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Pamplin, I				false

		648						LN		26		5		false		           5      believe that's you.				false

		649						LN		26		6		false		           6                        MR. PAMPLIN:  Great.  Thank you,				false

		650						LN		26		7		false		           7      Mr. Chair.				false

		651						LN		26		8		false		           8          Just a question for Mr. McMahan.  I understand --				false

		652						LN		26		9		false		           9      you know, and you went through some of the citations				false

		653						LN		26		10		false		          10      there about the project applicant working with local				false

		654						LN		26		11		false		          11      government to seek concurrence and then relaying that				false

		655						LN		26		12		false		          12      instrument back to EFSEC, which I think would				false

		656						LN		26		13		false		          13      certainly help with this process.  There's avenues to				false

		657						LN		26		14		false		          14      proceed with that determination without that				false

		658						LN		26		15		false		          15      concurrence.				false

		659						LN		26		16		false		          16          But I'm just wondering if you could please share				false

		660						LN		26		17		false		          17      the status of the conversations with the City of				false

		661						LN		26		18		false		          18      Stevenson, the City of North Bonneville, and Skamania				false

		662						LN		26		19		false		          19      County, please.  Thank you.				false

		663						LN		26		20		false		          20                        MR. McMAHAN:  Yes.  Thank you for				false

		664						LN		26		21		false		          21      the question.				false

		665						LN		26		22		false		          22          We've been in pretty consistent conversation with				false

		666						LN		26		23		false		          23      Skamania County for some time.  And I'm not sure if				false

		667						LN		26		24		false		          24      there's anybody from the County here.  I don't think				false

		668						LN		26		25		false		          25      so.  So we have a pretty mature conversation going				false

		669						PG		27		0		false		page 27				false

		670						LN		27		1		false		           1      with Skamania County to obtain a land-use consistency				false

		671						LN		27		2		false		           2      certification.  It's not concluded.				false

		672						LN		27		3		false		           3          We have requested that the North Bonneville City				false

		673						LN		27		4		false		           4      also work with us on a consistency determination.				false

		674						LN		27		5		false		           5      We've provided documentation to both of those				false

		675						LN		27		6		false		           6      municipalities, asking -- asking to, you know, talk				false

		676						LN		27		7		false		           7      to them after this hearing.  And, as I've said, we've				false

		677						LN		27		8		false		           8      reached out previously as well.				false

		678						LN		27		9		false		           9          The third County or the third City -- excuse				false

		679						LN		27		10		false		          10      me -- or the third municipality -- sorry -- City of				false

		680						LN		27		11		false		          11      Steve- -- North Bonneville and City of Stevenson,				false

		681						LN		27		12		false		          12      we've talked to both of those municipalities.  So in				false

		682						LN		27		13		false		          13      the works.  And we do hope to complete consistency				false

		683						LN		27		14		false		          14      certificates with them as defined in the EFSEC rules.				false

		684						LN		27		15		false		          15      We're not quite there yet.				false

		685						LN		27		16		false		          16                        MR. PAMPLIN:  Great.				false

		686						LN		27		17		false		          17                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		687						LN		27		18		false		          18          Ms. Grantham, are there any other Council members				false

		688						LN		27		19		false		          19      who would like to make a comment or question?				false

		689						LN		27		20		false		          20                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Leckie has				false

		690						LN		27		21		false		          21      a question, Your Honor.				false

		691						LN		27		22		false		          22                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Please proceed.				false

		692						LN		27		23		false		          23                        MR. LECKIE:  Yeah, thank you.				false

		693						LN		27		24		false		          24          I just had a question.  As we're talking about				false

		694						LN		27		25		false		          25      county land use and zoning and EFSEC, there was a				false

		695						PG		28		0		false		page 28				false

		696						LN		28		1		false		           1      comment that caught my attention, was that in				false

		697						LN		28		2		false		           2      Skamania County, the majority of this project is				false

		698						LN		28		3		false		           3      underwater in the Columbia River.				false

		699						LN		28		4		false		           4          So do we already have a permit from, I would				false

		700						LN		28		5		false		           5      assume would be the Army Corps of Engineers, 'cause				false

		701						LN		28		6		false		           6      congress has authority over navigable waters, so				false

		702						LN		28		7		false		           7      don't they delegate that authority and permitting to				false

		703						LN		28		8		false		           8      the Army Corps of Engineers?  So for the project,				false

		704						LN		28		9		false		           9      shouldn't that permit be obtained first before EFSEC?				false

		705						LN		28		10		false		          10          That's just -- and I'm new to this process, so				false

		706						LN		28		11		false		          11      I'm just asking.  That's just something that kind of				false

		707						LN		28		12		false		          12      was kind of running around in my head on this whole				false

		708						LN		28		13		false		          13      process.  Thank you.				false

		709						LN		28		14		false		          14                        MR. McMAHAN:  Tim McMahan here,				false

		710						LN		28		15		false		          15      particularly since that was a Council member, I				false

		711						LN		28		16		false		          16      believe.  I don't know that I have the answer to				false

		712						LN		28		17		false		          17      that, but I think Mr. Hocker may have some additional				false

		713						LN		28		18		false		          18      insights on that question.  And you might want to				false

		714						LN		28		19		false		          19      repeat the question.  I'm not sure.				false

		715						LN		28		20		false		          20                        MR. HOCKER:  No, I...				false

		716						LN		28		21		false		          21                        MR. McMAHAN:  All right.				false

		717						LN		28		22		false		          22                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Your Honor, did you				false

		718						LN		28		23		false		          23      want to try and paraphrase the question, or would you				false

		719						LN		28		24		false		          24      like me to?  I'm happy to.  Whatever's proper.				false

		720						LN		28		25		false		          25                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Oh.  You can go ahead				false

		721						PG		29		0		false		page 29				false

		722						LN		29		1		false		           1      and paraphrase it.				false

		723						LN		29		2		false		           2                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Okay.  Council				false

		724						LN		29		3		false		           3      Leckie, make sure I have this right.  But				false

		725						LN		29		4		false		           4      essentially, why isn't the corps of engineers going				false

		726						LN		29		5		false		           5      ahead of the EFSEC process?				false

		727						LN		29		6		false		           6                        MR. HOCKER:  I can't speak to the				false

		728						LN		29		7		false		           7      legalities of, you know, in what order.  I can tell				false

		729						LN		29		8		false		           8      you that the corps, the state processes in Oregon and				false

		730						LN		29		9		false		           9      Washington are proceeding down parallel paths.  And				false

		731						LN		29		10		false		          10      with, I think, a real serious attempt in a				false

		732						LN		29		11		false		          11      coordinated fashion.  So I don't believe there's a				false

		733						LN		29		12		false		          12      sequence that is required or even desirable.  But				false

		734						LN		29		13		false		          13      that's -- that would be my answer for now.				false

		735						LN		29		14		false		          14                        CHAIR BECKETT:  And, Council				false

		736						LN		29		15		false		          15      Leckie, we're certainly capturing this and, you know,				false

		737						LN		29		16		false		          16      happy to dig deeper and follow up.				false

		738						LN		29		17		false		          17                        MR. LECKIE:  Yeah, I guess that was				false

		739						LN		29		18		false		          18      just a point of clarification for me, is can EFSEC				false

		740						LN		29		19		false		          19      supplant the Army Corps of Engineer permitting that's				false

		741						LN		29		20		false		          20      required, if it's required, I guess?  Thank you.				false

		742						LN		29		21		false		          21                        CHAIR BECKETT:  And I believe				false

		743						LN		29		22		false		          22      Director Bumpus has a couple comments to add, so				false

		744						LN		29		23		false		          23      please.  Welcome.				false

		745						LN		29		24		false		          24                        MS. BUMPUS:  I just wanted to				false

		746						LN		29		25		false		          25      respond in part that EFSEC is coordinating with the				false

		747						PG		30		0		false		page 30				false

		748						LN		30		1		false		           1      Army Corps of Engineers on the permits that they do				false

		749						LN		30		2		false		           2      have jurisdiction for here.  And that is our				false

		750						LN		30		3		false		           3      practice.  When we have an application for site				false

		751						LN		30		4		false		           4      certification that triggers authorizations or permits				false

		752						LN		30		5		false		           5      from the corps, we will coordinate with them in their				false

		753						LN		30		6		false		           6      review of impacts, the activities that are proposed				false

		754						LN		30		7		false		           7      and the application submitted to them.  We'll look at				false

		755						LN		30		8		false		           8      that as we're also reviewing the application that is				false

		756						LN		30		9		false		           9      before EFSEC.				false

		757						LN		30		10		false		          10          And one of the reasons we do that is because we				false

		758						LN		30		11		false		          11      want to ensure we're not duplicating where we don't				false

		759						LN		30		12		false		          12      need to duplicate.  Also to ensure that we have				false

		760						LN		30		13		false		          13      consistency in terms of if there are measures or				false

		761						LN		30		14		false		          14      mitigation that needs to be implemented to ensure				false

		762						LN		30		15		false		          15      that we're sharing information and coordinating so				false

		763						LN		30		16		false		          16      that there isn't conflicting requirements, if you				false

		764						LN		30		17		false		          17      will.				false

		765						LN		30		18		false		          18          So I can -- I can tell you that.  I don't know if				false

		766						LN		30		19		false		          19      that's helpful to answering this question or not.				false

		767						LN		30		20		false		          20                        CHAIR BECKETT:  I think it was, so				false

		768						LN		30		21		false		          21      thank you.				false

		769						LN		30		22		false		          22                        MR. LECKIE:  Oh.  Yeah.  This is				false

		770						LN		30		23		false		          23      Commissioner Leckie.  Yeah, no, that's helpful.  And				false

		771						LN		30		24		false		          24      I don't know if we'll have answers exactly tonight,				false

		772						LN		30		25		false		          25      but that's just something (unintelligible).				false

		773						PG		31		0		false		page 31				false

		774						LN		31		1		false		           1          As the dredging of the river is done to the				false

		775						LN		31		2		false		           2      project, is this required under a Section 10 / 404				false

		776						LN		31		3		false		           3      permit?  'Cause it's not exactly removing dredging or				false

		777						LN		31		4		false		           4      material, but it's also disturbing it.  So I was just				false

		778						LN		31		5		false		           5      kind of asking some clarification on that too.  Thank				false

		779						LN		31		6		false		           6      you.				false

		780						LN		31		7		false		           7                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you, Council				false

		781						LN		31		8		false		           8      Leckie.				false

		782						LN		31		9		false		           9          And, Your Honor, I believe Amy Hafkemeyer has a				false

		783						LN		31		10		false		          10      word to add still, or no?				false

		784						LN		31		11		false		          11                        MS. HAFKEMEYER:  I do.  Thank you.				false

		785						LN		31		12		false		          12      And then it looks like Mr. Hocker may also have some				false

		786						LN		31		13		false		          13      additional information.				false

		787						LN		31		14		false		          14          In terms of coordination with the Army Corps, I				false

		788						LN		31		15		false		          15      wanted to add a little bit more information.				false

		789						LN		31		16		false		          16          The State Environmental Policy Act review must be				false

		790						LN		31		17		false		          17      conducted to be able to issue the state 401 water				false

		791						LN		31		18		false		          18      quality certification, which is then in support of				false

		792						LN		31		19		false		          19      the permits issued by the Army Corps of Engineers,				false

		793						LN		31		20		false		          20      who we know are working towards the review of a 404				false

		794						LN		31		21		false		          21      permit, 408, as well as Section 10, I believe.				false

		795						LN		31		22		false		          22          And so in terms of sequence, there is reason for				false

		796						LN		31		23		false		          23      us to be reviewing this application ahead of issuance				false

		797						LN		31		24		false		          24      of those permits.  And I don't know if there's				false

		798						LN		31		25		false		          25      additional information Mr. Hocker has, but those are				false

		799						PG		32		0		false		page 32				false

		800						LN		32		1		false		           1      the permitting pathways that we know that the Army				false

		801						LN		32		2		false		           2      Corps is working on right now.				false

		802						LN		32		3		false		           3                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.  This is				false

		803						LN		32		4		false		           4      Judge Mikow.				false

		804						LN		32		5		false		           5          Mr. Hocker, do you have anything else to add in				false

		805						LN		32		6		false		           6      response?				false

		806						LN		32		7		false		           7                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Your Honor, I can				false

		807						LN		32		8		false		           8      relay that has a thumbs-up and that was covered.  And				false

		808						LN		32		9		false		           9      I had the floor and will soon turn this back to you,				false

		809						LN		32		10		false		          10      Your Honor, I think for public comment.				false

		810						LN		32		11		false		          11          One other issue that is, again, part of the				false

		811						LN		32		12		false		          12      process that's beginning and will need to be sorted				false

		812						LN		32		13		false		          13      out and that is certainly, I think, the role of the				false

		813						LN		32		14		false		          14      Department of Natural Resources and its jurisdiction				false

		814						LN		32		15		false		          15      over aquatic lands that I believe, you know, is an				false

		815						LN		32		16		false		          16      issue that will be also considered.  I don't know the				false

		816						LN		32		17		false		          17      answer to that question, but one that I just wanted				false

		817						LN		32		18		false		          18      to note as we go forward here, so...				false

		818						LN		32		19		false		          19          Any closing comments from staff or Council?				false

		819						LN		32		20		false		          20      Otherwise, I think, Your Honor, we're back to you in				false

		820						LN		32		21		false		          21      our public testimony.				false

		821						LN		32		22		false		          22                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		822						LN		32		23		false		          23          Ms. Grantham, would you please call the first				false

		823						LN		32		24		false		          24      commenter.				false

		824						LN		32		25		false		          25                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Yes, Your Honor.				false

		825						PG		33		0		false		page 33				false

		826						LN		33		1		false		           1      The first person I have is Teryn Yazdani.				false

		827						LN		33		2		false		           2                        MS. YAZDANI:  Thank you.  For the				false

		828						LN		33		3		false		           3      record, my name is Teryn Yazdani, with Columbia				false

		829						LN		33		4		false		           4      Riverkeeper.				false

		830						LN		33		5		false		           5          There are three brief points I want to raise in				false

		831						LN		33		6		false		           6      oral testimony.  Columbia Riverkeeper has submitted				false

		832						LN		33		7		false		           7      more detailed written comments for the record but				false

		833						LN		33		8		false		           8      just wanted to reiterate these points.				false

		834						LN		33		9		false		           9          First, there is an incomplete information in the				false

		835						LN		33		10		false		          10      application.  WAC 463-60 requires detailed				false

		836						LN		33		11		false		          11      information from the applicant on the project site,				false

		837						LN		33		12		false		          12      its environment including fish and wildlife habitat,				false

		838						LN		33		13		false		          13      project alternatives, and expedited impacts of the				false

		839						LN		33		14		false		          14      river.				false

		840						LN		33		15		false		          15          Riverkeeper will be submitting separate comments				false

		841						LN		33		16		false		          16      on this separately.  However, we wanted to raise this				false

		842						LN		33		17		false		          17      point because the issues that are present with the				false

		843						LN		33		18		false		          18      incomplete information and the application make full				false

		844						LN		33		19		false		          19      participation in the land-use consistency process				false

		845						LN		33		20		false		          20      impossible.				false

		846						LN		33		21		false		          21          Accordingly, we urge EFSEC to deem the draft				false

		847						LN		33		22		false		          22      application as incomplete, suspend review until such				false

		848						LN		33		23		false		          23      time as the applicant has submitted an application				false

		849						LN		33		24		false		          24      that substantially complies with EFSEC's regulations.				false

		850						LN		33		25		false		          25          Second, the information we do have shows that the				false

		851						PG		34		0		false		page 34				false

		852						LN		34		1		false		           1      application is inconsistent with Skamania County				false

		853						LN		34		2		false		           2      shoreline -- shoreline master program, which EFSEC				false

		854						LN		34		3		false		           3      must address.  The shoreline master program is a				false

		855						LN		34		4		false		           4      zoning ordinance, and EFSEC must find consistency				false

		856						LN		34		5		false		           5      now.				false

		857						LN		34		6		false		           6          The proposed use as an interregional transmission				false

		858						LN		34		7		false		           7      cable running along the shoreline through parts of				false

		859						LN		34		8		false		           8      Skamania County, and the Skamania County shoreline				false

		860						LN		34		9		false		           9      master program explicitly prohibits such a use on the				false

		861						LN		34		10		false		          10      shoreline.				false

		862						LN		34		11		false		          11          First, a section of the cable running through an				false

		863						LN		34		12		false		          12      area is designated as natural environment.  Utility				false

		864						LN		34		13		false		          13      corridors are expressly listed as prohibited in the				false

		865						LN		34		14		false		          14      natural environment area unless they can be located				false

		866						LN		34		15		false		          15      elsewhere.				false

		867						LN		34		16		false		          16          The nature and use as proposed is that it can be				false

		868						LN		34		17		false		          17      located elsewhere.  There are any number of ways to				false

		869						LN		34		18		false		          18      supply power from the east side of Oregon to the west				false

		870						LN		34		19		false		          19      side of Oregon and Washington, including existing				false

		871						LN		34		20		false		          20      proposals.  Not to mention the many ways in which				false

		872						LN		34		21		false		          21      specific projects can avoid running through the				false

		873						LN		34		22		false		          22      natural environment area.				false

		874						LN		34		23		false		          23          This is exactly the kind of issue that is within				false

		875						LN		34		24		false		          24      the scope of EFSEC's review at this stage, and the				false

		876						LN		34		25		false		          25      proposed use is prohibited in the relevant area and				false

		877						PG		35		0		false		page 35				false

		878						LN		35		1		false		           1      cannot even theoretically receive a permit for				false

		879						LN		35		2		false		           2      operation.				false

		880						LN		35		3		false		           3          Second, under the shoreline master program point,				false

		881						LN		35		4		false		           4      the shoreline master program includes regulation for				false

		882						LN		35		5		false		           5      transmission lines that apply to all shoreline areas.				false

		883						LN		35		6		false		           6      And it makes it clear that the kind of transmission				false

		884						LN		35		7		false		           7      cable being proposed is prohibited.  These				false

		885						LN		35		8		false		           8      regulations require any transmission cable to be				false

		886						LN		35		9		false		           9      sited such that they spend as little time as possible				false

		887						LN		35		10		false		          10      in the shoreline area, including running				false

		888						LN		35		11		false		          11      perpendicularly to the shore.				false

		889						LN		35		12		false		          12          The proposed cable, as already discussed, has no				false

		890						LN		35		13		false		          13      reason to be in the shoreline area, and the proposed				false

		891						LN		35		14		false		          14      siting has the cable running parallel along the shore				false

		892						LN		35		15		false		          15      for long stretches without justification.				false

		893						LN		35		16		false		          16          Quickly, third, and finally, I would like to				false

		894						LN		35		17		false		          17      reiterate the request heard last night to keep the				false

		895						LN		35		18		false		          18      record open for testimony.  With the record being				false

		896						LN		35		19		false		          19      open for about six hours in total, half of which are				false

		897						LN		35		20		false		          20      taken up by this meeting, it does not give ample time				false

		898						LN		35		21		false		          21      for public response.				false

		899						LN		35		22		false		          22          Thank you.				false

		900						LN		35		23		false		          23                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.				false

		901						LN		35		24		false		          24          Ms. Grantham, would you please call the next				false

		902						LN		35		25		false		          25      commenter.				false

		903						PG		36		0		false		page 36				false

		904						LN		36		1		false		           1                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.  The next				false

		905						LN		36		2		false		           2      person in person we have is Mary Repar.				false

		906						LN		36		3		false		           3                        MS. REPAR:  Thank you.				false

		907						LN		36		4		false		           4          As a resident of Stevenson, I think it's totally				false

		908						LN		36		5		false		           5      inappropriate that we be discussing this land				false

		909						LN		36		6		false		           6      consistency.  I can assure you I'm pretty sure that				false

		910						LN		36		7		false		           7      the City of Stevenson does not know about the land				false

		911						LN		36		8		false		           8      consistency certificate.  At least I attend most of				false

		912						LN		36		9		false		           9      their meetings, and I have not even heard about this.				false

		913						LN		36		10		false		          10          Second, the Pioneer did not print this meeting				false

		914						LN		36		11		false		          11      here.  And I think it should have been postponed in				false

		915						LN		36		12		false		          12      the city of Stevenson so that the residents of				false

		916						LN		36		13		false		          13      Stevenson, and especially those who use the				false

		917						LN		36		14		false		          14      waterfront consistently, be able to come here.  Yes,				false

		918						LN		36		15		false		          15      there were some technical issues on the Skamania				false

		919						LN		36		16		false		          16      Pioneer's side, but that's no excuse.  We can always				false

		920						LN		36		17		false		          17      have a meeting later.				false

		921						LN		36		18		false		          18          This is a draft.  And I'm really appalled that				false

		922						LN		36		19		false		          19      we're spending so much time on a draft.  I want to				false

		923						LN		36		20		false		          20      put in my statements for the record on something				false

		924						LN		36		21		false		          21      that's real, not something that's nebulous.				false

		925						LN		36		22		false		          22          I -- we have a lot of geologic hazards here in				false

		926						LN		36		23		false		          23      the gorge area.  The Piper Lorry [sic] landslide on				false

		927						LN		36		24		false		          24      Rock Creek here, the creek you-all crossed over,				false

		928						LN		36		25		false		          25      happened in 2007.  The North Bonneville slide, as you				false

		929						PG		37		0		false		page 37				false

		930						LN		37		1		false		           1      remember, it went all the way to the other side, and				false

		931						LN		37		2		false		           2      you could cross it on land.  Happened whenever it				false

		932						LN		37		3		false		           3      happened in the millennia past.				false

		933						LN		37		4		false		           4          I would like the city of Stevenson, my				false

		934						LN		37		5		false		           5      municipality, to be included in this project.  I'm				false

		935						LN		37		6		false		           6      going to tell one of my council members here that we				false

		936						LN		37		7		false		           7      need to talk about it on Thursday night when there's				false

		937						LN		37		8		false		           8      a city council meeting.  This is the first time that				false

		938						LN		37		9		false		           9      I'm hearing about this land consistency hearing.  And				false

		939						LN		37		10		false		          10      I'm not a land expert, but I made comments on the				false

		940						LN		37		11		false		          11      unmapped lands that are in our -- in the east side				false

		941						LN		37		12		false		          12      here, and those will be zoned here shortly by the				false

		942						LN		37		13		false		          13      county commissioners one way or the other.				false

		943						LN		37		14		false		          14          I'm not sure what the reference to the management				false

		944						LN		37		15		false		          15      plan in the National Scenic Area was, but I'm fairly				false

		945						LN		37		16		false		          16      sure that the Gorge Commission would like to know				false

		946						LN		37		17		false		          17      that they're being included in this process.				false

		947						LN		37		18		false		          18          And USACE has a responsibility to the citizens of				false

		948						LN		37		19		false		          19      this community to let us know when there's a permit				false

		949						LN		37		20		false		          20      of any kind going on.  And I have not read about it				false

		950						LN		37		21		false		          21      in our paper of record, which is the Skamania				false

		951						LN		37		22		false		          22      Pioneer.				false

		952						LN		37		23		false		          23          So, again, I think it's totally inappropriate to				false

		953						LN		37		24		false		          24      have this -- these types of meetings before we have				false

		954						LN		37		25		false		          25      something solid and substantial before us so we can				false

		955						PG		38		0		false		page 38				false

		956						LN		38		1		false		           1      keep our powder dry, whatever, and -- and make				false

		957						LN		38		2		false		           2      comments based on facts and not nebulous proposals.				false

		958						LN		38		3		false		           3      Thank you very much.				false

		959						LN		38		4		false		           4                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much				false

		960						LN		38		5		false		           5      for those comments.				false

		961						LN		38		6		false		           6          I do want to remind everybody that this portion				false

		962						LN		38		7		false		           7      of the consistency hearing is for you to make				false

		963						LN		38		8		false		           8      comments only about the issues of consistency in				false

		964						LN		38		9		false		           9      compliance with applicable land-use plans and zoning				false

		965						LN		38		10		false		          10      ordinances.  So please make sure that your comments				false

		966						LN		38		11		false		          11      are focused on those issues.				false

		967						LN		38		12		false		          12          Would you please call the next commenter.				false

		968						LN		38		13		false		          13                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly, Your				false

		969						LN		38		14		false		          14      Honor.				false

		970						LN		38		15		false		          15          I'm going to move on to those who have their				false

		971						LN		38		16		false		          16      hands raised online.				false

		972						LN		38		17		false		          17          Next we have is Nathan Baker.				false

		973						LN		38		18		false		          18                        MR. BAKER:  Good evening.  This is				false

		974						LN		38		19		false		          19      Nathan Baker with Friends of Columbia Gorge.				false

		975						LN		38		20		false		          20          And everything I will say tonight involves				false

		976						LN		38		21		false		          21      procedural issues and errors and will implicate the				false

		977						LN		38		22		false		          22      appearance of fairness doctrine and due process				false

		978						LN		38		23		false		          23      rights.				false

		979						LN		38		24		false		          24          There are certain procedural errors in this				false

		980						LN		38		25		false		          25      process that are violating the appearance of fairness				false

		981						PG		39		0		false		page 39				false

		982						LN		39		1		false		           1      doctrine and the due process rights of stakeholders.				false

		983						LN		39		2		false		           2          The first issue, as you've heard earlier tonight,				false

		984						LN		39		3		false		           3      is that this hearing is premature.  The land-use				false

		985						LN		39		4		false		           4      hearing must happen after the informational public				false

		986						LN		39		5		false		           5      hearing, which can only happen after, quote, the				false

		987						LN		39		6		false		           6      receipt of an application for site certification, end				false

		988						LN		39		7		false		           7      quote, under the statute.				false

		989						LN		39		8		false		           8          Draft applications don't count.  And even if it				false

		990						LN		39		9		false		           9      is common for draft applications to be submitted,				false

		991						LN		39		10		false		          10      I've never seen that before with EFSEC.  But draft				false

		992						LN		39		11		false		          11      applications still don't trigger EFSEC's required				false

		993						LN		39		12		false		          12      processes.				false

		994						LN		39		13		false		          13          And with land-use consistency, vesting concerns				false

		995						LN		39		14		false		          14      are implicated.  The legal question before the				false

		996						LN		39		15		false		          15      Council is whether, quote, the proposed site is				false

		997						LN		39		16		false		          16      consistent and in compliance with, end quote,				false

		998						LN		39		17		false		          17      land-use laws and rules, quote, on the date of the				false

		999						LN		39		18		false		          18      application, end quote.				false

		1000						LN		39		19		false		          19          The applicant isn't allowed to submit a draft				false

		1001						LN		39		20		false		          20      application now and potentially enjoy the benefits of				false

		1002						LN		39		21		false		          21      vesting for land-use consistency purposes based on				false

		1003						LN		39		22		false		          22      draft application.  So once a non-draft application				false

		1004						LN		39		23		false		          23      is submitted, EFSEC will need to schedule land-use				false

		1005						LN		39		24		false		          24      consistency hearings on that application.				false

		1006						LN		39		25		false		          25          The second issue involves the membership of the				false

		1007						PG		40		0		false		page 40				false

		1008						LN		40		1		false		           1      Council.  Again, we've heard no reference to the				false

		1009						LN		40		2		false		           2      members appointed by cities of Stevenson and North				false

		1010						LN		40		3		false		           3      Bonneville who, quote, shall sit with the Council,				false

		1011						LN		40		4		false		           4      end quote, under the statute for these hearings.				false

		1012						LN		40		5		false		           5          Mr. McMahan said tonight that -- something about				false

		1013						LN		40		6		false		           6      that the Council appoints those people.  That isn't				false

		1014						LN		40		7		false		           7      true.  I'll read to you from the statute.  It says,				false

		1015						LN		40		8		false		           8      quote, The city legislative authority of every city				false

		1016						LN		40		9		false		           9      within whose corporate limits an energy facility is				false

		1017						LN		40		10		false		          10      proposed to be located shall appoint a member or				false

		1018						LN		40		11		false		          11      designee as a voting member to the Council, end				false

		1019						LN		40		12		false		          12      quote.				false

		1020						LN		40		13		false		          13          Next, we have concerns about the defective				false

		1021						LN		40		14		false		          14      hearing notice, which discourages written public				false

		1022						LN		40		15		false		          15      comments.  It only says public comments will be				false

		1023						LN		40		16		false		          16      accepted during the hearings, and then, quote, if you				false

		1024						LN		40		17		false		          17      are unable to attend the hearings, please send your				false

		1025						LN		40		18		false		          18      comment in writing, end quote.				false

		1026						LN		40		19		false		          19          It's effectively discouraging public comment				false

		1027						LN		40		20		false		          20      that -- written public comment that can -- as				false

		1028						LN		40		21		false		          21      something that can only happen as a backup to				false

		1029						LN		40		22		false		          22      attending the hearing in person.  Compare that with				false

		1030						LN		40		23		false		          23      Washington's Local Project Review Act, which requires				false

		1031						LN		40		24		false		          24      each public notice to include statements of the right				false

		1032						LN		40		25		false		          25      of any person to comment on the application.  That's				false

		1033						PG		41		0		false		page 41				false

		1034						LN		41		1		false		           1      RCW 36.70B.110, Subsection 2(e).				false

		1035						LN		41		2		false		           2          So here, EFSEC is providing a deficient public				false

		1036						LN		41		3		false		           3      notice that is less than anyone else would get in the				false

		1037						LN		41		4		false		           4      state of Washington for any project under land-use				false

		1038						LN		41		5		false		           5      review.				false

		1039						LN		41		6		false		           6          Thank you very much.				false

		1040						LN		41		7		false		           7                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.				false

		1041						LN		41		8		false		           8          Will you please call the next commenter.				false

		1042						LN		41		9		false		           9                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.				false

		1043						LN		41		10		false		          10          The next person I see online is just under the				false

		1044						LN		41		11		false		          11      name "Eric."				false

		1045						LN		41		12		false		          12          Eric, whenever you speak up, please tell us your				false

		1046						LN		41		13		false		          13      last name, and maybe spell it.				false

		1047						LN		41		14		false		          14                        MR. WRISTON:  Yeah.  Sure.  Sorry				false

		1048						LN		41		15		false		          15      about that.				false

		1049						LN		41		16		false		          16          Hi.  Eric Wriston.  That's W-r-i-s-t-o-n.  I'm an				false

		1050						LN		41		17		false		          17      attorney at Crag Law Center.  I'm here representing				false

		1051						LN		41		18		false		          18      Columbia Riverkeeper.				false

		1052						LN		41		19		false		          19          I just have one really quick point to make.  The				false

		1053						LN		41		20		false		          20      applicant's counsel made some statements regarding				false

		1054						LN		41		21		false		          21      the consistency determinations or consistency				false

		1055						LN		41		22		false		          22      certificates from the local governments and that they				false

		1056						LN		41		23		false		          23      might still supply those.				false

		1057						LN		41		24		false		          24          EFSEC's rules are really clear that those have to				false

		1058						LN		41		25		false		          25      be submitted by the land-use hearing if they're going				false

		1059						PG		42		0		false		page 42				false

		1060						LN		42		1		false		           1      to be considered.  To quote here from Washington				false

		1061						LN		42		2		false		           2      Administrative Code 463-26-090:  This rule				false

		1062						LN		42		3		false		           3      contemplates that applicant will enter as exhibits,				false

		1063						LN		42		4		false		           4      at the land-use hearing, certificates from local				false

		1064						LN		42		5		false		           5      authorities attesting to the fact that the proposal				false

		1065						LN		42		6		false		           6      is consistent and in compliance with land-use plans				false

		1066						LN		42		7		false		           7      and zoning ordinances.				false

		1067						LN		42		8		false		           8          And the rule goes on to talk about how, if they				false

		1068						LN		42		9		false		           9      do submit that, then there's an opportunity for				false

		1069						LN		42		10		false		          10      contrary demonstration by anyone present at the				false

		1070						LN		42		11		false		          11      hearing.				false

		1071						LN		42		12		false		          12          So there's two issues there.  Both pretty				false

		1072						LN		42		13		false		          13      explicitly states that those certificates have to be				false

		1073						LN		42		14		false		          14      submitted by the hearing, and then also if you're				false

		1074						LN		42		15		false		          15      accepting them after the hearing, you're denying the				false

		1075						LN		42		16		false		          16      public a chance to respond to those, in contravention				false

		1076						LN		42		17		false		          17      of those rules.				false

		1077						LN		42		18		false		          18          Thank you.				false

		1078						LN		42		19		false		          19                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you for				false

		1079						LN		42		20		false		          20      that.				false

		1080						LN		42		21		false		          21          Ms. Grantham, would you please call the next				false

		1081						LN		42		22		false		          22      commenter.				false

		1082						LN		42		23		false		          23                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.				false

		1083						LN		42		24		false		          24          The next person I see online -- and apologies if				false

		1084						LN		42		25		false		          25      I pronounce your last name incorrectly -- is Elijah				false

		1085						PG		43		0		false		page 43				false

		1086						LN		43		1		false		           1      Cetas.				false

		1087						LN		43		2		false		           2                        MR. CETAS:  Yeah.  Hi.  Good				false

		1088						LN		43		3		false		           3      evening.  My name is Elijah Cetas.  I'm an energy				false

		1089						LN		43		4		false		           4      policy analyst and attorney for Columbia River				false

		1090						LN		43		5		false		           5      Inter-Tribal Fish Commission.				false

		1091						LN		43		6		false		           6          It was not my intent to comment tonight, but just				false

		1092						LN		43		7		false		           7      based on the comments that I've heard, and given the				false

		1093						LN		43		8		false		           8      limited opportunity to provide written comments on				false

		1094						LN		43		9		false		           9      the particular land-use compatibility issues here in				false

		1095						LN		43		10		false		          10      Skamania County, I want to offer just a few points				false

		1096						LN		43		11		false		          11      for the record.				false

		1097						LN		43		12		false		          12          First off, CRITFC is a political subdivision of				false

		1098						LN		43		13		false		          13      the four Columbia River Treaty tribes:  The Yakama				false

		1099						LN		43		14		false		          14      Nation, Confederated Tribes of Umatilla Indian				false

		1100						LN		43		15		false		          15      Reservation, Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, and				false

		1101						LN		43		16		false		          16      Nez Perce Tribe.				false

		1102						LN		43		17		false		          17          We're not a stakeholder, and for that reason, I				false

		1103						LN		43		18		false		          18      wasn't intending to comment.  But it is important for				false

		1104						LN		43		19		false		          19      the compatibility decision to mention that this				false

		1105						LN		43		20		false		          20      section of river that is within Skamania County is				false

		1106						LN		43		21		false		          21      within Zone 6.  Zone 6 is a 147-mile stretch of river				false

		1107						LN		43		22		false		          22      that is an exclusive treaty Indian commercial fishing				false

		1108						LN		43		23		false		          23      area.  The exclusion is for commercial fishing only.				false

		1109						LN		43		24		false		          24      The state regulates -- the states of Washington and				false

		1110						LN		43		25		false		          25      Oregon regulate commercial fishing in other sections.				false

		1111						PG		44		0		false		page 44				false

		1112						LN		44		1		false		           1      But in Zone 6, it's exclusively treaty Indian				false

		1113						LN		44		2		false		           2      commercial.  Although noncommercial sports fishers				false

		1114						LN		44		3		false		           3      may still fish here.				false

		1115						LN		44		4		false		           4          Zone 6 is also the location of 31 in-lieu and				false

		1116						LN		44		5		false		           5      treaty fishing access sites.  These are federal lands				false

		1117						LN		44		6		false		           6      that are held for the exclusive use and benefit of				false

		1118						LN		44		7		false		           7      the Columbia River Indian treaty tribes.  CRITFC				false

		1119						LN		44		8		false		           8      operates and maintains these sites, but they are				false

		1120						LN		44		9		false		           9      federal lands, and they are held for that federal				false

		1121						LN		44		10		false		          10      purpose.  They were created by a statute, two				false

		1122						LN		44		11		false		          11      different statutes, and are governed under 25 --				false

		1123						LN		44		12		false		          12      under Part 247 of the code.				false

		1124						LN		44		13		false		          13          I offer these comments to remind the -- to remind				false

		1125						LN		44		14		false		          14      EFSEC of the significance of the lands we're talking				false

		1126						LN		44		15		false		          15      about and to state for the record that there are five				false

		1127						LN		44		16		false		          16      in-lieu and treaty fishing access sites within				false

		1128						LN		44		17		false		          17      Skamania County.  That's Bonneville, North Bonneville				false

		1129						LN		44		18		false		          18      site, where the upland portion of the transmission				false

		1130						LN		44		19		false		          19      would pass, would be immediately adjacent.  There's				false

		1131						LN		44		20		false		          20      also the Wind River site, Cook-Underwood site, the				false

		1132						LN		44		21		false		          21      Cook site, and White Salmon.				false

		1133						LN		44		22		false		          22          And so, with that, I'll just leave that and ask				false

		1134						LN		44		23		false		          23      that EFSEC consider these federal uses and the uses				false

		1135						LN		44		24		false		          24      as held for the treaty tribes of lower Columbia				false

		1136						LN		44		25		false		          25      River.  Thank you.				false

		1137						PG		45		0		false		page 45				false

		1138						LN		45		1		false		           1                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.				false

		1139						LN		45		2		false		           2          Ms. Grantham, will you please call the next				false

		1140						LN		45		3		false		           3      commenter.				false

		1141						LN		45		4		false		           4                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Yep.  Next is Steve				false

		1142						LN		45		5		false		           5      McCoy.				false

		1143						LN		45		6		false		           6                        MR. McCOY:  Hi.  Can you hear me?				false

		1144						LN		45		7		false		           7                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Yes, we can.				false

		1145						LN		45		8		false		           8                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Yes, we can.  Please				false

		1146						LN		45		9		false		           9      proceed.				false

		1147						LN		45		10		false		          10                        MR. McCOY:  Great.				false

		1148						LN		45		11		false		          11          Hi.  I'm Steve McCoy.  I'm a staff attorney with				false

		1149						LN		45		12		false		          12      Friends of the Columbia Gorge.  Councilors, thank you				false

		1150						LN		45		13		false		          13      for this opportunity to testify tonight.				false

		1151						LN		45		14		false		          14          I'd like to start off with the defective notice.				false

		1152						LN		45		15		false		          15      It contained dates and deadlines that were unclear				false

		1153						LN		45		16		false		          16      coming in, and we end up only having a few hours to				false

		1154						LN		45		17		false		          17      submit written comments.				false

		1155						LN		45		18		false		          18          The hearing notice, which is not dated and does				false

		1156						LN		45		19		false		          19      not indicate the comment period nor the deadline for				false

		1157						LN		45		20		false		          20      submitting written comments.  What we learned last				false

		1158						LN		45		21		false		          21      night, the Clark County land-using, that there is				false

		1159						LN		45		22		false		          22      apparently only a very narrow window of time each				false

		1160						LN		45		23		false		          23      night to submit written comments from 5:30 in the				false

		1161						LN		45		24		false		          24      evening until midnight.				false

		1162						LN		45		25		false		          25          Director Bumpus referred the public to the EFSEC				false

		1163						PG		46		0		false		page 46				false

		1164						LN		46		1		false		           1      Web -- excuse me -- Web pages, and indeed those Web				false

		1165						LN		46		2		false		           2      pages specified just a 6.5-hour time period for				false

		1166						LN		46		3		false		           3      submitting written comments.  While the 6.5-hour time				false

		1167						LN		46		4		false		           4      period may be intended to be the window for time for				false

		1168						LN		46		5		false		           5      submitting comments via EFSEC's online public portal,				false

		1169						LN		46		6		false		           6      the Web pages do not make such distinction.  Instead,				false

		1170						LN		46		7		false		           7      they specify a 6.5-hour comment period for all				false

		1171						LN		46		8		false		           8      written comments.				false

		1172						LN		46		9		false		           9          It runs concurrently with the actual hearing,				false

		1173						LN		46		10		false		          10      itself, and attendees of the hearing will have to				false

		1174						LN		46		11		false		          11      quickly drive back home and type up their written				false

		1175						LN		46		12		false		          12      comments, including to respond to new evidence as was				false

		1176						LN		46		13		false		          13      offered by the proponents as part of this hearing,				false

		1177						LN		46		14		false		          14      itself.				false

		1178						LN		46		15		false		          15          Moreover, none of this is indicated in the actual				false

		1179						LN		46		16		false		          16      hearing notice, which is where you would expect to				false

		1180						LN		46		17		false		          17      see comment periods and deadlines.				false

		1181						LN		46		18		false		          18          In addition, there was only one hearing notice				false

		1182						LN		46		19		false		          19      for three counties, and it does not explain that each				false

		1183						LN		46		20		false		          20      county's land-use consistency hearing is limited to				false

		1184						LN		46		21		false		          21      evaluating land-use consistency solely within that				false

		1185						LN		46		22		false		          22      county.  The failure to include this information on				false

		1186						LN		46		23		false		          23      the hearing notice confuses and prejudices the				false

		1187						LN		46		24		false		          24      public.				false

		1188						LN		46		25		false		          25          In addition, there was an insufficient notice				false

		1189						PG		47		0		false		page 47				false

		1190						LN		47		1		false		           1      period.  Typically you would see 11, 12, 13 -- or				false

		1191						LN		47		2		false		           2      sorry.  Notice period was only 11 days for the Clark				false

		1192						LN		47		3		false		           3      County hearing, 12 days for the Skamania County				false

		1193						LN		47		4		false		           4      hearing, and 13 days for the Klickitat hearing.				false

		1194						LN		47		5		false		           5          Under the state Local Project Review Act, it's 14				false

		1195						LN		47		6		false		           6      days.  Skamania County typically gives 20 days for				false

		1196						LN		47		7		false		           7      most things.  12-day notice period for tonight's				false

		1197						LN		47		8		false		           8      hearing was insufficient.				false

		1198						LN		47		9		false		           9          In addition, as my time is running lower, three				false

		1199						LN		47		10		false		          10      minutes is insufficient.  We object only being				false

		1200						LN		47		11		false		          11      allowed three minutes of testimony, particularly				false

		1201						LN		47		12		false		          12      because we have had to use that time to make				false

		1202						LN		47		13		false		          13      procedural objections.				false

		1203						LN		47		14		false		          14          With only a couple people speaking on land-use				false

		1204						LN		47		15		false		          15      consistency, there is no need to severely restrict				false

		1205						LN		47		16		false		          16      each stakeholder's time to three minutes.  Last				false

		1206						LN		47		17		false		          17      night, there was so much time left on the table at				false

		1207						LN		47		18		false		          18      the hearing that it concluded nearly an hour early.				false

		1208						LN		47		19		false		          19      Still, folks -- or the only person who testified, I				false

		1209						LN		47		20		false		          20      guess, was held to three minutes.				false

		1210						LN		47		21		false		          21          So, finally, based on all the documented errors				false

		1211						LN		47		22		false		          22      and flawed procedures, EFSEC is violating				false

		1212						LN		47		23		false		          23      Washington's appearance of fairness doctrine and the				false

		1213						LN		47		24		false		          24      due process rights of the stakeholders and				false

		1214						LN		47		25		false		          25      participants to this hearing.				false

		1215						PG		48		0		false		page 48				false

		1216						LN		48		1		false		           1          Thank you for this opportunity to testify.				false

		1217						LN		48		2		false		           2                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.				false

		1218						LN		48		3		false		           3          Ms. Grantham, are there any other commenters?				false

		1219						LN		48		4		false		           4                        MS. GRANTHAM:  The final person I				false

		1220						LN		48		5		false		           5      am seeing is Richard Hall.				false

		1221						LN		48		6		false		           6                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Mr. Hall, will you				false

		1222						LN		48		7		false		           7      please proceed.				false

		1223						LN		48		8		false		           8                        MR. HALL:  Yes.  Thank you.				false

		1224						LN		48		9		false		           9          I'm the contract planning advisor for the City of				false

		1225						LN		48		10		false		          10      North Bonneville, so I've been following for quite				false

		1226						LN		48		11		false		          11      some time now the -- all the processes, so I've been				false

		1227						LN		48		12		false		          12      included in lots of e-mails and things like that, and				false

		1228						LN		48		13		false		          13      so I've done a lot of research on it.				false

		1229						LN		48		14		false		          14          However, yesterday, I received a consistency				false

		1230						LN		48		15		false		          15      certificate in my e-mail, asking if I would sign				false

		1231						LN		48		16		false		          16      that.  And so I really haven't even had time to				false

		1232						LN		48		17		false		          17      review it and to consider any aspects that might be				false

		1233						LN		48		18		false		          18      pertinent, so -- but I just wanted to let you know				false

		1234						LN		48		19		false		          19      that I have been participating in this.				false

		1235						LN		48		20		false		          20          I have put the information on our city website.				false

		1236						LN		48		21		false		          21      I've brought the information in front of our city				false

		1237						LN		48		22		false		          22      council.  And I expect to provide a report next week				false

		1238						LN		48		23		false		          23      at the council meeting for the city of North				false

		1239						LN		48		24		false		          24      Bonneville just to discuss the proceedings this				false

		1240						LN		48		25		false		          25      evening.  So I just wanted you to know that I am				false

		1241						PG		49		0		false		page 49				false

		1242						LN		49		1		false		           1      participating in this procedure.				false

		1243						LN		49		2		false		           2                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you very				false

		1244						LN		49		3		false		           3      much.				false

		1245						LN		49		4		false		           4          Ms. Grantham, are they anybody -- is there				false

		1246						LN		49		5		false		           5      anybody else?				false

		1247						LN		49		6		false		           6                        MS. GRANTHAM:  I am not seeing				false

		1248						LN		49		7		false		           7      anybody online.  It is up to you, Your Honor, if you				false

		1249						LN		49		8		false		           8      wanted to open the floor to those in person.  We do				false

		1250						LN		49		9		false		           9      have about six minutes left that we have planned for				false

		1251						LN		49		10		false		          10      tonight's meeting.				false

		1252						LN		49		11		false		          11                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Well, let's				false

		1253						LN		49		12		false		          12      open it up to the floor if there are any in-person				false

		1254						LN		49		13		false		          13      people that have a comment to make.				false

		1255						LN		49		14		false		          14          I just ask that, if you -- when you approach the				false

		1256						LN		49		15		false		          15      podium, if you just say your name.				false

		1257						LN		49		16		false		          16                        CHAIR BECKETT:  We have a commenter				false

		1258						LN		49		17		false		          17      that's coming forward.				false

		1259						LN		49		18		false		          18          Welcome.				false

		1260						LN		49		19		false		          19                        MR. OLDFIELD:  Hi.  My name's Chuck				false

		1261						LN		49		20		false		          20      Oldfield.  I'm actually -- for two more days, I'm				false

		1262						LN		49		21		false		          21      city council here, City of Stevenson.  And the only				false

		1263						LN		49		22		false		          22      thing that I wanted to kind of piggyback a little bit				false

		1264						LN		49		23		false		          23      on Mary Repar's comments was that I'm here tonight				false

		1265						LN		49		24		false		          24      because of the invitation that I got by an e-mail.				false

		1266						LN		49		25		false		          25          You'll notice that no other council members are				false

		1267						PG		50		0		false		page 50				false

		1268						LN		50		1		false		           1      here tonight and no other representatives from the				false

		1269						LN		50		2		false		           2      City of Stevenson.  I congratulate Asa on being on				false

		1270						LN		50		3		false		           3      the council because I know he'll speak for the				false

		1271						LN		50		4		false		           4      County.				false

		1272						LN		50		5		false		           5          If I were to follow your plan and ask questions				false

		1273						LN		50		6		false		           6      specifically about land-use consistency, it might be				false

		1274						LN		50		7		false		           7      to express a concern about whether you've looked at				false

		1275						LN		50		8		false		           8      all the proper right-of-ways for public and federal				false

		1276						LN		50		9		false		           9      and county lands.  Have you talked to any of the				false

		1277						LN		50		10		false		          10      constituents that have private property that abut				false

		1278						LN		50		11		false		          11      these properties?  I've heard no discussions at city				false

		1279						LN		50		12		false		          12      council meetings, so I don't know if anybody from				false

		1280						LN		50		13		false		          13      planning has talked with you.  But my concerns would				false

		1281						LN		50		14		false		          14      be the properties around the interpretive center				false

		1282						LN		50		15		false		          15      coming -- you know, the egress from the river coming				false

		1283						LN		50		16		false		          16      up around the interpretive center, going by the				false

		1284						LN		50		17		false		          17      Skamania Lodge.				false

		1285						LN		50		18		false		          18          And then if I understand your map correctly,				false

		1286						LN		50		19		false		          19      which this is -- tonight's the first time I've seen				false

		1287						LN		50		20		false		          20      it, the route going around Ash Lake, while that may				false
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           1                        BE IT REMEMBERED that on Tuesday,



           2      November 18, 2025, at 710 Southwest Rock Creek Drive,



           3      Stevenson, Washington, at 6:54 p.m., the following



           4      land-use consistency hearing of the Washington State



           5      Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council was held, to



           6      wit:



           7



           8                          <<<<<< >>>>>>



           9



          10                        CHAIR BECKETT:  And if the audience



          11      would bear with us while we enter into our next



          12      meeting, which I will just go ahead and make a couple



          13      comments on just to make sure I get this correct.



          14          So, again, this is -- we're bringing -- and I



          15      will soon bring this land-use consistency hearing to



          16      order.  Actually, I may just do that here at 6:55.



          17          And during this hearing, we will have testimony



          18      regarding the proposed project's consistency and



          19      compliance with land-use plans and zoning ordinances



          20      of Skamania County in this instance.  This is the



          21      only subject that is allowed during this hearing.



          22      We've had our general comments, and now this is



          23      specifically in order for the Council to create --



          24      begin to create the record and make a determination



          25      on land-use consistency and compliance with Skamania
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           1      County land-use plans and zoning ordinances.  So if



           2      we could just keep comments specific to that topic.



           3          And if the -- Ms. Grantham would please call the



           4      roll.  We'll do that quickly, and then we'll have a



           5      short presentation that actually will get into a



           6      little more detail of what this looks like in



           7      Skamania County.  It might be of interest even if you



           8      don't have a comment.  And then we will take your



           9      comment.  So, with that --



          10                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly --



          11                        CHAIR BECKETT:  -- let's call the



          12      roll.



          13                        MS. GRANTHAM:  -- Chair Beckett.



          14          I will start with Department of Commerce.



          15                        MS. OSBORNE:  Elizabeth Osborne,



          16      present.



          17                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Department of



          18      Ecology.



          19                        MR. NELSON:  Blake Nelson, present.



          20                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Department of Fish



          21      and Wildlife.



          22                        MR. PAMPLIN:  Nate Pamplin, present



          23      and attending virtually.



          24                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Department of



          25      Natural Resources.
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           1                        MR. RYAN:  Maverick Ryan, present,



           2      attending virtually.



           3                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Utilities and



           4      Transportation Commission.



           5                        MR. RYBARIK:  Brian Rybarik,



           6      present and attending virtually.



           7                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Moving on to the



           8      local government Council member for this project from



           9      Skamania County -- excuse me -- Asa Leckie.



          10                        MR. LECKIE:  Present online.



          11                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Assistant Attorney



          12      General Jon Thompson.



          13                        MR. THOMPSON:  Present online.



          14                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Administrative Law



          15      Judge Russel Mikow.



          16                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Present online.



          17                        MS. GRANTHAM:  For Council staff:



          18      Sonia Bumpus.



          19                        MS. BUMPUS:  Present.



          20                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Amy Hafkemeyer.



          21                        MS. HAFKEMEYER:  Present.



          22                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Lance Caputo.



          23          Lance Caputo is here.  He's just not sitting at



          24      his table at the moment, so I will note that he is



          25      present.
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           1          Maria Belkina.



           2                        MS. BELKINA:  Present.



           3                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Karl Holappa.



           4          Karl is also not at his seat, but he is present



           5      tonight.



           6          And then Lisa McLean.



           7                        MS. McLEAN:  Present online.



           8                        MS. GRANTHAM:  And for the counsel



           9      for the environment, Sarah Reyneveld.



          10                        MS. REYNEVELD:  Sarah Reyneveld is



          11      present virtually.



          12                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Thank you.



          13          Chair, there is a quorum.



          14                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you.



          15          Let me also just quickly note before we turn this



          16      to our presenters from our applicant team, Judge



          17      Mikow is with us tonight as an administrative law



          18      judge of the Office of Administrative Hearings.



          19      That's designed to help further just document this



          20      process.  And Judge Mikow will basically take over



          21      any comment gathering that we'll be doing, and we'll



          22      further give you a word about his role in this when



          23      we come to the comment period.  So just wanted to



          24      acknowledge Judge Mikow in that regard.  And, with



          25      that, let me turn this to our presenters.
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           1                        MS. BASSETT:  All right.  Good



           2      evening, everyone.  I'm Malia Bassett.  I'm on the



           3      applicant team.  I'm an environmental planner.  I'm



           4      going to go through the proposal and the applicable



           5      land uses and zoning of it.



           6          Want to introduce yourself.



           7                        MR. McMAHAN:  Good evening.  My



           8      name is Tim McMahan.  I am legal counsel to the



           9      applicant, and I'm an attorney with Stoel Rives law



          10      firm.  And let's see.  Good evening.  Nice to see you



          11      all.



          12                        MS. BASSETT:  All right.  So



          13      everyone has seen this before.  I am mainly going to



          14      be -- I am mainly going to be discussing the on-land



          15      portions in Washington tonight.  So that's the -- the



          16      center map in yellow.  That's where we come out of



          17      the Columbia River and we're proposing to be on land



          18      to bypass the Bonneville Dam, which Chris talked



          19      about earlier.



          20          There are some in-water segments for the



          21      alignment that are on the Washington side of the



          22      Columbia River.  The border, as you all know, between



          23      Washington and Oregon is the center of the Columbia



          24      River.  So as the line follows the river, it goes



          25      into Oregon, comes out, goes back into Washington.
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           1      So we are referring to those as segments, and there's



           2      eight along Skamania County.  And that's



           3      approximately 18 miles.



           4          So I'll go through those quickly since this is a



           5      land-use consistency hearing and these are in water,



           6      but just so everyone is aware what's in Washington.



           7          So starting in -- so starting east and going



           8      west, those numbers you see are river miles.  So one



           9      of the segments -- or sorry.  The -- the line is the



          10      red dash, and then the segments in Washington are



          11      highlighted yellow.



          12          So this one is showing between River Mile 159 and



          13      a half and then going west is a segment crossing over



          14      into Washington along the Columbia River.



          15          And then this is the segment that approaches



          16      Stevenson, where I'll start later for the on-land



          17      portion.  And then once we get past the on-land



          18      portion, after North Bonneville, when we re-enter the



          19      Columbia River, we're in Washington again in the



          20      river.



          21          All right.  Going onto on land in Washington.  So



          22      in Skamania County, on land, we're within the



          23      jurisdictions of the city of Stevenson, city of North



          24      Bonneville, and then unincorporated Skamania County.



          25          So starting with the city of Steve- -- actually
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           1      start an overview map.  So this is showing our



           2      on-land portion in city of Stevenson.  That's the top



           3      center area.  Sorry, I don't have a pointer.  And



           4      then unincorporated Skamania -- unincorporated



           5      Skamania County is that lighter portion, and then you



           6      see North Bonneville jurisdiction in the -- in the



           7      shaded tan down toward the bottom left.



           8          So on-land project components.  Chris mentioned



           9      these earlier.  We have temporary horizontal



          10      directional drilling, called HDD.  Those are areas as



          11      well as temporary horizontal auger pouring, called



          12      HAB areas.  And then the high-voltage direct current,



          13      HVDC, transmission cable.



          14          And in this table, I've summarized which of those



          15      components are in each jurisdiction.  So in the city



          16      of Stevenson, we have the HDD and the HVDC.



          17          In unincorporated Skamania County, we have HDD



          18      and HVDC.



          19          And then in North Bonneville, we have HAB and



          20      HVDC.



          21          So I'll go through each one of those components,



          22      and we can look at those a little closer.



          23          Starting in the city of Stevenson, looking at the



          24      project components, you can see the temporary HDD



          25      area.  We have a close-up, kind of a zoom-in of that
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           1      area with the green box.  That's the temporary HDD



           2      area.  And then just a really, really short portion



           3      of the HVD transmission cable.  Again, on land for



           4      about 0.4 miles.



           5          Shaded, I have the -- the parcel that says "PR."



           6      That stands for public use and recreation zone.



           7      That's what city of Stevenson is zoning that parcel.



           8          And the proposed land use for those project



           9      components in the city of Stevenson fit with the



          10      definition of a utility facility.



          11          And I'll -- one more thing to orient you.  So the



          12      portion of the project in Stevenson is highlighted



          13      that red.  You can see in the -- the top portion of



          14      the project.  And that will be the same going through



          15      Skamania and North Bonneville as well.



          16          Moving on to unincorporated Skamania County.



          17      Here, we have HVDC transmission cable, approximately



          18      four miles of buried cable, and then the temporary



          19      HDD area, approximately 1.26 acres.



          20          So looking at the more bold red lines, that's



          21      where the project is proposed in Skamania County.



          22      And you can see it weaves from Stevenson and then



          23      coming out of North Bonneville and then back toward



          24      the Columbia River.



          25          So the zones that are designated in
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           1      unincorporated Skamania County is -- we're in one



           2      zone there, so the F-2, large woodland, and that's



           3      part of the National Scenic Area, General Management



           4      Area.



           5          The proposed land use for -- for the portions of



           6      the project that are in Skamania County are both



           7      underground utility facility for the HVDC and the HDD



           8      area.



           9          And then, lastly, North Bonneville.



          10          The project components proposed in the



          11      jurisdiction of North Bonneville are the HVDC



          12      transmission cable, approximately 3.5 miles, and then



          13      temporary HAB areas.  And that combined is about 0.05



          14      acres.



          15          The zones in North Bonneville.  So for the HV --



          16      the portion of the HVDC transmission cable goes



          17      through two zones:  USA, which is this close to



          18      Bonneville Dam, is the -- the core.  And then the



          19      other zone is the pink one you see there, industrial



          20      business park.



          21          The proposed land uses for both of those zones



          22      fit with the definition of utility that North



          23      Bonneville defines in their comp plan and zoning



          24      code.



          25          And then the other project component, the





                                                                      13

�







           1      temporary HAB areas, are in the USA.  Again, USACE.



           2      And that would be a temporary land use, so



           3      construction essentially.



           4          Now I'll pass it over to Tim.



           5                        MR. McMAHAN:  Thank you, Malia.  I



           6      have a tendency to speak loud, so if I do that, just



           7      let me know.



           8          Again, my name is Tim McMahan, and I'm legal



           9      counsel to the applicant.  I'm with the Stoel Rives



          10      law firm.  And it's good to be here with you-all and



          11      nice to see the Council, and appreciate staff coming



          12      out as well with EFSEC.



          13          I want to first respond to some comments made



          14      last night that were reiterated by the Friends of the



          15      Gorge a short time ago.  The first comment concerned



          16      the comment deadline for the project, an objection to



          17      the amount of time needed for the -- for the -- for



          18      this project to proceed to hearing.



          19          And it is within EFSEC's jurisdiction, and



          20      there's no rationale to keep the record open for an



          21      additional 30 days.  And it is our view that that is



          22      unnecessary and within the province of EFSEC should



          23      they believe that that is necessary.



          24          Second, there's a comment concerning the draft



          25      application, quote/unquote.  It is common practice to
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           1      submit draft applications for agency review.  Whether



           2      done intentionally or inadvertently, this is



           3      immaterial.  If the cooks got to see what was in the



           4      oven in our filing their draft application, that's



           5      just fine.  It is more information.  It is not



           6      something we're concerned about.



           7          And then the third comment related to County



           8      appointees.  This is a matter for EFSEC's discretion.



           9      EFSEC makes these appointments in consultation with



          10      local governments, and the timing of these



          11      appointments is immaterial, and there is no legal or



          12      procedural error.  Again, it is up to EFSEC.



          13          So I just want to make that record straight for



          14      the public and respond to those comments from last



          15      night.



          16          So turning to tonight.  As you heard this



          17      evening, the land-use consistency hearing's purpose



          18      is to determine whether the project is consistent and



          19      in compliance with local land-use plans and zoning



          20      ordinances.  EFSEC makes this determination.



          21          The relevant inquiry for EFSEC's initial land-use



          22      analysis is, in quotes, whether the pertinent local



          23      land-use provisions prohibit the proposed site,



          24      quote, expressly or by operation clearly,



          25      convincingly and unequivocally.  Fairly strong
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           1      language that limits the opportunity to impede the



           2      project at this point in the process.



           3          If a proposed project can be permitted either



           4      outright or conditionally, it is consistent and in



           5      compliance with land-use provisions for the purposes



           6      of this -- the EFSEC statute RCW 80.50.090.



           7          For this project, zoning is an awkward concept.



           8      Zoning as applicable in a typical EFSEC proceeding is



           9      intended to regulate private property.  These are



          10      public rights-of-way situated on public property.



          11          It is at odds to apply land-use rules to public



          12      linear infrastructure that serve broad public needs.



          13      That is because fundamentally public rights-of-way,



          14      regardless of zoning, are the preferred locations



          15      where public infrastructure is and should be placed.



          16      That is true whether it's water, wastewater,



          17      telecommunication or transmission infrastructure.



          18      And the concept of land-use consistency in this



          19      setting is complicated because the EFSEC rules



          20      primarily reflect privately owned, stand-alone,



          21      stationary public infrastructure, such as power



          22      plants.



          23          Moreover, development activity in public



          24      rights-of-way like those proposed here are governed



          25      by franchise authority and right-of-way permits, not
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           1      zoning.  RCW 80.32.010 authorizes cities and counties



           2      with control of any public street or road to grant



           3      authority for the construction and maintenance and



           4      operation of transmission lines.  Similarly,



           5      addressing state highways and state rights-of-way



           6      through permits that are issued by the Washington



           7      State Department of Transportation.



           8          Nearly all of the Cascade Renewable Transmission



           9      Project proposed in Skamania County is underwater.  I



          10      think that's been explained tonight.  In those -- in



          11      these locations, neither the county zoning code nor



          12      the county's comprehensive plan impose land-use



          13      restrictions on in-water uses or river-bottom land



          14      within the Columbia River.  And as Mr. Hocker



          15      explained terrestrial locations are, for this



          16      project, sited within existing public rights-of-way.



          17      Fundamentally, public rights-of-way are the preferred



          18      location for placement of linear facilities of this



          19      kind.



          20          So concerning land-use consistency.  The EFSEC



          21      rules contemplate that EFSEC and the applicant will



          22      work with local governments to seek a finding of



          23      land-use consistency.  If a local jurisdiction



          24      believes that a proposed EFSEC project is consistent



          25      and in compliance with its land-use plans and zoning
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           1      ordinances, it may provide and the applicant may



           2      enter into a certificate from local authorities



           3      attesting that the -- attesting to the fact that the



           4      proposal is consistent and in compliance with



           5      land-use plans and zoning ordinances.



           6          The certificate of consistency provides proof of



           7      consistency and compliance with applicable land-use



           8      plans and zoning ordinances, and the inquiry then



           9      ends there.  Absent a certificate of consistency,



          10      EFSEC issues its decision regarding consistency after



          11      reviewing the applicable land-use plans and zoning



          12      ordinances.



          13          First, the applicant and local authorities are



          14      addressed to -- are directed to address compliance



          15      and noncompliance with land-use plans or zoning



          16      ordinances.  Then EFSEC determines whether the



          17      proposed site is consistent and in compliance with



          18      land-use plan and zoning ordinances pursuant to the



          19      EFSEC statute RCW 80.50.090(2).



          20          EFSEC's review does not consider all land-use



          21      plan provisions.  A land-use plan includes the



          22      portions of a comprehensive plan that outline



          23      proposals for an area's development, typically by



          24      assigning general uses, such as housing, to land



          25      segments and specifying desired concentrations and
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           1      design goals.



           2          A zoning ordinance is a local government's



           3      ordinance regulating the use of land adopted by



           4      Washington law.  And zoning ordinances include the



           5      applicable zoning map, development restrictions, and



           6      associated definitions.  The applicable county



           7      land-use plan and zoning ordinances provisions are



           8      found within the North Bonneville, city of Stevenson,



           9      and Skamania County zoning codes and comprehensive



          10      plans.



          11          As noted, it is awkward to address land-use



          12      consistency within public rights-of-way principally



          13      because infrastructure of all kinds should



          14      fundamentally be placed within public rights-of-way



          15      to avoid proliferation of linear facilities outside



          16      of rights-of-way.



          17          While EFSEC rules concerning land-use consistency



          18      create an awkward paradigm for siting linear



          19      in-ground facilities, we will go ahead and summarize



          20      the zoning provisions from the three -- the three



          21      local municipalities that were referenced earlier.



          22          First, Skamania County.  In Skamania County, the



          23      project is proposed on, quote, unzoned land.  There



          24      are no use restrictions or development regulations



          25      for unzoned land in Skamania County.  The county,
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           1      Skamania County.



           2          There are two land-use designations that are



           3      governed by the management plan and SCC Title 22.



           4      And Title 22 is not a zoning ordinance pursuant to



           5      the Washington Administrative Code 463-26-090.  The



           6      management plan and the Skamania County Code Title 22



           7      are not land-use plans or zoning ordinances.  The



           8      in-water portions of the project are identified as



           9      water GMA, quote/unquote, on the county's zoning map.



          10          The water GMA designation does not impose



          11      restrictions on use.  Therefore, these portions of



          12      the project are consistent with the Skamania County



          13      Code Title 22.



          14          The remainder of the on-land portions of the



          15      project is located on land zoned and governed by the



          16      management plan, Skamania County Code Title 22.  And



          17      even if the management plan and SCC Title 22 apply,



          18      new underground utility facilities like the project



          19      could and typically are permitted through an



          20      administrative review process.



          21          Turning to North Bonneville.  Title 22 of North



          22      Bonneville Municipal Code governs land use in North



          23      Bonneville.  The transmission line would pass through



          24      land zoned, quote, federal ownership area.  This



          25      zone, including transmission line corridors, is not
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           1      subject to city regulations in North Bonneville.



           2          The project would also pass through land zoned



           3      industrial / business park.  The city allows



           4      utilities, including transmission lines, in the



           5      industrial / business park zone, which we've learned



           6      tonight is, in fact, where this project is proposed.



           7      The project as proposed is a permissible use within



           8      the zone.



           9          Finally, the city of Stevenson.  The project



          10      would pass through land zoned public use and



          11      recreation.  The project would be in existing



          12      right-of-way, which is where these types of uses are



          13      typically permitted.  Finally, in issuing a proposed



          14      site certificate, we anticipate that EFSEC will work



          15      with the county and the cities of North Bonneville



          16      and Stevenson and the applicant to include conditions



          17      in the draft site certificate agreement which



          18      considered any applicable state, local, and community



          19      interests affected by the construction of the



          20      facility.



          21          The applicant is fully committed to achieving



          22      these objectives with the three counties along the



          23      Columbia River and the cities of North Bonneville and



          24      Stevenson.



          25          So just a word about the Shoreline Management
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           1      Act.  I had several comments, peopling coming up to



           2      me and asking questions about -- from EFSEC staff



           3      about the Shoreline Management Act.  The applicant



           4      fully understands the need for review and compliance



           5      with the Shoreline Management Act, and it is for



           6      EFSEC to conduct this review, not for the applicant



           7      to conduct this review.



           8          Whether this issue should be considered now or



           9      later in the process is a matter for EFSEC to decide.



          10      That said, to my knowledge, the most recent precedent



          11      here, the most recent EFSEC precedent here, was a



          12      Columbia solar facility project in Klickitat County



          13      some years ago.  The Shoreline Management Act review



          14      was conducted after the land-use consistency hearing.



          15      Whether that is done now or later is a matter for



          16      EFSEC in its discretion.



          17          Thank you.  Appreciate the opportunity to provide



          18      this information to you.



          19                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you, both,



          20      very much.



          21          Let me help turn this over to Judge Mikow.  And,



          22      Your Honor, if I could ask if you would help me know



          23      when and how to incorporate any questions or comments



          24      from the EFSEC project Council.  I wanted to



          25      acknowledge their presence here.  And if you have
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           1      questions especially on this evening's presentation,



           2      apologies for having not asked you earlier in the



           3      original initial presentation, but I know you



           4      participated in it last night.



           5          So having acknowledged all that, Judge Mikow, if



           6      you would help facilitate both our public comment as



           7      well as if Council has questions for the presenters.



           8      Thank you.



           9                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Excuse me.



          10      Good evening.  I'm Administrative Law Judge Russ



          11      Mikow with the Office of Administrative Hearings, and



          12      I am going to be helping with the second public



          13      comment period for this land-use consistency hearing.



          14          There are a few general things everybody needs to



          15      know before we get going.  Unlike the earlier public



          16      comment period this evening, here we are only taking



          17      public comments about whether the site is or is not



          18      consistent and is or is not in compliance with



          19      applicable land-use plans and zoning ordinances.  So



          20      this is not an opportunity to ask questions during



          21      this public comment period.



          22          The public comments are going to be limited to



          23      three minutes per person.  I'll try not to stop any



          24      speaker mid sentence.  But if you go much longer than



          25      the time allotted, I might have to move on to the
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           1      next commenter.



           2          And, again, remember.  Your comments are supposed



           3      to be limited to the issues of consistency and



           4      compliance with applicable land-use plans and zoning



           5      ordinances.  Following the land-use consistency



           6      hearing, my job is to draft an order including the



           7      findings of fact, appropriate portions of the



           8      relevant law or code, and conclusions of law



           9      regarding whether a proposed site is consistent and



          10      in compliance with applicable land-use plans and



          11      zoning ordinances, as required by Revised Code of



          12      Washington 80.50.090, Paragraph 2, and



          13      Chapter 463-26, Washington Administrative Code.



          14          I will provide my draft order to the



          15      EFSEC-assigned assistant attorney general and its



          16      staff for any revisions prior to the staff presenting



          17      the order to the Council with the recommendation of



          18      adoption at an open meeting.



          19          So that's some of -- that's an explanation of my



          20      role in today's proceedings.



          21          As it relates to questions of the applicant's



          22      Council, I believe that should go first before there



          23      are public comments.



          24          So I did not catch the name of the person who



          25      might be asking questions, though.
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           1                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Well, direct me as



           2      you need to, Your Honor, here, despite me, quote,



           3      being the chair.  What I'm trying to get to is, any



           4      Council members of EFSEC, do you have questions or



           5      any quick comments you wanted to note for this



           6      land-use portion as allowable by Judge Mikow?  And



           7      please raise your hand or speak up.  And, otherwise,



           8      we will soon move to the public comment.



           9          Council members?



          10          We have Council Nelson with a question.



          11                        MR. NELSON:  Thank you, Chair



          12      Beckett.



          13          So this might be more germane to the general



          14      information section.  So, if so, you can "stricken"



          15      it from the record, but I'll ask tomorrow.



          16          So I was just wondering about buffers for when



          17      the line is -- comes up through Stevenson and with



          18      the horizontal drilling, how far that is from the



          19      bank of the river.  I ask that in the context of the



          20      shoreline master plan.  And, again, if you don't have



          21      the -- I know it's not a Q & A right now.  I'm just



          22      stating that will be part of my consideration for



          23      this project.



          24                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Pamplin.



          25                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.
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           1          Would the next Council member who has a question



           2      or comment.  I don't.  Would they raise their hand



           3      and please proceed.



           4                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Pamplin, I



           5      believe that's you.



           6                        MR. PAMPLIN:  Great.  Thank you,



           7      Mr. Chair.



           8          Just a question for Mr. McMahan.  I understand --



           9      you know, and you went through some of the citations



          10      there about the project applicant working with local



          11      government to seek concurrence and then relaying that



          12      instrument back to EFSEC, which I think would



          13      certainly help with this process.  There's avenues to



          14      proceed with that determination without that



          15      concurrence.



          16          But I'm just wondering if you could please share



          17      the status of the conversations with the City of



          18      Stevenson, the City of North Bonneville, and Skamania



          19      County, please.  Thank you.



          20                        MR. McMAHAN:  Yes.  Thank you for



          21      the question.



          22          We've been in pretty consistent conversation with



          23      Skamania County for some time.  And I'm not sure if



          24      there's anybody from the County here.  I don't think



          25      so.  So we have a pretty mature conversation going
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           1      with Skamania County to obtain a land-use consistency



           2      certification.  It's not concluded.



           3          We have requested that the North Bonneville City



           4      also work with us on a consistency determination.



           5      We've provided documentation to both of those



           6      municipalities, asking -- asking to, you know, talk



           7      to them after this hearing.  And, as I've said, we've



           8      reached out previously as well.



           9          The third County or the third City -- excuse



          10      me -- or the third municipality -- sorry -- City of



          11      Steve- -- North Bonneville and City of Stevenson,



          12      we've talked to both of those municipalities.  So in



          13      the works.  And we do hope to complete consistency



          14      certificates with them as defined in the EFSEC rules.



          15      We're not quite there yet.



          16                        MR. PAMPLIN:  Great.



          17                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.



          18          Ms. Grantham, are there any other Council members



          19      who would like to make a comment or question?



          20                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Council Leckie has



          21      a question, Your Honor.



          22                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Please proceed.



          23                        MR. LECKIE:  Yeah, thank you.



          24          I just had a question.  As we're talking about



          25      county land use and zoning and EFSEC, there was a
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           1      comment that caught my attention, was that in



           2      Skamania County, the majority of this project is



           3      underwater in the Columbia River.



           4          So do we already have a permit from, I would



           5      assume would be the Army Corps of Engineers, 'cause



           6      congress has authority over navigable waters, so



           7      don't they delegate that authority and permitting to



           8      the Army Corps of Engineers?  So for the project,



           9      shouldn't that permit be obtained first before EFSEC?



          10          That's just -- and I'm new to this process, so



          11      I'm just asking.  That's just something that kind of



          12      was kind of running around in my head on this whole



          13      process.  Thank you.



          14                        MR. McMAHAN:  Tim McMahan here,



          15      particularly since that was a Council member, I



          16      believe.  I don't know that I have the answer to



          17      that, but I think Mr. Hocker may have some additional



          18      insights on that question.  And you might want to



          19      repeat the question.  I'm not sure.



          20                        MR. HOCKER:  No, I...



          21                        MR. McMAHAN:  All right.



          22                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Your Honor, did you



          23      want to try and paraphrase the question, or would you



          24      like me to?  I'm happy to.  Whatever's proper.



          25                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Oh.  You can go ahead
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           1      and paraphrase it.



           2                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Okay.  Council



           3      Leckie, make sure I have this right.  But



           4      essentially, why isn't the corps of engineers going



           5      ahead of the EFSEC process?



           6                        MR. HOCKER:  I can't speak to the



           7      legalities of, you know, in what order.  I can tell



           8      you that the corps, the state processes in Oregon and



           9      Washington are proceeding down parallel paths.  And



          10      with, I think, a real serious attempt in a



          11      coordinated fashion.  So I don't believe there's a



          12      sequence that is required or even desirable.  But



          13      that's -- that would be my answer for now.



          14                        CHAIR BECKETT:  And, Council



          15      Leckie, we're certainly capturing this and, you know,



          16      happy to dig deeper and follow up.



          17                        MR. LECKIE:  Yeah, I guess that was



          18      just a point of clarification for me, is can EFSEC



          19      supplant the Army Corps of Engineer permitting that's



          20      required, if it's required, I guess?  Thank you.



          21                        CHAIR BECKETT:  And I believe



          22      Director Bumpus has a couple comments to add, so



          23      please.  Welcome.



          24                        MS. BUMPUS:  I just wanted to



          25      respond in part that EFSEC is coordinating with the
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           1      Army Corps of Engineers on the permits that they do



           2      have jurisdiction for here.  And that is our



           3      practice.  When we have an application for site



           4      certification that triggers authorizations or permits



           5      from the corps, we will coordinate with them in their



           6      review of impacts, the activities that are proposed



           7      and the application submitted to them.  We'll look at



           8      that as we're also reviewing the application that is



           9      before EFSEC.



          10          And one of the reasons we do that is because we



          11      want to ensure we're not duplicating where we don't



          12      need to duplicate.  Also to ensure that we have



          13      consistency in terms of if there are measures or



          14      mitigation that needs to be implemented to ensure



          15      that we're sharing information and coordinating so



          16      that there isn't conflicting requirements, if you



          17      will.



          18          So I can -- I can tell you that.  I don't know if



          19      that's helpful to answering this question or not.



          20                        CHAIR BECKETT:  I think it was, so



          21      thank you.



          22                        MR. LECKIE:  Oh.  Yeah.  This is



          23      Commissioner Leckie.  Yeah, no, that's helpful.  And



          24      I don't know if we'll have answers exactly tonight,



          25      but that's just something (unintelligible).
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           1          As the dredging of the river is done to the



           2      project, is this required under a Section 10 / 404



           3      permit?  'Cause it's not exactly removing dredging or



           4      material, but it's also disturbing it.  So I was just



           5      kind of asking some clarification on that too.  Thank



           6      you.



           7                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you, Council



           8      Leckie.



           9          And, Your Honor, I believe Amy Hafkemeyer has a



          10      word to add still, or no?



          11                        MS. HAFKEMEYER:  I do.  Thank you.



          12      And then it looks like Mr. Hocker may also have some



          13      additional information.



          14          In terms of coordination with the Army Corps, I



          15      wanted to add a little bit more information.



          16          The State Environmental Policy Act review must be



          17      conducted to be able to issue the state 401 water



          18      quality certification, which is then in support of



          19      the permits issued by the Army Corps of Engineers,



          20      who we know are working towards the review of a 404



          21      permit, 408, as well as Section 10, I believe.



          22          And so in terms of sequence, there is reason for



          23      us to be reviewing this application ahead of issuance



          24      of those permits.  And I don't know if there's



          25      additional information Mr. Hocker has, but those are
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           1      the permitting pathways that we know that the Army



           2      Corps is working on right now.



           3                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.  This is



           4      Judge Mikow.



           5          Mr. Hocker, do you have anything else to add in



           6      response?



           7                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Your Honor, I can



           8      relay that has a thumbs-up and that was covered.  And



           9      I had the floor and will soon turn this back to you,



          10      Your Honor, I think for public comment.



          11          One other issue that is, again, part of the



          12      process that's beginning and will need to be sorted



          13      out and that is certainly, I think, the role of the



          14      Department of Natural Resources and its jurisdiction



          15      over aquatic lands that I believe, you know, is an



          16      issue that will be also considered.  I don't know the



          17      answer to that question, but one that I just wanted



          18      to note as we go forward here, so...



          19          Any closing comments from staff or Council?



          20      Otherwise, I think, Your Honor, we're back to you in



          21      our public testimony.



          22                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.



          23          Ms. Grantham, would you please call the first



          24      commenter.



          25                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Yes, Your Honor.
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           1      The first person I have is Teryn Yazdani.



           2                        MS. YAZDANI:  Thank you.  For the



           3      record, my name is Teryn Yazdani, with Columbia



           4      Riverkeeper.



           5          There are three brief points I want to raise in



           6      oral testimony.  Columbia Riverkeeper has submitted



           7      more detailed written comments for the record but



           8      just wanted to reiterate these points.



           9          First, there is an incomplete information in the



          10      application.  WAC 463-60 requires detailed



          11      information from the applicant on the project site,



          12      its environment including fish and wildlife habitat,



          13      project alternatives, and expedited impacts of the



          14      river.



          15          Riverkeeper will be submitting separate comments



          16      on this separately.  However, we wanted to raise this



          17      point because the issues that are present with the



          18      incomplete information and the application make full



          19      participation in the land-use consistency process



          20      impossible.



          21          Accordingly, we urge EFSEC to deem the draft



          22      application as incomplete, suspend review until such



          23      time as the applicant has submitted an application



          24      that substantially complies with EFSEC's regulations.



          25          Second, the information we do have shows that the
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           1      application is inconsistent with Skamania County



           2      shoreline -- shoreline master program, which EFSEC



           3      must address.  The shoreline master program is a



           4      zoning ordinance, and EFSEC must find consistency



           5      now.



           6          The proposed use as an interregional transmission



           7      cable running along the shoreline through parts of



           8      Skamania County, and the Skamania County shoreline



           9      master program explicitly prohibits such a use on the



          10      shoreline.



          11          First, a section of the cable running through an



          12      area is designated as natural environment.  Utility



          13      corridors are expressly listed as prohibited in the



          14      natural environment area unless they can be located



          15      elsewhere.



          16          The nature and use as proposed is that it can be



          17      located elsewhere.  There are any number of ways to



          18      supply power from the east side of Oregon to the west



          19      side of Oregon and Washington, including existing



          20      proposals.  Not to mention the many ways in which



          21      specific projects can avoid running through the



          22      natural environment area.



          23          This is exactly the kind of issue that is within



          24      the scope of EFSEC's review at this stage, and the



          25      proposed use is prohibited in the relevant area and
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           1      cannot even theoretically receive a permit for



           2      operation.



           3          Second, under the shoreline master program point,



           4      the shoreline master program includes regulation for



           5      transmission lines that apply to all shoreline areas.



           6      And it makes it clear that the kind of transmission



           7      cable being proposed is prohibited.  These



           8      regulations require any transmission cable to be



           9      sited such that they spend as little time as possible



          10      in the shoreline area, including running



          11      perpendicularly to the shore.



          12          The proposed cable, as already discussed, has no



          13      reason to be in the shoreline area, and the proposed



          14      siting has the cable running parallel along the shore



          15      for long stretches without justification.



          16          Quickly, third, and finally, I would like to



          17      reiterate the request heard last night to keep the



          18      record open for testimony.  With the record being



          19      open for about six hours in total, half of which are



          20      taken up by this meeting, it does not give ample time



          21      for public response.



          22          Thank you.



          23                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.



          24          Ms. Grantham, would you please call the next



          25      commenter.





                                                                      35

�







           1                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.  The next



           2      person in person we have is Mary Repar.



           3                        MS. REPAR:  Thank you.



           4          As a resident of Stevenson, I think it's totally



           5      inappropriate that we be discussing this land



           6      consistency.  I can assure you I'm pretty sure that



           7      the City of Stevenson does not know about the land



           8      consistency certificate.  At least I attend most of



           9      their meetings, and I have not even heard about this.



          10          Second, the Pioneer did not print this meeting



          11      here.  And I think it should have been postponed in



          12      the city of Stevenson so that the residents of



          13      Stevenson, and especially those who use the



          14      waterfront consistently, be able to come here.  Yes,



          15      there were some technical issues on the Skamania



          16      Pioneer's side, but that's no excuse.  We can always



          17      have a meeting later.



          18          This is a draft.  And I'm really appalled that



          19      we're spending so much time on a draft.  I want to



          20      put in my statements for the record on something



          21      that's real, not something that's nebulous.



          22          I -- we have a lot of geologic hazards here in



          23      the gorge area.  The Piper Lorry [sic] landslide on



          24      Rock Creek here, the creek you-all crossed over,



          25      happened in 2007.  The North Bonneville slide, as you
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           1      remember, it went all the way to the other side, and



           2      you could cross it on land.  Happened whenever it



           3      happened in the millennia past.



           4          I would like the city of Stevenson, my



           5      municipality, to be included in this project.  I'm



           6      going to tell one of my council members here that we



           7      need to talk about it on Thursday night when there's



           8      a city council meeting.  This is the first time that



           9      I'm hearing about this land consistency hearing.  And



          10      I'm not a land expert, but I made comments on the



          11      unmapped lands that are in our -- in the east side



          12      here, and those will be zoned here shortly by the



          13      county commissioners one way or the other.



          14          I'm not sure what the reference to the management



          15      plan in the National Scenic Area was, but I'm fairly



          16      sure that the Gorge Commission would like to know



          17      that they're being included in this process.



          18          And USACE has a responsibility to the citizens of



          19      this community to let us know when there's a permit



          20      of any kind going on.  And I have not read about it



          21      in our paper of record, which is the Skamania



          22      Pioneer.



          23          So, again, I think it's totally inappropriate to



          24      have this -- these types of meetings before we have



          25      something solid and substantial before us so we can
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           1      keep our powder dry, whatever, and -- and make



           2      comments based on facts and not nebulous proposals.



           3      Thank you very much.



           4                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much



           5      for those comments.



           6          I do want to remind everybody that this portion



           7      of the consistency hearing is for you to make



           8      comments only about the issues of consistency in



           9      compliance with applicable land-use plans and zoning



          10      ordinances.  So please make sure that your comments



          11      are focused on those issues.



          12          Would you please call the next commenter.



          13                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly, Your



          14      Honor.



          15          I'm going to move on to those who have their



          16      hands raised online.



          17          Next we have is Nathan Baker.



          18                        MR. BAKER:  Good evening.  This is



          19      Nathan Baker with Friends of Columbia Gorge.



          20          And everything I will say tonight involves



          21      procedural issues and errors and will implicate the



          22      appearance of fairness doctrine and due process



          23      rights.



          24          There are certain procedural errors in this



          25      process that are violating the appearance of fairness
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           1      doctrine and the due process rights of stakeholders.



           2          The first issue, as you've heard earlier tonight,



           3      is that this hearing is premature.  The land-use



           4      hearing must happen after the informational public



           5      hearing, which can only happen after, quote, the



           6      receipt of an application for site certification, end



           7      quote, under the statute.



           8          Draft applications don't count.  And even if it



           9      is common for draft applications to be submitted,



          10      I've never seen that before with EFSEC.  But draft



          11      applications still don't trigger EFSEC's required



          12      processes.



          13          And with land-use consistency, vesting concerns



          14      are implicated.  The legal question before the



          15      Council is whether, quote, the proposed site is



          16      consistent and in compliance with, end quote,



          17      land-use laws and rules, quote, on the date of the



          18      application, end quote.



          19          The applicant isn't allowed to submit a draft



          20      application now and potentially enjoy the benefits of



          21      vesting for land-use consistency purposes based on



          22      draft application.  So once a non-draft application



          23      is submitted, EFSEC will need to schedule land-use



          24      consistency hearings on that application.



          25          The second issue involves the membership of the
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           1      Council.  Again, we've heard no reference to the



           2      members appointed by cities of Stevenson and North



           3      Bonneville who, quote, shall sit with the Council,



           4      end quote, under the statute for these hearings.



           5          Mr. McMahan said tonight that -- something about



           6      that the Council appoints those people.  That isn't



           7      true.  I'll read to you from the statute.  It says,



           8      quote, The city legislative authority of every city



           9      within whose corporate limits an energy facility is



          10      proposed to be located shall appoint a member or



          11      designee as a voting member to the Council, end



          12      quote.



          13          Next, we have concerns about the defective



          14      hearing notice, which discourages written public



          15      comments.  It only says public comments will be



          16      accepted during the hearings, and then, quote, if you



          17      are unable to attend the hearings, please send your



          18      comment in writing, end quote.



          19          It's effectively discouraging public comment



          20      that -- written public comment that can -- as



          21      something that can only happen as a backup to



          22      attending the hearing in person.  Compare that with



          23      Washington's Local Project Review Act, which requires



          24      each public notice to include statements of the right



          25      of any person to comment on the application.  That's
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           1      RCW 36.70B.110, Subsection 2(e).



           2          So here, EFSEC is providing a deficient public



           3      notice that is less than anyone else would get in the



           4      state of Washington for any project under land-use



           5      review.



           6          Thank you very much.



           7                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.



           8          Will you please call the next commenter.



           9                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.



          10          The next person I see online is just under the



          11      name "Eric."



          12          Eric, whenever you speak up, please tell us your



          13      last name, and maybe spell it.



          14                        MR. WRISTON:  Yeah.  Sure.  Sorry



          15      about that.



          16          Hi.  Eric Wriston.  That's W-r-i-s-t-o-n.  I'm an



          17      attorney at Crag Law Center.  I'm here representing



          18      Columbia Riverkeeper.



          19          I just have one really quick point to make.  The



          20      applicant's counsel made some statements regarding



          21      the consistency determinations or consistency



          22      certificates from the local governments and that they



          23      might still supply those.



          24          EFSEC's rules are really clear that those have to



          25      be submitted by the land-use hearing if they're going
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           1      to be considered.  To quote here from Washington



           2      Administrative Code 463-26-090:  This rule



           3      contemplates that applicant will enter as exhibits,



           4      at the land-use hearing, certificates from local



           5      authorities attesting to the fact that the proposal



           6      is consistent and in compliance with land-use plans



           7      and zoning ordinances.



           8          And the rule goes on to talk about how, if they



           9      do submit that, then there's an opportunity for



          10      contrary demonstration by anyone present at the



          11      hearing.



          12          So there's two issues there.  Both pretty



          13      explicitly states that those certificates have to be



          14      submitted by the hearing, and then also if you're



          15      accepting them after the hearing, you're denying the



          16      public a chance to respond to those, in contravention



          17      of those rules.



          18          Thank you.



          19                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you for



          20      that.



          21          Ms. Grantham, would you please call the next



          22      commenter.



          23                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Certainly.



          24          The next person I see online -- and apologies if



          25      I pronounce your last name incorrectly -- is Elijah
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           1      Cetas.



           2                        MR. CETAS:  Yeah.  Hi.  Good



           3      evening.  My name is Elijah Cetas.  I'm an energy



           4      policy analyst and attorney for Columbia River



           5      Inter-Tribal Fish Commission.



           6          It was not my intent to comment tonight, but just



           7      based on the comments that I've heard, and given the



           8      limited opportunity to provide written comments on



           9      the particular land-use compatibility issues here in



          10      Skamania County, I want to offer just a few points



          11      for the record.



          12          First off, CRITFC is a political subdivision of



          13      the four Columbia River Treaty tribes:  The Yakama



          14      Nation, Confederated Tribes of Umatilla Indian



          15      Reservation, Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, and



          16      Nez Perce Tribe.



          17          We're not a stakeholder, and for that reason, I



          18      wasn't intending to comment.  But it is important for



          19      the compatibility decision to mention that this



          20      section of river that is within Skamania County is



          21      within Zone 6.  Zone 6 is a 147-mile stretch of river



          22      that is an exclusive treaty Indian commercial fishing



          23      area.  The exclusion is for commercial fishing only.



          24      The state regulates -- the states of Washington and



          25      Oregon regulate commercial fishing in other sections.
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           1      But in Zone 6, it's exclusively treaty Indian



           2      commercial.  Although noncommercial sports fishers



           3      may still fish here.



           4          Zone 6 is also the location of 31 in-lieu and



           5      treaty fishing access sites.  These are federal lands



           6      that are held for the exclusive use and benefit of



           7      the Columbia River Indian treaty tribes.  CRITFC



           8      operates and maintains these sites, but they are



           9      federal lands, and they are held for that federal



          10      purpose.  They were created by a statute, two



          11      different statutes, and are governed under 25 --



          12      under Part 247 of the code.



          13          I offer these comments to remind the -- to remind



          14      EFSEC of the significance of the lands we're talking



          15      about and to state for the record that there are five



          16      in-lieu and treaty fishing access sites within



          17      Skamania County.  That's Bonneville, North Bonneville



          18      site, where the upland portion of the transmission



          19      would pass, would be immediately adjacent.  There's



          20      also the Wind River site, Cook-Underwood site, the



          21      Cook site, and White Salmon.



          22          And so, with that, I'll just leave that and ask



          23      that EFSEC consider these federal uses and the uses



          24      as held for the treaty tribes of lower Columbia



          25      River.  Thank you.





                                                                      44

�







           1                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.



           2          Ms. Grantham, will you please call the next



           3      commenter.



           4                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Yep.  Next is Steve



           5      McCoy.



           6                        MR. McCOY:  Hi.  Can you hear me?



           7                        MS. GRANTHAM:  Yes, we can.



           8                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Yes, we can.  Please



           9      proceed.



          10                        MR. McCOY:  Great.



          11          Hi.  I'm Steve McCoy.  I'm a staff attorney with



          12      Friends of the Columbia Gorge.  Councilors, thank you



          13      for this opportunity to testify tonight.



          14          I'd like to start off with the defective notice.



          15      It contained dates and deadlines that were unclear



          16      coming in, and we end up only having a few hours to



          17      submit written comments.



          18          The hearing notice, which is not dated and does



          19      not indicate the comment period nor the deadline for



          20      submitting written comments.  What we learned last



          21      night, the Clark County land-using, that there is



          22      apparently only a very narrow window of time each



          23      night to submit written comments from 5:30 in the



          24      evening until midnight.



          25          Director Bumpus referred the public to the EFSEC
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           1      Web -- excuse me -- Web pages, and indeed those Web



           2      pages specified just a 6.5-hour time period for



           3      submitting written comments.  While the 6.5-hour time



           4      period may be intended to be the window for time for



           5      submitting comments via EFSEC's online public portal,



           6      the Web pages do not make such distinction.  Instead,



           7      they specify a 6.5-hour comment period for all



           8      written comments.



           9          It runs concurrently with the actual hearing,



          10      itself, and attendees of the hearing will have to



          11      quickly drive back home and type up their written



          12      comments, including to respond to new evidence as was



          13      offered by the proponents as part of this hearing,



          14      itself.



          15          Moreover, none of this is indicated in the actual



          16      hearing notice, which is where you would expect to



          17      see comment periods and deadlines.



          18          In addition, there was only one hearing notice



          19      for three counties, and it does not explain that each



          20      county's land-use consistency hearing is limited to



          21      evaluating land-use consistency solely within that



          22      county.  The failure to include this information on



          23      the hearing notice confuses and prejudices the



          24      public.



          25          In addition, there was an insufficient notice
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           1      period.  Typically you would see 11, 12, 13 -- or



           2      sorry.  Notice period was only 11 days for the Clark



           3      County hearing, 12 days for the Skamania County



           4      hearing, and 13 days for the Klickitat hearing.



           5          Under the state Local Project Review Act, it's 14



           6      days.  Skamania County typically gives 20 days for



           7      most things.  12-day notice period for tonight's



           8      hearing was insufficient.



           9          In addition, as my time is running lower, three



          10      minutes is insufficient.  We object only being



          11      allowed three minutes of testimony, particularly



          12      because we have had to use that time to make



          13      procedural objections.



          14          With only a couple people speaking on land-use



          15      consistency, there is no need to severely restrict



          16      each stakeholder's time to three minutes.  Last



          17      night, there was so much time left on the table at



          18      the hearing that it concluded nearly an hour early.



          19      Still, folks -- or the only person who testified, I



          20      guess, was held to three minutes.



          21          So, finally, based on all the documented errors



          22      and flawed procedures, EFSEC is violating



          23      Washington's appearance of fairness doctrine and the



          24      due process rights of the stakeholders and



          25      participants to this hearing.
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           1          Thank you for this opportunity to testify.



           2                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you.



           3          Ms. Grantham, are there any other commenters?



           4                        MS. GRANTHAM:  The final person I



           5      am seeing is Richard Hall.



           6                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Mr. Hall, will you



           7      please proceed.



           8                        MR. HALL:  Yes.  Thank you.



           9          I'm the contract planning advisor for the City of



          10      North Bonneville, so I've been following for quite



          11      some time now the -- all the processes, so I've been



          12      included in lots of e-mails and things like that, and



          13      so I've done a lot of research on it.



          14          However, yesterday, I received a consistency



          15      certificate in my e-mail, asking if I would sign



          16      that.  And so I really haven't even had time to



          17      review it and to consider any aspects that might be



          18      pertinent, so -- but I just wanted to let you know



          19      that I have been participating in this.



          20          I have put the information on our city website.



          21      I've brought the information in front of our city



          22      council.  And I expect to provide a report next week



          23      at the council meeting for the city of North



          24      Bonneville just to discuss the proceedings this



          25      evening.  So I just wanted you to know that I am
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           1      participating in this procedure.



           2                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you very



           3      much.



           4          Ms. Grantham, are they anybody -- is there



           5      anybody else?



           6                        MS. GRANTHAM:  I am not seeing



           7      anybody online.  It is up to you, Your Honor, if you



           8      wanted to open the floor to those in person.  We do



           9      have about six minutes left that we have planned for



          10      tonight's meeting.



          11                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Well, let's



          12      open it up to the floor if there are any in-person



          13      people that have a comment to make.



          14          I just ask that, if you -- when you approach the



          15      podium, if you just say your name.



          16                        CHAIR BECKETT:  We have a commenter



          17      that's coming forward.



          18          Welcome.



          19                        MR. OLDFIELD:  Hi.  My name's Chuck



          20      Oldfield.  I'm actually -- for two more days, I'm



          21      city council here, City of Stevenson.  And the only



          22      thing that I wanted to kind of piggyback a little bit



          23      on Mary Repar's comments was that I'm here tonight



          24      because of the invitation that I got by an e-mail.



          25          You'll notice that no other council members are





                                                                      49

�







           1      here tonight and no other representatives from the



           2      City of Stevenson.  I congratulate Asa on being on



           3      the council because I know he'll speak for the



           4      County.



           5          If I were to follow your plan and ask questions



           6      specifically about land-use consistency, it might be



           7      to express a concern about whether you've looked at



           8      all the proper right-of-ways for public and federal



           9      and county lands.  Have you talked to any of the



          10      constituents that have private property that abut



          11      these properties?  I've heard no discussions at city



          12      council meetings, so I don't know if anybody from



          13      planning has talked with you.  But my concerns would



          14      be the properties around the interpretive center



          15      coming -- you know, the egress from the river coming



          16      up around the interpretive center, going by the



          17      Skamania Lodge.



          18          And then if I understand your map correctly,



          19      which this is -- tonight's the first time I've seen



          20      it, the route going around Ash Lake, while that may



          21      be county -- a lot of that county property, I know



          22      that there's a lot of private property around that



          23      area as well.



          24          So those would be my concerns.  I would like to



          25      see that somebody had reached out a little bit better
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           1      to the City, that our city administrator or our mayor



           2      or somebody might have even brought this up at one of



           3      our council meetings.  It hasn't been discussed at



           4      all.  Thank you.



           5                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.



           6          The time is 7:56 p.m., and the meeting is



           7      scheduled to adjourn at 8 p.m.  So at this point,



           8      with the limited amount of time available, I'm going



           9      to turn it back over to the chair.



          10                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you.  Thank



          11      you, Judge.



          12          Out of deference to those who are still here, are



          13      there other members of the public who do wish to come



          14      forward and have your comment included in tonight's



          15      proceedings?  We would like to conclude at 8, but



          16      certainly if there's another comment, then I think



          17      that I would suggest we hear it, Your Honor.



          18                        MS. ALLINGER:  I'm Debbie Allinger.



          19                        CHAIR BECKETT:  I'm sorry.  Ma'am,



          20      if I could just make sure that the judge guides you



          21      here, just so we keep this proper.  And thank you.



          22                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Yes.  If you would



          23      like to do that, I don't see there is any prejudice



          24      letting them make their comments here.



          25          So would the next person please identify
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           1      themselves and make their comment.



           2                        MS. ALLINGER:  I'm Debbie Allinger.



           3          And I've heard a lot about public land and



           4      private land.  And I would like to have some



           5      discussion on sovereign land, patented land.  Because



           6      my family has some.  Thank you.



           7                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Thank you very much.



           8          Would the next person please step up and identify



           9      themselves.



          10          It doesn't appear -- is there anybody --



          11                        CHAIR BECKETT:  I think that



          12      conclude --



          13                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Would the chair



          14      please let me know if there's --



          15                        CHAIR BECKETT:  No, I think that --



          16                        JUDGE MIKOW:  -- anybody else.



          17                        CHAIR BECKETT:  No, I think that



          18      was -- that was all for this evening, Your Honor.



          19                        JUDGE MIKOW:  Okay.  Thank you.



          20          Then I will turn it over back to you now.  Thank



          21      you.



          22                        CHAIR BECKETT:  Thank you.



          23          So thank you, all, for the input tonight.



          24      Certainly lots of important feedback to consider both



          25      as Council members as well as our staff.  And so we
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           1      appreciate that participation tonight.



           2          And knowing that it is now 7:59 p.m., I will



           3      conclude this hearing.  And we are adjourned.  Thank



           4      you once again.



           5                               (Hearing adjourned at



           6                                7:59 p.m.)
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